
Agenda for a meeting of the Ngaruawahia Community Board to be held in the Committee Rooms 1 & 2, 
District Office, 15 Galileo Street, Ngaruawahia on TUESDAY 8 MAY 2018 commencing at 6.15pm. 

Note: A public forum will be held at 5.45pm prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

Information and recommendations are included in the reports to assist the Board in the decision making process and may not constitute 
Council’s decision or policy until considered by the Board. 

1. APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE

2. CONFIRMATION OF STATUS OF AGENDA

3. DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

4. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

Meeting held on Tuesday 13 March 2018 2 

5. REPORTS

5.1 Discretionary Fund Report to 24 April 2018 7 

5.2 Application for Funding – Ngaruawahia High School 9 

5.3 Application for Funding – Hope Rising Farm Trust 51 

5.4 Youth Engagement Update May 2018 75 

5.5 Twin Rivers Community Art Centre 78 

5.6 LTP Update Verbal 

5.7 Consultation on Proposed Waste Management and Minimisation Plan 2018-2024 86 

5.8 Ngaruawahia Works and Issues Report 217 

5.9 Ngaruawahia Community Board Resolution/Action Register 222 

5.10 Year to Date Service Request Report 227 

5.11 Public Forum Verbal 

5.12 Chairperson’s Report Verbal 

5.13 Councillors’ Report Verbal 

5.14 Community Board Members’ Report Verbal 

GJ Ion 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Gavin Ion 

Chief Executive 
Date 14 March 2018 

Prepared by Wanda Wright 
Committee Secretary 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
Reference # Gov0508 
Report Title Confirmation of Minutes 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
To confirm the minutes of a meeting of the Ngaruawahia Community Board held on 
Tuesday13 March 2018. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
THAT the minutes of a meeting of the Ngaruawahia Community Board held on 
Tuesday 13 March 2018 be confirmed as a true and correct record of that 
meeting. 

3. ATTACHMENTS 

 
NCB Minutes 
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MINUTES of a meeting of the Ngaruawahia Community Board held in the Committee 
Rooms 1 & 2, District Office, 15 Galileo Street, Ngaruawahia on TUESDAY  13 MARCH 
2018 commencing at 6.15pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Mr J Whetu (Chair) 
Ms R Kirkwood 
Ms K Morgan 
Mr BJ Sherson 
 
Attending: 
 
Mr GJ Ion (Chief Executive) 
Mrs W Wright (Committee Secretary) 
C Newport (Youth Representative) 
Mrs L van den Bemd (Community Development Adviser) 
Ms I-Jay Huirama (Team Administrator) 
Mr T Paekau (Bikes Up) 
Mr P Hiku (Bikes Up) 
7 Members of the public 

APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

Resolved: (Mr Whetu/Ms Morgan) 
 
THAT an apology be received from Cr Gibb, Cr Patterson, Ms Diamond and 
Ms Stevens. 
 
CARRIED on the voices NCB1803/01 

CONFIRMATION OF STATUS OF AGENDA ITEMS 

Resolved: (Mr Whetu/Ms Kirkwood) 
 
THAT the agenda for a meeting of the Ngaruawahia Community Board held on 
Tuesday 13 March 2018 be confirmed and all items therein be considered in 
open meeting; 
 
AND THAT all reports be received; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Cory Newport be given speaking rights for the duration 
of this meeting. 
 
CARRIED on the voices NCB1803/02 

 
Waikato District Council 
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DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

There were no disclosures of interest. 

CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 

Resolved: (Ms Kirkwood/Ms Morgan) 
 
THAT the minutes of a meeting of the Ngaruawahia Community Board held on 
Tuesday 13 February 2018 be confirmed as a true and correct record of that 
meeting. 
 
CARRIED on the voices NCB1803/03 

REPORTS 

Discretionary Fund Report to 28 February 2018 
Agenda Item 5.1 

The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. 
 
Resolved:  (Ms Kirkwood/Ms Morgan) 
 
THAT the following commitments be returned to the pool: 
 
Workshop costs/room - ongoing of $100 [NCB1409/06/2] and  Workshop expenses – 
ongoing of $300 [ NCB1511/06/2]. 
 
CARRIED on the voices NCB1803/04 
 
Application for Funding – Bikes Up Ngaruawahia 
Agenda Item 5.2 

The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. 
 
Resolved:  (Ms Morgan/Ms Kirkwood) 
 
THAT an allocation of $2,560.00 is made to Bikes Up Ngaruawahia towards the 
cost of the Ngaruawahia Bikes Up community event. 
 
CARRIED on the voices NCB1803/05 
 
Youth Engagement Report 
Agenda Item 5.3 

The Youth Representative summarised key points and answered questions of the Board. 
 
The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. 
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Long Term Plan 2018-28 Consultation  
Agenda Item 5.4 

The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. Further discussion will 
be held amongst Board Members at a later stage. 
 
Sport Waikato Sport Plan 
Agenda Item 5.5 

The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. 
 
Community Engagement Update 
Agenda Item 5.6 

The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. 
 
Ngaruawahia Works and Issues Report 
Agenda Item 5.7 

The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. 
 
The following additional item were discussed: 
 

- Removal of the cut down trees that were left on Lady Raiha Reserve, Regent Street 
 
Ngaruawahia Community Board Resolution/Action Register 
Agenda Item 5.8 

The report was received [NCB1803/02 refers] and discussion was held. 
 
Public Forum  
Agenda Item 5.9 

The following items were discussed at the public forum: 
 

• Privets in Waingaro Road to be worked on next Friday 
• Inability of purchasing plots at the cemetery prior to passing. This policy will be 

reviewed in 2019 
• Frustration with Council not providing answers or returning queries. [Staff to follow 

up] 
• The state of Jesmond Street with broken chairs etc. is an eyesore. [Staff to follow up] 
• The Rotunda at the Point’s spouting is broken. [Staff to follow up] 
• There are Freedom Campers at the Point. [Staff to follow up] 
• Trees on private properties that are endangering lives (shading). [Chair to follow up] 
• Work on the Memorial Hall will be undertaken prior to winter.  Estimated date 

around 30 June 
• Work on lower Waikato Esplanade has finished around 2 weeks ago but has not 

been tidied up yet. [Staff to follow up] 
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Chairperson’s Report 
Agenda Item 5.10 

Issues were dealt with during the course of the meeting. No additional issues to report on. 
 
Councillors’ Report 
Agenda Item 5.11 

The Councillors weren’t present to report on any issues. 
 
Community Board Members’ Report 
Agenda Item 5.12 

Members did not have any additional issues to discuss. 
 

 
There being no further business the meeting was declared closed at 8.07pm. 
 
Minutes approved and confirmed this                        day of                                        2018. 
  
 
 
J Whetu   
CHAIRPERSON 
Minutes 2018/NCB/180313 NCB Minutes  
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Tony Whittaker 

General Manager Strategy & Support 
Date 24 April 2018 

Prepared by Juliene Calambuhay 
Management Accountant 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
Reference/Doc Set # GOV0508 / 1938497 

Report Title Discretionary Fund Report to 24 April 2018 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
To update the Board on the Discretionary Fund Report to 24 April 2018. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the General Manager Strategy & Support be received. 

3. ATTACHMENTS 
 
Discretionary Fund Report to 24 April 2018 
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NGARUAWAHIA COMMUNITY BOARD DISCRETIONARY FUND 2017/2018

GL 1.205.1704

2017/18 Annual Plan 20,999.00         

Carry forward from 2016/17 37,439.11         

Total Funding 58,438.11       

Expenditure

04-Aug-17 Contribution towards adult playground fitness equipment NCB1511/06/2 10,000.00         

12-Sep-17 NZCB Conference (Methven, May 2017) - Mr Sherson's accommodation expenses NCB1709/04 150.00              

16-Nov-17 Ngaruawahia Community House Inc - Christmas on Jesmond Street event NCB1711/06 5,000.00           

05-Dec-17 Table fee for tea and coffee for meeting - 05 Dec 2017 NCB1705/04/2 10.00                

06-Dec-17 Contribution towards outdoor fitness stations along Waikato Esplanade NCB1711/05 4,782.00           

13-Feb-18 Table fee for tea and coffee for meeting - 13 Feb 2018 NCB1802/04 10.00                

13-Mar-18 Table fee for tea and coffee for meeting - 13 Mar 2018 NCB1802/04 10.00                

Total Expenditure 19,962.00       

Net Funding Remaining (Excluding commitments) 38,476.11        

Commitments

09-Sep-14 Commitment for information signage boards NCB1409/06/2 5,000.00           

14-Jun-16 Te Mana o Te Rangi Reserve NCB1606/06/1 8,000.00           

14-Nov-17 Commitment towards the expenditure of maintenance for the town NCB1711/05 1,500.00           

13-Feb-18 Catering for NCB 2018 meetings ($10 per meeting) NCB1802/04 80.00     

Less: Expenses 20.00     60.00                

13-Mar-18 Bikes Up Ngaruawahia - community event NCB1803/05 2,560.00           

17,120.00       

Net Funding Remaining (Including commitments) as of 24 April 2018 21,356.11       

Total Commitments

mjc 24/04/2018
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Tony Whittaker 

General Manager Strategy & Support 
Date 28 April 2018 

Prepared by Lianne van den Bemd 
Community Development Advisor 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
DWS Document Set # CDR0502 / GOV0508 

Report Title Application for Funding – Ngaruawahia High School 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to present an application for funding from the 
Ngaruawahia High School towards the cost of purchasing two gazebos and two 
promotional flags. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the General Manager Strategy & Support be received; 
 
AND THAT an allocation of $............................... is made to the 
Ngaruawahia High School towards the cost of purchasing two gazebos and two 
promotional flags; 
 
OR 
 
AND THAT the request from the Ngaruawahia High School towards the cost of 
purchasing two gazebos and two promotional flags is declined / deferred until 
……………………. for the following reasons: 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
Ngaruawahia High School (“the School”) has been on a significant journey for the past 
5 years which has seen the school being brought back from the brink of closure to one that 
now has a roll of 296 students. 
 
The School is applying for funding assistance for the purchase of the equipment which will be 
used for events held at the School and also when students represent the School/community 
off site. 
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The School does not have anything that offers its students shade and shelter from the 
weather when they are outside.  It also does not have any promotional equipment that 
provides it and its students with a sense of identify and place. 

4. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
1) That the application is approved and an allocation of partial or full funding requested 

be made. 

2) That the application is declined. 

3) That the application is deferred. 

5. FINANCIAL 
 
Funding is available to allocate for the year. 
 
The project is noted to cost $6,224.00.  Ngaruawahia High School is seeking funding of 
$6,224.00 towards the cost of purchasing two gazebos and two promotional flags. 
 
GST Registered Yes 

Set of Accounts supplied Yes 

Previous funding has been received by this organisation Yes 

Ngaruawahia Community 
Board 

Electronic Notice Board December 2016  $5,750.00 

6. POLICY 
 
The application meets the criteria set in the Discretionary Grants Policy, one of which is 
that grants up to $5,000.00 can be funded up to 100% at the discretion of the relevant 
community board or committee or Council’s Discretionary & Funding Committee. 
 
For grants above $5,000.00 a funding cap of 75% of the total project cost applies (whichever 
is the greater) and other funding needs to be sought. 
 
Funds cannot be uplifted until all sufficient funds for the project are approved. 

7. CONCLUSION 
 
Consideration by the Ngaruawahia Community Board is required with regard to this 
funding request. 

Page 2  Version 4.0 
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8. ATTACHMENTS 
 
Application for Funding – Ngaruawahia High School 
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Waikato

0 I S T R I C 1 COUNCIL

DISCRETIONARY FUNDING APPLICATION FORM
Important notes for applicant:

• It is recommended that, prior to submitting your application, you contact the Waikato District Council's community
development co−ordinator, on 07 824 8633 or 0800 492 452, to discuss your application requirements and confirm
that your application meets the eligibility criteria.

• Please read the Guidelines for Funding Applications d o c u m e n t t o a s s i s t you with completing this application form.
• All applications must be on this application for funding form. We will not accept application forms that have been

altered.
• Please note that incomplete applications WILL NOT be considered. All parts of the application

MUST be completed and all supporting information supplied.
• The checklist on page 5 needs to be completed.

Which fund are you applying to: (Please tick appropriate box)

Discretionary and Funding Committee
12r D

Project Event
OR

Community Board I Committee Discretionary Fund

Raglan E l
Taupiri

E l
Onewhero−Tuakau []

Ngaruawahia E l
Huntly

1:1 Te Kauwhata CJ
Meremere U]

Section I −Y o u r details

Name of

CA(Ltctv−,~Ctk'CL\−ik Sc%−00%
What is your organisation's purpose?

S W V C k c A J Scho
Address: (Postal)

Po exi . i'?ic,

Address: (Physical i f different from above)

5 6 1 C r * NJj c

Contact name, phone numberls and email address

t? r \ −

0 − % L E f S
r\c 4 — c , h c;t—•. l\.).

Charities Commission Number: (If you have one)
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A r e you GST registered? N o 0 Yes GST Number L±f/()

Bank account details j _ / J /Q Q.. .Q. L E 1T7
Bank P 3 Branch — T i t RQ(Dci

The following documentation is required in support of your application:
• A copy of the last reviewed or audited accounts (whichever applies) for your organisation/group/club
• Encoded deposit slip to enable direct credit of any grant payment made
• A copy o f any documentation verifying your organisations legal status

Section 2— C o m m u n i t y wellbeing and outcomes

Which community wellbeing will your project contribute to?
(See the guidelines sheet for more information on this section).

Social 1 2
Economic Cultural 1 2 Environmental 0

Which of the five community outcomes for the Waikato district does this project contribute to?
(See the guidelines sheet for more information on this section.)

Accessible 0
Safe

I I ' Sustainable 0
Healthy

0
Vibrant Er

Section 3 − Y o u r event/project

W h a t is your event / project, including date and location ? (please provide full details)

. a pro
CI

W h o is involved in your event I project?

v q \ c c'
S c n o t c A r−4 J s4f f (

many volunteers are Involved'

Er'k e v n k hi\cl c u i . − j kav, au VoL4vkeI
other groups are involved in the project?

mow Will the Wider community benefit from this eventlprojectt

c OuJ
\J

LAJLQ.

Page 2
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Section 4— Funding requirements

Note : Please provide full details of how much your event/project will cost, how much you are seeking from the Waikato
District Council and other providers, details of other funding and donated materials/resources being sourced, and current
funds in hand to cover the costs of the event/project.

Please complete all of the following sections GST Inclusive Costs GST Exclusive
(use this column if you are Costs
not GST registered) (use this column if you are

GST registered)
TOTAL COST OF THE PROJECT/EVENT $ $ '00

Existing funds available for the project Total A $ $ −
Include any projected income i.e. ticket sales,
merchandise etc.

Funding being sought from Waikato District Council

Project Breakdown (itemised costs of funding being sought) $
If there is insufficient space below please provide a breakdown of
c o s t s

o n a n

a d d i t i o n a l s h e e t .

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

* Uni (YZ5k d L r v X r r −
r i u

$ $

54.00

$ $

\ v k F a c s 4−787•oo
O u o (•
Total Funds being sought from WDC Total B $ $ 00

Has funding been sought from other funders? Yes D No
If 'Yes', please list the funding organisation(s) and the amount of funding sought

a)
$________________

b)
$_______________

C)
$________________

d) $ $

Total of other funds being sought Total C
$ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ $________________

Total Funding Applied for
(Add totals A, B, and C together to make Total D) Total D $ $

Note: This total should equal the Total Cost of the
6*a2.00

Project/Event

Page 3
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Describe any donated material / resources provided for the event/project:

Section 5 − Previous Funding Received f r o m Waika to Distr ic t Council

I f you have received funding from or through the Waikato District Council for any project/event in
the past two years, please list below:

What Board! Committee Type of Project/Event Date recieved Amount

_ _ _ _ Elec−or−c 22 . t o 575c−−

Please confirm that a 'Funding Project Accountability' form has been completed and returned to
Waikato District Council for the funds listed above. N p : this will be checked and confirmed by council
staff−

I confirm that an accountability statement has been completed and returned

Signed: Name: .Ai.r'Q.

I certify that the funding information / o v J in this application is correct.

−−− r i i ii

Date:
A 114−r

Position in organisation (tick
whi/fapp/es)

Chairman U
Secretary

0
Treasurer U

' r t J −P

:2c

Position in organisation (tick which applies) Chairman E l Secretary Treasurer

b p 4 \ 1 Pvtp.

Page 4
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Checklist

Please ensure you have completed all parts o f the funding application form by marking the boxes
below and include copies of all accompanying documentation required.

Please also ensure you attach the completed checklist with your application.

I t ems Required Enclosed I
Read and understood the guidelines for funding applications document

Discussed your application with the Waikato District Council community
development co−ordinator
Nominated the fund you are applying for

"I

Completed Section I − Your details

Enclosed a full copy of the last reviewed or audited accounts (whichever applies) for
your organisation/group/club
Enclosed an encoded deposit slip to enable direct credit of any grant payment made

Enclosed a copy of any documentation verifying your organisations legal status

Completed Section 2 − community wellbeing and outcomes

Completed Section 3 − details of your event/project

Completed Section 4— Funding requirements − Budget and quotes need to
match. Include copies of wr i t t en quotes.

Completed Section 5 where funding has been received in the previous 2 years

Obtained two signatures on your application j

Please note: Incomplete applications will not be considered. Applicants will be
requested to submit relevant outstanding information within 5 days or their application
will be returned.

Page 5
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N G A R U A W A H I A HIGH SCHOOL
Te Kura Tuarua 0 Ngaruawahia

291h March 2018

Waikato District Council
Discretionary and Funding Commitee
Galileo Street
N GARUA WAH IA

Dear Sir / Madam,

Please find attached our application to the Discretionary and Funding Committee for
assistance to purchase 2 x Gazebos and 2 x Promotional Flags.

Ngaruawahia High School as you are aware of, has been on a significant journey for the past
5 years and brought the school back from the brink of closure to a school that now has a roll
of 296 students and a school where our community is now choosing to send their children
for their secondary education. Last year NHS was rated in the top 3 Decile 1 schools in the
country and only 4% difference from the number 1 school and continues to go from strength
to strength.

We are applying for funding assistance for the purchase of this equipment which will be
used for events held at our school and also when students represent our school / community
off site, Out in the community and beyond. Currently the school has nothing that offers our
students / supporters shade and shelter from the weather and also no form of promotional
equipment that identifies who we are and where we are from.
By obtaining gazebos and flags this will assist us with the schools identification status and
shelter from the ever increasing harsh weather elements for our students / communities

safety and wellbeing.

The Ministry of Education's core funding is to supply education to students. Unfortunately
this allocated funding does not stretch to some required equipment, therefore schools are
to try and fit these purchases into their budgets which therefore come's from areas that are

56 Kent Street, Ngaruawahia 3720 P 0 Box 136, Ngaruawahia 3742
+64 7 824 8729 +64 7 824 8727 . adminngaruawahiahigh.schooInz
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crucial for students educational learning resources. The other option is applications for
assistance through community funding schemes.
Unfortunately, this necessary equipment does not fit into our core funding budget,
therefore our school Board of Trustees are asking for a favourable consideration from your
committee.

As the secondary school for the Ngaruawahia Community and surrounding areas, including
Horotiu, Taupiri, Orini, Glen Massey and Te Akau, we strive to work together and improve
the unity of the whole community. By working together with the overall aim of improving
students lives, learning and opportunities will in turn benefit all.

Yours sincerely,

Justine Brown
Business Analyst
NGARUAWAHIA HIGH SCHOOL
jusbrown@ngaruawahiahigh.school.nz
07 824 8729 ext 825
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Proposal No: 46561

4 d (IN ICR ESI' Unicrest Group Ltd.

Propo
GST # 85−636−316

G R 0 U p 13NelIPlace
P.O. Box 5023 Account No: 13557

P o ve n Exc e 0 f l C Whangarei0140 Date: 8−Mar−18
New Zealand Prepared By: KEZIAH

Currency: NEW ZEALAND DOLLARS

TO ACCOUNT: DELIVERY:

Ngaruawahia High School Ngaruawahia High School
Hamilton Hamilton
NZ

I r

NZ

SHEDLIN E INSTANT MARQUEE (premium commercial grade aluminium construction)
2 Instant Marquee 3.0m x 6.0m PR Digi Ptd Including:
2 Frame − 3.0m x 60m Promercial'
2 Roof −3,0mx6.0m

12 Ground Peg − 300mm x 8mm
8 Ground Peg − 550mm x 12mm
2 Ground Peg Satchel − 550mm
8 Guy Rope Strap − (Standard)

Package Total 2,590.00 5,180.00

SIDE WALLS

2 Sidewall − 6Dm (Standard) Black 378.00 756.00

CUSTOM BRANDING

1 Custom Branding Base/Set Up Fee (3mx6m) 250.00 250.00
4 Custom Print − 6.0m Panel Complete 290.00 1,160.00

(Custom digital printing on the roof exterior of one 6.0rn main sloping & valance roof panel −
unlimited printing and colours)

SHIPPING

FREIGHT FREE 0.00 000

Subtotal 7,346.00
GST 1,101.90

GST Inclusive Total $8,447.90

This Proposal Is subject to all standard terms and conditions as set out by Unicrest Group Limited.

Freephone: 0800 144 155 Phone: +64(0)94386862 Fax: +64(0)9 438 4904 Email: infotunicrest.co.nz Web: www.unicrest.co.nz

i d f 3 r D V 1 Z i V SHADOW5PEC. p i l l • 15lU1
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O U141CREST Proposal No: 46562
Unicrest Group Ltd GST # 85−636−316

G R 0 U P 3NelIPlace
P.O. Box 5023 Account No: 13557

Pi,ovr−−n E x c c i l e n c Whangarei0140 Date: 8−Mar−18
New Zealand Prepa red By: KEZIAH

Currency: NEW ZEALAND DOLLARS

TO ACCOUNT: DELIVERY:

Ngaruawahia High School Ngaruawahia High School
Hamilton Hamilton

NZ

I

NZ

SHEDLINE INSTANT MARQUEE (commercial aluminium construction)
2 Instant Marquee 3m x 6m Titan Digi Ptd Including:
2 Frame − 3.0m x 6.0m DFNDR/TTN
2 Roof − 3Dm x 6.0m

12 Ground Peg − 300mm x 8mm
8 Ground Peg −440mm x 10mm
8 Guy Rope Strap − (Standard)
2 Ground Peg Satchel − 440mm

Package Total 1790.00 3580.00

SIDE WALLS

2 Sidewall − 6.0m (Standard) Black 378.00 756.00

CUSTOM BRANDING

1 Custom Branding Base/Set Up Fee (3nix6m) 250.00 250.00
4 Custom Print − 6.0m Panel Complete 290.00 1,160.00

(Custom digital printing on the roof exterior of one 6.om main sloping & valance roof panel −
unlimited printing and colours)

SHIPPING

1 FREIGHT FREE 0.00 0.00

Subtotal 5,746.00
GST 861.90

GST Inclusive Total $6,607.90

This Proposal Is subject to all standard terms and conditions as set out by Unicrest Group Limited.

Freephene: 0800 144 155 Phone: +64(0)9 438 6862 Fax: +64(0)9 438 4904 Email: Info@unlcrest.co.nz Web: www.unicrestco.nz

I i 4 l t R D V 1 Z I V I 4 A D D w P E C . '−'9
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L

FLAGZ
Flagz Group Limited

Quote Date Flagz Group Limited
QUOTE 20 Feb 2018 P0 Box 57012

Owairaka 1340
Quote To Quote Number 38 Roma Road,
Ngaruawahia High School Qu−31758 Mt Roskill

Auckland 1041
Reference PH :09−620−5995
Justine Brown FAX: 09−629−3778

Delivery To www.flags.co.nz
Attention: Justine Brown Due Date
Ngaruawahia High School 27 Feb 2018
56 Kent Street
Ngaruawahia GST Number
Ngaruawahia 3720 75−686−315
NEW ZEALAND

Description Qty Rate Amount NZD

3.3m LARGE TEARDROP OR
3.6M LARGE WIN DBLADE
DOUBLE SIDED 1.00 275.00 275.00

WITH GROUNDSPIKE AND CARRY BAG

1 TIME CHARGE
ART, REDRAW SERVICES

1.00 60.00 60.00TO PRODUCE FLAG DESIGN

FREIGHT NTH ISLAND 1 SECTOR YELLOW 1.00 15.00 15.00

Subtotal 350.00

Amount Due NZD 40230

BANK ACCOUNT FOR DIRECT DEPOSITS: 12−3089−0253146−00

DHEADER CARD D O N ACCOUNT APPROVED

DLABEL []CASH SALE
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0800 002455
W W W BLACKHAWKS CO NI

FROM FOR QUOTE NUMBER

Beth A Ngaruawahia High School 5739
Blackhawk Gazebo TO DATE

94 Sunnybrae road Justine Brown 8 March 2018
Hillcrest VALID UNTIL
North Shore, Auckland 7 May 2018 at 1:18pm
www.blackhawks.co.nz

& Download PDF
PHONE

09−4431630

GST NUMBER

99−932−473

Blackhawk Gazebo Quote for Ngaruawahia High
School

3m x 6m Max + Alloy Gazebo − BOOSTER PRINTING 2,159.00

INCLUDES 4,318.00
6m Max + Alloy Frame (5 yr manufacturing Warranty)

6m Canopy − Custom Printing t o 2 x 6m roof tops and all 4 valances ONLY
Set Of Pegs / Guide Ropes
Carry Bag
FREE URBAN SHIPPING
*Custom Printing − Any fabric unprinted is to remain o f standard colour option

W i l l i S SLACK G R I YB L U E j
.

LARGE TeardropTeardrop or Feather Shape Flags 239.00

INCLUDES g . J J (T 478.00
I x LARGE Teardrop or Feather Shape Flag

Double side flag printing

1 x Flag Pole & Carry Bag
I x Lawn Spike

'I..
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6m SOLID sidewall 130.00

1 x 6m Solid Sidewall − Standard colour option X 1

Choose quantity

130.00

t%TI rn.*c.c sy SLUE Not selected

Lii •!

School Discount offer −160.00
x2

Save $160 per unit on Alloy Custom printed units when 2 or more units purchased −320.00

Options selected 0 of 1
GST 15% 583.83

Total NZD Including GST $4,476.00

Ask a Question...

Blackhawk Gazebo Quote for Ngaruawahla High School

Total NZD including GST $4,476.00 (0 of I options selected)

Additional comments

Optional

Your order/reference number

Optional

Yes, I Justine Brown agree to and accept this quote, on 8 March 2018 at 1:31pm.

Accept Quote Decline

https://go.quotientapp.com/q/mXr5fZwRX5−JE.6n7M2u4NPg5ty9cxEaiU8w3LlSL8g 2/2
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Mr R K Owen
Owen McLeod & Co
P 0 BOX 389
Hamilton 3240

Dear Richard

REPRESENTATION LETTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit, carried out on behalf of the Auditor−General,
of the financial statements of Ngaruawahia High School (the School) for the year ended 31 December 2016 for
the purpose of expressing an independent opinion about whether the financial statements:
− present fairly, in all material respects:

− the financial position as at 31 December 2016; and
− the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

− comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public Sector
Public Benefit Entity (PBE) Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

We understand that your audit was carried out in accordance with the Auditing Standards issued by the Auditor−
General, which incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand).

We understand that because you will be issuing a non−standard audit report, the Auditor−General may refer to
that audit report in a report to Parliament in accordance with section 20 of the Public Audit Act 2001.

General representations

To the best of our knowledge and belief:
− the resources, activities, under our control have been operating effectively and efficiently;
− we have complied with our statutory obligations including laws, regulations and contractual

requirements;
− we have carried out our decisions and actions with due regard to minimising waste;
− we have met Parliament's and the public's expectations of appropriate standards of behaviour in the

public sector (that is we have carried out our decisions and actions with due regard to probity); and
− any decisions or actions have been taken with due regard to financial prudence.

We also acknowledge that we have responsibility for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control
(to the extent that is reasonably practical given the size of the School) to prevent and detect fraud.

Representations for the financial statements

We confirm that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements, and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such enquiries as we considered
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:
− we have fulfilled our responsibilities for preparing and presenting the financial statements as required by

section 87(3) of the Education Act 1989 and, in particular, that the financial statements:
− present fairly, in all material respects:

− the financial position as at 31 December 2016; and
− the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

− comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public
Sector Public Benefit Entity (PBE) Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

we believe the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those
measured at fair value, are reasonable;
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we have appropriately accounted for and disclosed the related party relationships and transactions in
the financial statements;
we have adjusted or disclosed all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements that require
adjustment or disclosure; and

we believe the effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in the
aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. A list of the uncorrected misstatements is recorded
below.

Description Amount

NIL NIL

we have disclosed all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered
when preparing the financial statements. Where applicable, such litigation and claims have been
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with Public Sector Public Benefit Entity (PBE) Standards
Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Representations about the provision of information

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such enquiries as we considered
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:
− we have provided you with:

− all information, such as records and documentation, and other matters that are relevant to
preparing and presenting the financial statements; and

− unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to
obtain audit evidence;

− we have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud;

− we have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and
that affects the entity and involves:
− management:
− employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
− others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements;

− we have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting
the entity's financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators,
or others;

− we have disclosed to you all known instances of non−compliance or suspected non−compliance with
laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements; and

− we have disclosed the identity of the related parties, all of their relationships, and all of their transactions
of which we are aware.

− we have provided you with all the other documents ('other information") which will accompany the
financial statements which are consistent with one another, and the other information does not contain
any material misstatements.

Going concern basis of accounting

The Board of Trustees has received a letter of support from the Ministry of Education which confirms that the
Ministry of Education will continue to provide resources, by providing teachers' salaries, operational funding and
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school support funding if necessary, to the school, so that it may continue operations for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, the Board of Trustees continues to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Ministry of Education has confirmed that this funding will be made available for the foreseeable future, being
at least one year from date of signing the financial statements.

Disclosure

We consider that the financial statements adequately disclose the circumstances, and any uncertainties,
surrounding the adoption of the going concern basis of accounting by the School.

The representations in this letter are made at your request, and to supplement information obtained by you from
the records of the School and to confirm information given to you orally.

We confirm that we have not altered in any way, the original Letter of Representation emailed to us by Owen
McLeod & Co:

Yours faithfully

Date:/ I I I
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Ngaruawahia High School

Statement of Responsibility
For the year ended 31 December 2016

The Board of Trustees accepts responsibility for the preparation of the annual financial statements
and the judgements used in these financial statements.

The management (including the principal and others as directed by the Board) accepts responsibility
for establishing and maintaining a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the schools financial reporting.

It is the opinion of the Board and management that the annual financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2016 fairly reflects the financial position and operations of the school.

The Schools 2016 financial statements are authorised for issue by the Board.

1?e C
Full Name of Board Chairprson Full Name of PIncipaI f\Q1lI

−
(~k~

−
K−~~

S i n A J j B o a r d Chairperson Sigria e of Principal

Date: Date:

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 1
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Ngaruawahia High School
Statement o f Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Notes Actual (Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Revenue
Government Grants 2 2,957369 2,674,221 2,825,613
Locally Raised Funds 3 128,876 62,140 71,622
Interest Earned 4,632 4,000 7,787
Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment − −

1.163

3,090,877 2,740,361 2,906,185

Expenses
Locally Raised Funds 3 113,838 35,300 98,292
Hostel − −

International Students − − −

Learning Resources 4 2,100,467 1,914,064 2,025,571
Administration 5 275,578 183,150 260,288
Finance Costs 3,627 1,000 2,929
Property 6 481,913 530,326 534,772
Depreciation 7 67,351 57,972 60,119
Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment − 1,950
Loss on Uncollectable Accounts Receivable − −

13,812

3,042,774 2,721,812 2,997,733

Net Surplus / (Deficit) 48,103 18,549 (91,548)

Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses − − −

Total Comprehensive Revenue and Expense for the Year 48,103 18,549 (91,548)

T h e above Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 2
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Ngaruawahia High School

Statement o f Changes in Net Assets/Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Actual Budget Actual(unaudited)
2016 2016 2015

S $ $

Balance at 1 January (106181) (106,183) (194,937)

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year 48,103 18,549 (91,548)
Capital Contributions from the Ministry of Education

Additional MOE Grant − −
180,304

Equity at 31 December (58,078) (87,634) (106,181)

Retained Earnings (58.078) (87,634) (106,181)

Equity at 31 December (58,078) (87,634) (106181)

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 3
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Ngaruawahia High School

Statement o f Financial Position
A s at 31 December 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Notes Actual (Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8 28,053 69,637 165,397
Accounts Receivable 9 136,272 189,735 175,923
GST Receivable 12,543 34,625 34,625
Prepayments 10,796 9,873 9,873
Inventories 10 3,264 47,524 47,524
Investments 11 19,634 −
Funds owed for Capital Works Projects 20 61,957 − 18,296

272,519 351,394 451,638

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable 13 158,471 549,606 583,222
Borrowings − Due in one year 14 38,224 − −

Revenue Received in Advance 15 6,786 5,885 5,885
Finance Lease Liability − Current Portion 18 17,741 13,247 17,040
Funds held in Trust 19 67,776 54,276 44,619
Funds held for Teen Parent Unit 21 9,074 − 9,658

298,072 623,014 660,424

Working Capital Surplus/(Deficit) (25,553) (271,620) (208,786)

Non−current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 12 259,896 237,493 260,465

259,896 237,493 260,465

Non−current Liabilities
Borrowings − Due beyond one year 14 224,423 −
Provision for Cyclical Maintenance 16 41,290 41,290 128,605
Finance Lease Liability 18 26,708 12,217 29,257

292,421 53.507 157,862

Net Assets (58,078) (87,634) (106,183)

Equity (58,078) (87,634) (106,181)

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 4
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Ngaruawahla High School
Statement o f Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Note Actual (Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Cash f lows from Operating Activities
Government Grants 619,410 708,000 817,355
Locally Raised Funds 123,392 51,185 88,646
Goods and Services Tax (net) 22,082 − (4,562)
Payments to Employees (335,867) (241.176) (314,491)
Payments to Suppliers (594,407) (543,136) (594,962)
Interest Paid (3,627) (1,000) (2,929)
Interest Received 4,778 3,733 7,520

Net cash from! (to) the Operating Activities 35,761 (22,394) (3,423)

Cash f lows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from Sale of PPE (and Intangibles) 8,385 − −

Purchase of PPE (and Intangibles) (63,617) (35,000) (51,366)
Purchase of Investments (19,634) − −

Proceeds from Sale of Investments − − 29,267

Net cash from I (to) the Investing Activities (74,866) (35,000) (22,099)

Cash f lows from Financing Activities
Owners Contributions − −

180,304

Finance Lease Payments (16,024) (38,366) (17,926)
Painting contract payments (33,617) − (16,618)
Loans Received! Repayment of Loans (27,569) − −

Funds Administered on Behalf of Third Parties (21,029) − 33,944

Net cash from Financing Activities (98,239) (38,366) 179,704

Net Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (137,344) (95,760) 154,182

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 8 165,397 165,397 11,215

Cash and cash equivalents at the end o f the year B 28,053 69,637 165,397

The statement of cash flows records only those cash flows directly within the control of the School. This means centrally funded
teachers' salaries and the use of land and buildings grant and expense have been omitted.

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Ngeruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 5
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Ngaruawahia High School

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 31 December 2016

a) Reporting Entity
Ngaruawahia High School (the School) is a Crown entity as specified in the Crown Entities Act 2004 and a school as described in
the Education Act 1989. The Board of Trustees (the Board) is of the view that the School is a public benefit entity for financial
reporting purposes.

b) Basis of Preparation
Reporting Period
The financial reports have been prepared for the period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 and in accordance
with the requirements of the Public Finance Act 1989.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting policies have been consistently
applied throughout the period.

Financial Reporting Standards Applied
The Education Act 1989 requires the School, as a Crown entity, to prepare financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting practice. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand, applying Public Sector Public Benefit Entity (PBE) Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime as
appropriate to public benefit entities that qualify for Tier 2 reporting. The school is considered a Public Benefit Entity as it meets
the criteria specified as having a primary objective to provide goods and/or services for community or social benefit and where
any equity has been provided with a view to supporting that primary objective rather than for financial return to equity holders.

PBE Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime
The School qualifies for Tier 2 as the school is not publicly accountable and is not considered large as it falls below the
expenditure threshold of $30 million per year. All relevant reduced disclosure concessions have been taken.

Measurement Base
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise noted in a specific
accounting policy.

Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars, rounded to the nearest dollar.

Specific Accounting Policies
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 6
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Critical Accounting Estimates And Assumptions
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised and In any future periods affected.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The School reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting date. The School
believes that the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment as disclosed In the Significant Accounting Policies
are appropriate to the nature of the property, plant and equipment at reporting date. Property, plant and equipment is disclosed at
note 12.

Critical Judgements in applying accounting policies
Management has exercised the following critical judgements in applying accounting policies:

Classification of leases
The School reviews the details of lease agreements at the end of each reporting date. The School believes the classification of
each lease as either operation or finance is appropriate and reflects the nature of the agreement in place. Finance leases are
disclosed at note 18.

Recognition of grants
The School reviews the grants monies received at the end of each reporting period and whether any require a provision to
carryforward amounts unspent. The School believes all grants received have been appropriately recognised as a liability if
required. Government grants are disclosed at note 2.

c) Revenue Recognition

Government Grants
The school receives funding from the Ministry of Education. The following are the main types of funding that the School receives;

Operational grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding, which is in the year that the funding is
received.

Teachers salaries grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding in the salary period they relate
to. The grants are not received in cash by the School and are paid directly to teachers by the Ministry of Education.

Use of land and buildings grants are recorded as revenue in the period the School uses the land and buildings. These are not
received in cash by the School as they equate to the deemed expense for using the land and buildings which are owned by the
Crown.

Other Grants
Other grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding, unless there are unfulfilled conditions
attached to the grant, in which case the amount relating to the unfulfilled conditions is recognised as a liability and released to
revenue as the conditions are fulfilled.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 7
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Donations, Gifts and Bequests
Donations, gifts and bequests are recorded as revenue when their receipt Is formally acknowledged by the School.

Interest Revenue
Interest Revenue earned on cash and cash equivalents and investments is recorded as revenue in the period it is earned.

d) Use of Land and Buildings Expense
The property from which the School operates is owned by the Crown and managed by the Ministry of Education on behalf of the
Crown. The School's use of the land and buildings as occupant is based on a property occupancy document as gazetted by the
Ministry. The expense is based on an assumed market rental yield on the value of land and buildings as used for rating purposes.
This is a non−cash expense that is offset by a non−cash grant from the Ministry.

e) Operating Lease Payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense on a straight
line basis over the term of the lease.

f) Finance Lease Payments
Finance lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term on an effective interest basis.

g) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances, deposits held at call with banks, and other short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less, and bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents represent fair value.

h) Accounts Receivable
Accounts Receivable represents items that the School has issued invoices for or accrued for, but has not received payment for at
year end. Receivables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently recorded at the amount the School realistically expects
to receive. A receivable is considered uncollectable where there is objective evidence the School will not be able to collect all
amounts due. The amount that is uncollectable (the provision for uncollectibility) is the difference between the amount due and
the present value of the amounts expected to be collected.

I) Inventories
Inventories are consumable items held for sale and comprise of stationery and school uniforms. They are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of activities less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Any write down from cost to net realisable
value is recorded as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense in the period of the write down.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 8
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j) Investments
Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to the investment
balance.

Investments that are shares are categorised as "available for sale" for accounting purposes in accordance with financial reporting
standards. Share investments are recognised initially by the School at fair value plus transaction costs. At balance date the
School has assessed whether there is any evidence that an investment is impaired. Any impairment, gains or losses are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

After initial recognition bank term deposits are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment.

After initial recognition any investments categorised as available for sale are measured at their fair value without any deduction
for transaction costs the school may incur on sale or other disposal.

The School has met the requirements under section 73 of the Education Act 1989 in relation to the acquisition of securities.

k) Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and buildings owned by the Crown are excluded from these financial statements. The Board's use of the land and buildings
as 'occupant' is based on a property occupancy document.

Improvements to buildings owned by the Crown are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost or, in the case of donated assets, fair value at the date of receipt, less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost or fair value as the case may be, includes those costs that relate directly
to bringing the asset to the location where it will be used and making sure it is in the appropriate condition for its intended use.

Property, plant and equipment acquired with individual values under $1000 are not capitalised, they are recognised as an
expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

Gains and losses on disposals (i.e. sold or given away) are determined by comparing the proceeds received with the carrying
amounts (i.e. the book value). The gain or loss arising from the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

Leased Assets
Leases where the School assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The
assets acquired by way of finance lease are measured at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of
the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Leased assets and
corresponding liability are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and leased assets are depreciated over the period
the School is expected to benefit from their use or over the term of the lease.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 9
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Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment except for library resources are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight line
basis. Library resources are depreciated on a diminishing value basis. Depreciation of all assets is reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

The estimated useful lives of the assets are:
Information and Communication 5 Years
Furniture and Equipment 5−15 Years
Motor Vehicles 5−10 Years
Building lmprcvments 18−40 Years
Library Books 8 Years DV
Leased assets are depreciated over the life of the lease.

I) Intangible Assets
Software costs
Computer software acquired by the School is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. Costs associated with subsequent maintenance or licensing of software are recognised as an expense in the
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense when incurred.

Computer software licences with individual values under $1000 are not capitalised, they are recognised as an expense in the
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense when incurred.

Computer software that the school receives from the Ministry of Education is normally acquired through a non−exchange
transaction and is not of a material amount It's fair value can be assessed at time of acquisition if no other methods lead to a fair
value determination. Computer software purchased directly from suppliers at market rates are considered exchange transactions
and the fair value is the amount paid for the software.

The carrying value of software is amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life. The useful life of software is estimated as
three years. The amortisation charge for each period and any impairment loss is recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive
Revenue and Expense.

m) Impairment of property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets
The school does not hold any cash generating assets. Assets are considered cash generating where their primary objective is to
generate a commercial return.

Non cash generating assets
Property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount. The recoverable
service amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost
approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature of
the impairment and availability of information.

If an asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying amount
is written down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 10
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n) Accounts Payable
Accounts Payable represents liabilities for goods and services provided to the School prior to the end of the financial year which
are unpaid. Accounts Payable are recorded at the amount of cash required to settle those liabilities. The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

o) Employee Entitlements
Short−term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee
renders the related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to but not yet taken at balance date.

Long−term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the
related service, such as long service leave and retirement gratuities, have been calculated on an actuarial basis. The calculations
are based on:

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will reach the
point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information; and

• the present value of the estimated future cash flows

p) Revenue Received in Advance
Revenue received in advance relates to fees received from students and grants received where there are unfulfilled obligations
for the School to provide services in the future. The fees are recorded as revenue as the obligations are fulfilled and the fees
earned.

The School holds sufficient funds to enable the refund of unearned fees in relation to international students, should the School be
unable to provide the services to which they relate.

q) Funds Held in Trust
Funds are held in trust where they have been received by the School for a specified purpose, or are being held on behalf of a
third party. The School holds sufficient funds to enable the funds to be used for their intended purpose at any time.

r) Shared Funds
Shared Funds are held on behalf of participating schools within a cluster of schools. The School holds sufficient funds to enable
the funds to be used for their intended purpose.

s) Provision for Cyclical Maintenance
The property from which the School operates is owned by the Crown, and is vested in the Ministry. The Ministry has gazetted a
property occupancy document that sets out the Board's property maintenance responsibilities. The Board is responsible for
maintaining the land, buildings and other facilities on the School site in a state of good order and repair.

Cyclical maintenance, which involves painting the interior and exterior of the School, makes up the most significant part of the
Board's responsibilities outside day−to−day maintenance. The provision for cyclical maintenance represents the obligation the
Board has to the Ministry and is based on the Board's ten year property plan (10YPP).

Ngaruawahia High School Annual Report and Financial Statements Page 11
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t) Financial Assets and Liabilities
The School's financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and investments. All of these financial
assets, except for investments that are shares, are categorised as "loans and receivables" for accounting purposes in
accordance with financial reporting standards.

Investments that are shares are categorised as "available for sale" for accounting purposes in accordance with financial reporting
standards.

The School's financial liabilities comprise accounts payable, borrowings, finance lease liability, and painting contract liability. All of
these financial liabilities are categorised as "financial liabilities measured at amortised cost" for accounting purposes in
accordance with financial reporting standards.

u) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised at the amount borrowed. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the School has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date.

v) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
The financial statements have been prepared on a GST exclusive basis, with the exception of accounts receivable and accounts
payable which are stated as GST Inclusive.

The net amount of GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as a net operating cash flow in the statements of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

w) Budget Figures
The budget figures are extracted from the School budget that was approved by the Board at the start of the year.

x) Services received In−kind
From time to time the School receives services in−kind, Including the time of volunteers. The School has elected not to recognise
services received in kind in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.
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2. Government Grants
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Operational grants 709,158 700,000 660,462
Teachers' salaries grants 1742,792 1,626,123 1721,710
Use of Land and Buildings grants 401,122 340,098 340,098
Star Grant 35,277 35,161
Other MoE Grants 69,020 8,000 50,831
Other Government Grants 17,271

2,957369 2,674221 2,825,613

3. Locally Raised Funds

Local funds raised within the School's community are made up of:
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

Revenue $ $ $
Donations 26,456 3,500 6,115
Other revenue 19,257 10,500 498
Trading 11,371 15,000 6,638
Activities 13,942 1,000 2,441
Curriculum Recoveries 33,735 16,840 41,568
Perry Programme 22,132 15,000 12,528
Morse 1,983 300 1,834

128,876 62,140 71,622

Expenses
Activities 8,513 − 14,740
Trading 65,484 15,000 41,133
Other Locally Raised Funds Expenditure 6,698 5.000 15,168
Perry Programme 32,697 15,000 25,798
Marae 446 300 1,453

113,838 35,300 98,292

Surplus for the year Locally raised funds 15,038 26,840 (26,670)

4. Learning Resources
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Curricular 125,725 104,390 127,980
Library resources 2,259 1,175 1,307
Employee benefits. salaries 1,914.505 1,757,299 1,844,037
Staff development 12,387 10,000 7,324
It Support 21,653 24,000 27,280
Sports Co−Ordinator 23,938 17,200 17,643

2,100,467 1,914,064 2,025,571
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5. Administration
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Audit Fee 4,500 4,500 4,500
Board of Trustees Fees 3,610 6,000 5,560
Board of Trustees Expenses 14,835 16,950 19.148
Communication 12.595 9,800 9,401
Consumables 12,590 5,700 11,240
Operating Lease 68,860 17,000 27,876
Other 21,098 13,400 18,312
Employee Benefits − Salaries 79,891 70,000 75,771
Insurance 5.917 5,500 5,766
Service Providers, Contractors and Consultancy 51,682 34,300 79,619
Transport − 3,095

275,578 183,150 260,288

S. Property
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Caretaking and Cleaning Consumables 12,356 8,000 9,419
Cyclical Maintenance Provision (87,315) 25,721 25,721
Grounds 15,674 9,000 16,113
Heat, Light and Water 28,005 34,000 31,688
Rates 2,710 800 1,526
Repairs and Maintenance 23,688 14.000 18,115
Use of Land and Buildings 401,122 340,098 340,098
Security 4,080 4,000 3,173
Employee Benefits − Salaries 40,834 40,000 36,845
Vehicle Expenses 4.172 4,000 3,095
Consultancy And Contract Services 36,607 50,707 48,979

481,913 530,326 534,772

The use of land and buildings figure represents 8% of the school's total property value. This is used as a 'proxy' for the market
rental of the property. Property values are established as part of the nation−wide revaluation exercise that is conducted every 30
June for the Ministry of Education's year−end reporting purposes.

7. Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Information and Communication 24,194 20,282 21,034
Furniture and Equipment 17,329 19,975 20,715
Motor Vehicles 857 739 766
Building lrnprovments 4,186 4,037 4,186
Leased Assets 17,574 9,803 10,166
Library Books 3,211 3,136 3.252

67,351 57,972 60,119
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8. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Cash on Hand 200 300 300
ASS 01 Nc − Main 11,109 − −

ASS 00 A/c − Student 4,061 46.564 63,370
ASS 50 A/c − Savings 6,403 22,773 101,727
ASS 51 A/c − Cyc Maintenance 2 − −

ASS 02 A/c − Building 6,278 − −

Net cash and cash equivalents and bank overdraft for Cash Flow Statement 28.053 69,637 165.397

The carrying value of short−term deposits with maturity dates of 90 days or less approximates their fair value.

Of the $28,053 Cash and Cash Equivalents, $588 Is held by the School on behalf of the Ministry of Education. These funds are
required to be spent in 2017 on Crown owned school buildings under the School's Five Year Property Plan.

9. Accounts Receivable
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Receivables 19.562 26,889 26,889
Receivables from the Ministry of Education 17,253 13,096 13,096
Provision for Uncollectibility − −

(13,812)

Interest Receivable 121 267 267
Teacher Salaries Grant Receivable 99,336 149,483 149,483

136,272 189,735 175,923

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 19,683 27,156 13,344
Receivables from Non−Exchange Transactions 116,589 162,579 162,579

136.272 189,735 175,923

10. Inventories
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Pa Uniforms 3,264 47,524 47,524

3,264 47,524 47,524

11. Investments

The School's Investment activities are classified as follows:
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Current Asset

19,634 −Short−term Bank Deposits

The carrying value of long term deposits longer than 12 months approximates their fair value at 31 December 2016.
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment

Opening
Balance
(NBV) Additions Disposals Impairment Depreciation Total (NBV)

2016 $ $ $ $ $ $

Information and Communication 68,958 18,406 (8,385) − (24194) 54,786
Furniture and Equipment 68,301 32,721 − (17329) 83,692
Motor Vehicles 2,723 8,370 − (857) 10,237
Building lniprovments 50,829 − . − (4,186) 46,642
Leased Assets 44.728 14,119 − − (17,574) 41,273
Library Books 24,926 1,550 − − (3,211) 23,266

Balance at 31 December 2016 260.465 75.166 (83851 − (67351) 259,896

Cost or Accumulated Net Book
Valuation Depreciation Value

2016 $ $ $

Information and Communication 442,437 (387,651) 54,786
Furniture and Equipment 665,756 (582,064) 83,692
Motor Vehicles 77,197 (66,960) 10,237
Building improvrnents 105,411 (58,769) 46,642
Leased Assets 74,270 (32,997) 41,273
Library Books 122,293 (99,027) 23,266

Balance at 31 December 2016 1,487,364 (1,227,4.68) 259,896

Opening
Balance
(NBV) Additions Disposals Impairment Depreciation Total (NBV)

2015 $ $ $ $ $ $

Information and Communication 53,279 36.713 − − (21.034) 68,958
Furniture and Equipment 70,995 18,021 − − (20,715) 68,301
Motor Vehicles 272 3,217 . − (766) 2,723
Building improvments 55,015 − − − (4.186) 50,829
Leased Assets 29,044 37,396 (11,546) − (10,166) 44,728
Library Books 23,928 4,250 − − (3,252) 24,926

Balance at 31 December 2015 232,533 99,597 (11,546) − (60,119) 260,465

Accumulated Depreciation

Coat or Accumulated Net Book
Valuation Depreciation Value

2015 * $ $

Information and Communication 430,342 (361,384) 68,958
Furniture and Equipment 633,035 (564,734) 68,301
Motor Vehicles 68.827 (66,104) 2,723
Building lmprovments 105,410 (54,581) 50,829
Leased Assets 60,151 (15,423) 44,728
Library Books 120,743 (95,817) 24,926

Balance at 31 December 2015 1,418,508 (1,158,043) 260,465
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13. Accounts Payable
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Operating creditors 29,614 398,243 413,802
Accruals 5,175 − 5,175
Capital accruals for PPE Items 10,312 − 12,882
Employee Entitlements − salaries 111.336 149,463 149,483
Employee Entitlements − leave accrual 2,034 1,880 1,880

158,471 549,606 583,222

Payables for Exchange Transactions 146,471 549,606 549,606
Payables for Non−exchange Transactions − Taxes Payable (PAYE and Rates) − −

Payables for Non−exchange Transactions − Other −

146,471 549,606 549,606
The carrying value of payables approximates their fair value.

14. Borrowings
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Due in One Year 38,224 −
Due Beyond One Year 224,423 − −

262,647 − −

15. Revenue Received in Advance
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Income Received in Advance − 2,060 2,060
Student Income In Advance 5,916 3,854 3,854
2016 Australia Tour − (29) (29)
Local Grant − Students 870

6,786 5,885 5,885

16. Provision for Cyclical Maintenance
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Provision at the Start of the Year 128,605 128,605 102,884

Increase/(decrease) to the Provision During the Year
(87,315) (87,315) 25,721

Provision at the End of the Year 41,290 41,290 128,605

Cyclical Maintenance −
C u r r e n t

− − −

Cyclical Maintenance −Term 41,290 41,290 128,605

41,290 41,290 128,605
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17. Finance Lease Liability

The School has entered into a number of finance lease agreements for equipment. Minimum lease payments payable:

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Actual (Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

No Later than One Year 17,741 13,247 17,040
Later than One Year and no Later than Five Years 32,035 12,217 37,673
Future finance charges (5327) − (8,416)

44,449 25,464 46.297

18. Funds held in Trust
2016 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Funds Held in Trust on Behalf of Third Parties − Current 67,776 54,276 44.619
Funds Held in Trust on Behalf of Third Parties− Non−current − − −

67,776 54,276 44,619

These funds are held in trust for PB4L and Gateway.

19. Funds Owed (Held) for Capital Works Projects

During the year the School received and applied funding from the Ministry of Education for the following capital works projects:

SOT
Contribution/

Opening Receipts (Write−off to Closing
2016 Balances from MoE Payments R&M) Balances

$ $ $ $
Security Cameras in progress (533) − − −

(533)

New Building Plan 2013−2014 in progress (55) − − −
(55)

Re−Roofing Tech Blocks in progress 11,712 •
4 1 , 8 1 0

− 53,522
Boiler in progress 596 − − −

596

lnfastructure Upgrade in progress 4,687 −
1 , 5 1 0

− 6,197
Re−Roofing Gym In progress 1,889 90,420 89,531 − 1.000
Re−Development 2016 in progress − −

1 , 2 3 0

− 1,230

Totals 18,296 90,420 134,081 − 61,957

Represented by:
Funds Held on Behalf of the Ministry of Education (588)
Funds Due from the Ministry of Education 62,545

61,957
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ROT
Contribution/

Opening Receipts (Write−off to Closing
2015 Balances from MoE Payments R&M) Balances

$ $ $ $
Security Cameras in progress (3,255) .

2 , 7 2 2

− (533)
Building Demo completed (4,132) • 4,132 − −

New Building Plan 2013−2014 in progress 30,549 30,872 268 − (55)
Re−Roofing Tech Blocks in progress 9,962 100,200 101,950 − 11,712
Trees completed 22,021 22,021 − −

Boiler in progress − 7,115 7,711 − 596
Infestructure Upgrade in progress − 23,792 28,479 − 4,687
Re−Roofing Gym in progress − − 1,889 − 1,889

Totals 33,124 1641000 169,172 − 18,296

20. Funds Held for Teen Parent Unit

The school's Teen Parent Unit is a separate business unit of the school. This note sets out the revenue and expenditure for this
unit. This revenue and expenditure is Included in the school's Statement of Revenue and Expense. The balance of funds relates to
revenue received in advance, which is carried forward to be spent on the Teen Parent Unit in the next year.

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Actual (Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Funds Held at Beginning of the Year 9,658 −

Revenue
Funds received from the MOE 1,000 15,739

1,000 − 15,739

Total funds available 10,658 − 15,739

Expenses
Other expenses 1,584 6,081

1,584 − 6,061

Funds Held at Year End 9.074 − 9,658

21. Related Party Transactions

The School is a controlled entity of the Crown, and the Crown provides the major source of revenue to the school. The school
enters Into transactions with other entities also controlled by the Crown, such as government departments, state−owned enterprises
and other Crown entities. Transactions with these entities are not disclosed as they occur on terms and conditions no more or less
favourable than those that It Is reasonable to expect the school would have adopted If dealing with that entity at arm's length.

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal supplier or
client/recipient relationship on terms and condition no more or less favourable then those that it is reasonable to expect the school
would have adopted In dealing with the party at arm's length In the same circumstances. Further, transactions with other
government agencies (for example, Government departments and Crown entities) are not disclosed as related party transactions
when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements between government agencies and undertaken on the normal
terms and conditions for such transactions.

The School Board Chairperson was provided with a school house till December 2016 with a deferral arrangement−
The School does not generally provide house rent on deferred payment basis, therefore the school set a rent arrangement with the
Board Chairperson to recover the rent subsequently after balance date.
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22. Remuneration

Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel of the School Include all trustees of the Board, Principal, Deputy Principals and Heads of
Departments.

2016 2015
Actual Actual

$ $
Board Members
Remuneration 3,610 5,560
Full−time equivalent members 0.26 0.50

Leadership Team
Remuneration 352,900 479,258
Full−time equivalent members 4.00 4.25

Total key management personnel remuneration 356,510 484,818
Total full−time equivalent personnel 4.28 4.75

The full time equivalent for Board members has been determined based on attendance at Board meetings, Committee meetings
and for other obligations of the Board, such as stand downs and suspensions, plus the estimated time for Board members to
prepare for meetings.

Principal
The total value of remuneration paid or payable to the Principal was in the following bands:

2016 2015
Actual Actual

Salaries and Other Short−term Employee Benefits: $000 $000
Salary and Other Payments 120−130 130−140
Benefits and Other Emoluments 3−4 0−1
Termination Benefits

Other Employees
The number of other employees with remuneration greater than $100,000 was in the following bands:

Remuneration 2016 2015
$000 FIE Number FTE Number

100−110 1.00 1.00
1.00 1.00

The disclosure for 'Other Employees' does not include remuneration of the Principal.

23. Compensation and Other Benefits Upon Leaving

The total value of compensation or other benefits paid or payable to persons who ceased to be trustees, committee member, or
employees during the financial year in relation to that cessation and number of persons to whom all or part of that total was payable
was as follows:

2016 2015
Actual Actual

Total
Number of People

24. Contingencies

There are no contingent liabilities and no contingent assets as at 31 December 2016 (Contingent liabilities and assets at 31
December 2015: nil).
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25. Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments

There are no capital commitments as at 31 December 2016 (Capital commitments at 31 December 2015: nil).

(b) Operating Commitments

As at 31 December 2016 the Board has entered into the following contracts:

(a) operating lease of laptops;
2016 2,015

Actual Actual
$ $

No later than One Year 29918 34,416
Later than One Year and No Later than Five Years 15608 45,528
Later than Five Years −

45526 79,944

26. Managing Capital

The School's capital is its equity and comprises capital contributions from the Ministry of Education for property, plant and
equipment and accumulated surpluses and deficits. The School does not actively manage capital but*attempts" to ensure that
income exceeds spending in most years. Although deficits can arise as planned In particular years, they are offset by planned
surpluses in previous years or ensuing years.

27. Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

Loans and receivables
2015 2016 2015

Budget
Actual (Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $
Cash and Cash Equivalents 28,053 69,637 165,397
Receivables 136,272 189,735 175,923
investments − Term Deposits 19,634 −

Total Loans and Receivables 183,959 259,372 341,320

Financial liabilities measured at amortised coat

Payabies 158,471 549,606 583,222
Borrowings − Loans 262,647
Finance Leases 4.4,449 25,464 46,297

Total Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost 465,567 575,070 629,519

28. Events After Balance Date

There were no significant events after the balance date that impact these financial statements.

29. Going Concern

The School Is experiencing financial difficulties, at balance date the School has a working capital deficit of $25,554 and a negative net assets
of $58,078. The financial difficulties have arisen primarily because the School has incurred several deficits over recent years.
The school is managing the situation by Implementing tighter budgetary controls and Is taking action to address factors that have
resulted In the working capital deficit and negative net assets.

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern assumption is dependant on the
continuing support from the Ministry of Education. The Ministry of Education has confirmed they will continue to provide the School
with resources so that it may meet Its obligations as they fall due.
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board  
From Tony Whittaker 

General Manager Strategy & Support 
Date 28 April 2018 

Prepared by Lianne van den Bemd 
Community Development Advisor 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
DWS Document Set # CDR0502 / GOV0508 

Report Title Application for Funding – Hope Rising Farm Trust 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to present an application for funding from the Hope Rising 
Farm Trust towards the cost of the programme “Time out with Horses”. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the General Manager Strategy & Support be received; 
 
AND THAT an allocation of $............................... is made to the Hope Rising 
Farm Trust towards the cost of the programme “Time out with Horses”; 
 
OR 
 
AND THAT the request from the Hope Rising Farm Trust towards the cost of 
the programme “Time out with Horses” is declined / deferred until 
……………………. for the following reasons: 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
Hope Rising Farm Trust (“the Trust”) empowers at risk youth by giving them hope for their 
futures through programmes that establish healthy connections and relationships with local 
schools and community organisations. 
 
“Time out with Horses” is a six week programme that is run for young people aged 
6-16 years old. 
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With the support of seven volunteers and facilitators the programme will partner the 
students with horses for them to learn new skills (such as farming tasks) whilst experiencing 
a sense of achievement. 

4. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
1) That the application is approved and an allocation of partial or full funding requested 

be made. 

2) That the application is declined. 

3) That the application is deferred. 

5. FINANCIAL 
 
Funding is available to allocate for the year. 
 
The project is noted to cost $7,099.50.  The Hope Rising Farm Trust is seeking funding of 
$4,687.50 towards the cost of the programme “Time out with Horses”. 
 
GST Registered No 

Set of Accounts supplied Yes 

Previous funding has been received by this organisation No 

6. POLICY 
 
The application meets the criteria set in the Discretionary Grants Policy, one of which is 
that grants up to $5,000.00 can be funded up to 100% at the discretion of the relevant 
community board or committee or Council’s Discretionary & Funding Committee. 
 
For grants above $5,000.00 a funding cap of 75% of the total project cost applies (whichever 
is the greater) and other funding needs to be sought. 
 
Funds cannot be uplifted until all sufficient funds for the project are approved. 

7. CONCLUSION 
 
Consideration by the Ngaruawahia Community Board is required with regard to this 
funding request. 

8. ATTACHMENTS 
 
Application for Funding – Hope Rising Farm Trust 
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Tony Whittaker 

General Manager Strategy & Support 
Date 17 April 2018 

Prepared by Shannon Kelly 
Youth Engagement Advisor 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
Reference # GOV0508 
Report Title Youth Engagement Update May 2018 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to update the Ngaruawahia Community Board on youth 
engagement in Ngaruawahia and to submit the Ngaruawahia Youth Action Group’s quarterly 
report from the Group’s coordinator and representative, Cory Newport. 
 
Council’s Youth Engagement Advisor received five new online membership requests to join 
the Ngaruawahia Youth Action group.  These have been forwarded to Cory Newport for 
following up.  
 
Youth Week is approaching from 19 May to 27 May 2018.  The theme of Youth Week is 
“Ahakoa te aha, kei a koe te tikanga: Be who you want to be.”  In the spirit of Youth Week, 
many community organisations and youth groups in Ngaruawahia and the wider district will 
be running events and activities over the nine days to celebrate young people.  The 
Youth Engagement Advisor is working with various groups to coordinate a district wide 
events calendar, which can be shared via email.  
 
The New Zealand Youth Awards 2018 are now open and the Minister of Youth, 
Peeni Henare is calling on communities to nominate young people who have made a 
significant contribution in their communities and who have achieved outstanding results.  
The categories in 2018 recognise crucial skills and personal qualities, such as leadership, 
empathy, working for the benefit of others and caring for our environment.  Nominations 
can be submitted at: 

https://nzyouthawards.org.nz/appl/nomination-cwpa.php?program=cwpa&state 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the General Manager of Strategy & Support be received. 
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3. ATTACHMENTS 
 
Ngaruawahia Youth Action Group Quarterly report 
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Ngaruawahia Youth Action Group Quarterly Report 
May 2018 
 
 Item Progress/Outcome/Thoughts 
1 Embrace the Future (ETF) are in 

collaboration with OMGTech!  To hold a 
film festival within Ngaruawahia the theme 
for the film festival will be “Capture your 
Town”. 

ETF have named the film festival Kauawhi 
Matakite. 
ETF have changed the dates for young 
people to edit their films on 13, 14 and 
15 July 2018. 
A number of rooms at the Ngaruawahia 
Community House have been booked for 
young people to edit their films. 
ETF and OMGTech! will have equipment 
for young people available so they can 
participate, including video recording 
equipment, laptops and editing software.  
We may also have available training from 
OMGTech! 

2 Three new young people from 
Ngaruawahia joined Embrace the Future. 

These young people got involved after 
hearing us speak about the group at 
Ngaruawahia High School Assembly in 
March 2018.  

3 Funding. We are meeting with Shannon Kelly on 
20 April to look at how we can fund this 
film festival. 

4 Next Meeting. Our next meeting is being held on 
02 May  2018 

 
 
Cory Newport 
Embrace the Future Coordinator 
Ngaruawahia Community Board Youth Representative 2018 

Page 3  Version 4.0 

77



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Jacki Remihana 

Acting General Manager Service Delivery 
Date 27 March 2018 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
Reference # GOV0508 
Report Title Twin Rivers Community Art Centre 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
At its meeting held on Tuesday 27 March 2018, the Infrastructure Committee considered a 
report on the Twin Rivers Community Art Centre and resolved as follows: 
 
“THAT the proposal from Twin Rivers Art Centre (attached to the Infrastructure agenda report) be 
referred to the Ngaruawahia Community Board for endorsement; 
 
AND THAT the Ngaruawahia Twin Rivers Community Arts facility centre proposal be considered as 
part of the Ngaruawahia community facilities through the Long Term Plan process.” 
 
The Board is required to review, discuss and advise Council on the Board’s decision, to 
enable Council to continue the process with Twin Rivers Community Art Centre. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the Acting General Manager Service Delivery be 
received; 
 
AND THAT the proposal from Twin Rivers Art Centre (as attached) be 
endorsed/not endorsed (delete one) by the Ngaruawahia Community Board; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Ngaruawahia Twin Rivers Community Arts Facility 
Centre proposal be considered/not considered (delete one) as part of the 
Ngaruawahia community facilities through the Long Term Plan process. 

3. ATTACHMENTS 
 Twin Rivers Community Art Centre Proposal 
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Open Meeting 
 

To All Community Boards and Community Committees 
From Ian Cathcart 

General Manager Service Delivery 
Date 23 April 2018 

Prepared by Karl Pavlovich 
Acting Waters Manager 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
Reference # HCB, MMCC, NCB, OTCB, PCC, RCB, TCC, TCB, 

TKCC 2018 
Report Title Consultation on Proposed Waste Management and 

Minimisation Plan 2018-2024 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report presents the proposed draft Waste Management and Minimisation Plan (WMMP) 
2018-2024, Waste Assessment (WA), and a Statement of Proposal for public notification.  
 
Council is required by the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 (WMA 2008) to review and 
develop an updated WMMP by June 2018. Generally, WAs and WMMPs must be reviewed 
at least every six years. The WMMP must articulate clearly the Waikato District Council’s 
plan to achieve waste management and minimisation.  
 
The Waste Minimisation Act 2008 also specifies that Council must use the Special 
Consultative Procedure set out in section 83 of the Local Government Act 2002.  
 
The proposed draft WMMP includes the vision, goals and objectives, work-shopped with 
Council on 10 April 2018.  
 
As part of consultation, there will be a hearing scheduled for 13 June 2018. The WA and 
WMMP will then be finalised and presented to Council for adoption. 
 
More information can be found on our website at www.waikatodistrict.govt.nz/wmmp. 
 
We welcome and encourage you to make a submission on the draft WMMP through our 
website using the online tool www.waikatodistrict.govt.nz/sayit. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the General Manager Service Delivery be received. 

Page 1  Version 5 
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STATEMENT OF PROPOSAL 

 

THE PROPOSED WAIKATO DISTRICT COUNCIL 

WASTE MANAGEMENT AND MINIMISATION PLAN 2018-2024 (WMMP) 

 

The development and adoption of the Waikato District Council Waste Assessment (WA) and Waste 

Management and Minimisation Plan (WMMP) is a legislative requirement under the Waste 

Minimisation Act 2008 (WMA), and must undergo a Special Consultative Process as set out in Section 

44(e) of the Act. 

The Waste Assessment (WA) is a technical document. The key purpose of the WA is to present a 

clear picture of what happens with waste in the Waikato District area, what forces are driving 

current behaviours and outcomes, and to highlight the key issues and the basic options for 

addressing those issues. 

The Waste Management and Minimisation Plan (WMMP) presents as clear a picture as possible of 

what activities Waikato District Council intends to carry out in order to manage and minimise waste 

in the District. 

Reasons for the proposal 

 

The Waikato District Council is required under the Waste Minimisation Action 2008 (WMA) to have a 

current WA and WMMP in place. The WA and WMMP are reviewed every six years. 

The Council has considered the proposed WMMP 2018-2024 and determined it is consistent with 

the requirements of the WMA 2008. 

Summary of Key Changes 

The WMMP 2018-2024 intends to focus on the avoidance, reduction, and minimisation of waste, 
and will make use of opportunities created from resource recovery.  

 

This WMMP sets out Vision, Goals, Objectives, and Targets to guide us towards waste avoidance, 
reduction and recovery.  

 

The activities are also detailed, and will be carried forward into the long term and annual plans to 
ensure the resourcing is available to deliver on our plan. 

 
Actions and timeframes for delivery of these proposals are identified in the proposed 2018-2024 
Waste Management and Minimisation Plan. 
 

Council proposes for the 6‐year term of its next WMMP to continue providing the following current 

waste services in the Waikato District: 

 Council provided kerbside refuse and recycling collection, processing and disposal 

 Litter bin servicing and illegal dumping collection 

 Ongoing monitoring of closed landfills to ensure that resource consent conditions continue to be 
met 

 Waste minimisation promotion and education 

 Management of waste to ensure protection of health 
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As well as continuing council services, the following proposed activities include: 

 a review of waste services and behaviour change programmes to bring them into alignment 
with the WMMP 

 the development of new recycling centres 

 the introduction of a Solid Waste Bylaw and a waste operator licensing system  

 improved mechanisms for the collection of waste information 

 greater co-operation with other councils in the region, Mana Whenua, community groups 
and the private sector 

 advocating for greater central government leadership on waste issues such as the 
introduction of mandatory product stewardship and a container deposit scheme 

 
It is expected that the implementation of these proposals will meet forecast demand for services as 
well as support the Councils’ goals and objectives for waste management and minimisation. These 
goals and objectives will be confirmed as part of the development and adoption of the 2018-2024 
Waste Management and Minimisation Plan. 

 

Consultation and submissions 

 

Anyone can make a submission about the proposed Waikato District Council WMMP and we 

encourage you to let us know your views. 

 

What is a submission? 

 

Submissions are a record of your views/preferences on a particular issue.  By making a submission 

you can ensure that your voice is heard by councillors to assist them in their decision making. 

Submissions may be sent or given to the Council from any organisation or any member of the public 

during a time period specified by Council. In most cases submission forms are available at Council 

offices and libraries and on the ‘Say it’ page of Council’s website. 

 

When can I make a submission? 

 

The submission period for the proposed WMMP opens on 23 April 2018 and closes at 5pm on 23 

May 2018. 

 

How can I make a submission? 

 

Any person may make a submission on the content of this proposed WMMP. 

 

Written submissions should follow the format shown in the submission form following this page. 

This form is intended as a guide only, but is suitable for brief submissions. Please attach additional 

pages as necessary. 

 

In addition, if you wish to present your comments in person, Council will hear verbal submissions on 

13 June 2018 (or as early thereafter as possible). Submitters wishing to be heard in support of their 

submission must clearly state this in their submission. All submitters wishing to be heard will be 

contacted to arrange an appropriate time on the date specified. 

 

Please note that written submissions are to be received by Waikato District Council by 5pm  

on 23 May 2018. 
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Privacy Act Information - The Local Government Act 2002 requires submissions to be made available 

to the public. 

Your contact details are collected: 

 So the Council can write and inform you of the decision(s) on your submission(s). 

 To arrange a hearing date and time for you to speak (if you choose to). 

 

Your name and address will be publicly available. If you would like your address and phone 

details (including email address) kept confidential you need to inform us when you send in 

your submission. 

You have the right to correct any errors in personal details contained in your submission. If you do not supply 

your name and address the Council will formally receive your submission, but will not be able to inform you of 

the outcome. 

 

Submissions can be: 

Online: www.waikatodistrict.govt.nz/sayit  

 

Posted to: Waikato District Council 

  Private Bag 544 

  Ngaruawahia 3742 

 

Delivered to: Waikato District Council 

  Attn: Corporate Planner 

  15 Galileo Street 

  Ngaruawahia 3742 

 

Huntly Office 

142 Main Street, Huntly 3700 

 

Raglan Office 

7 Bow Street, Raglan 3225 

 

Tuakau Office 

2 Dominion Rd, Tuakau 2121 

 

Te Kauwhata Office 

1 Main Road, Te Kauwhata 3710 

 

Emailed to:  consult@waidc.govt.nz 

  Subject heading should read: ‘WMMP’ submission 

 

What happens next? 

Council will acknowledge each submission received in writing, either by letter or email. 

 

Following the closing of submissions on 23 May 2018, all submissions will be reviewed by Elected 

Members. Verbal submissions will be heard and all submissions formally considered at a Council 

meeting on 13 June 2018 (or as soon thereafter as possible). This meeting is open to both 

submitters and the public to attend. 

 

Important Dates to Remember: 

Submissions open – 23 April 2018 

Submissions close – 23 May 2018 

Hearing of submissions – 13 June 2018 

 

If you have any further queries or would like further copies of the proposed WMMP, please contact 

Karl Pavlovich, Rob Ball, or Pat Cronin on 0800 492 452. 
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PREFACE  

The Waste Assessment (WA) is a technical document. The key purpose of the WA is to present a clear 

picture of what happens with waste in the Waikato District area, what forces are driving current 

behaviours and outcomes, and to highlight the key issues and the basic options for addressing those 

issues. 

This document is based on the Waste Assessment Template developed for the Councils of the Waikato 

and Bay of Plenty regions, and includes reference material from a number of sources.  

 

 

 

 

Issue  Author Reviewer Date 

1 Version 1 Sandra Murray Medical Officer of Health 04/01/2017 

2 Version 2 Sandra Murray Patricia Cronin 27/01/2018 

3 Final Sandra Murray Karl Pavlovich 08/02/2018 
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PART 1 - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Waikato District generates an estimated 52,182 tonnes of waste to landfill each year (excluding 

farm waste) - an average of 750kg per person every year.  

Indications are that per capita waste to landfill volumes have increased by approximately 47% 

compared to 2012. This is higher than with national trends, with a national increase of 20% waste 

to landfill in the past three years. However, the difference is largely due to changes in the type 

and amount of waste date we now collect compared to 2012. 

In addition, an estimated 112,662 tonnes of rural (on-farm) waste is estimated to be generated in 

the District (47% of waste). 

Based on data obtained from council services and private waste operators, an estimated 71,000 

tonnes of material were diverted from landfill (e.g. through reuse, recycling or composting) in 

the 2016-2017 year. This equates to around 1,020 kg diversion per person per year.  

Recyclable material recovered appears to have increased from 0.03 per capita in 2012 to 0.05 in 

2016 – a 66% increase.  The increase in recyclable material is likely to be a result of a 

combination of low estimates in 2012 and a genuine increase in recyclable recovery as markets 

have opened and private operators have moved to take advantage of these opportunities.  

However, some caution should be noted as data collection from private waste operators is 

voluntary, and data quality was low for some operators. Estimates of volumes have been made 

for some private operators. 

Key opportunities for Waikato District are to: 

 Review waste services to ensure council are able to meet their waste minimisation 

objectives, particularly around data on waste flows and effectiveness of waste 

minimisation initiatives 

 Introduce of a waste operator and facility licencing system to increase Councils access to 

waste flow information, and improve control over waste flows within the District. 

 Introduce cost effective waste minimisation by supporting community-based resource 

recovery activities that promote a zero-waste approach to living – this is likely to include 

the development of new resource recovery facilities. 

 Work with other councils in the region to introduce education programmes, investigate 

regional facilities and share services (where appropriate) 

 Investigate rural waste needs and consider ways to encourage on-farm waste 

minimisation and resource recovery 

Without improving access to waste data, resource recovery facilities and increasing the level of 

influence council has over waste flows, Waikato District may face cost increases for services and 

difficulty meeting future resident demand for improved services. 
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PART 2 - INTRODUCTION 

 

2.1 What is the purpose of the Waste Assessment? 

The key function of the Waste Assessment is to form a clear picture of waste flows and 

management options in the District.  It will provide the foundation for Council to update its 

Waste Management and Minimisation Plan (WMMP) in an informed and effective manner.  

It is a technical document that presents as clear a picture as possible of what happens with waste 

in the Waikato District, what forces are driving current behaviours and outcomes, and from that 

to highlight the key issues and the basic options for addressing those issues. 

2.2 Legislative Context 

2.2.1 Waste Minimisation 

The principal solid waste legislation in New Zealand is the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 (WMA).  

The stated purpose of the WMA is to:  

“encourage waste minimisation and a decrease in waste disposal in order to 

(a) protect the environment from harm; and 

(b) provide environmental, social, economic, and cultural benefits”. 

To further its aims, the WMA requires Territorial Authorities (TAs) to promote effective and 

efficient waste management and minimisation within their district.  To achieve this, all TAs are 

required by the legislation to adopt a WMMP.   

The WMA requires every TA to complete a formal review of its existing WMMP at least every 

six years.  The review must be consistent with the following WMA sections:  

 Section 44 of the WMA requires councils to consider the waste hierarchy, ensure that 

the collection, transport, and disposal of waste does not, or is not likely to, cause a 

nuisance; have regard to the New Zealand Waste Strategy. Councils must have regard to 

their most recent Waste Assessment when developing a WMMP and use a special 

consultative procedure to consult with the public. 

 Section 50 of the WMA also requires all TAs to prepare a ‘waste assessment’ prior to 

reviewing its existing plan.   

 Section 51 of the WMA outlines the requirements of a waste assessment, which must 

include:   

o a description of the collection, recycling, recovery, treatment, and disposal 

services provided within the territorial authority’s district 

o a forecast of future demands 

o a statement of options 

o a statement of the territorial authority’s intended role in meeting demands 

o a statement of the territorial authority’s proposals for meeting the forecast 

demands 

o a statement about the extent to which the proposals will protect public health, 

and promote effective and efficient waste management and minimisation. 

This document has been prepared in fulfilment of that requirement.  

Further detail on key waste-related legislation is contained in Appendix A.3.0. 
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2.2.2 Public Health  

Protecting public health is one of the original reasons for local authority involvement in waste 

management. Protection of public health is currently addressed by a number of legislative 

enactments, including Health Act 1956 and Health and Safety at Work Act 2015.  

The Health & Safety At Work (Regulations) 2016 provide added emphasis on workplace health 

and safety under the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015.  This legislation and the associated 

regulations impact on the choice of collection methodologies and working practices and the 

design of waste facilities. 

Further discussion of the implications of the legislation is contained in Appendix A.3.0. 

2.3 Scope  

2.3.1 General 

The WMA requirements for the waste assessment means that it must take into consideration all 

waste and recycling services carried out by private waste operators as well as Waikato District 

Council services.   

While Council has data on the waste flows that it controls, data on services provided by private 

industry is limited.  Reliable, regular data on waste flows is important to allow Waikato District 

Council to plan for the future and to include waste reduction targets in their WMMP.   

In preparing this document, reference has been made to the Ministry for the Environment’s 

‘Waste Management and Minimisation Planning: Guidance for Territorial Authorities’.   

2.3.2 Period of Waste Assessment 

The WMA requires WMMPs to be reviewed at least every six years. This Waste Assessment 

was developed between August 2017 - February 2018 and informs the 2018-2024 WMMP 

process. 

2.3.3 Consideration of Solid, Liquid and Gaseous Wastes 

This Waste Assessment, and the subsequent WMMP, is focused on solid waste, biosolids and 

special wastes that are managed through solid waste facilities.  

Solid wastes include all solid waste material that is disposed of to land or diverted from land 

disposal, for example general municipal waste and recyclables. 

Special wastes included in this WA include sewage milliscreenings from the Council’s wastewater 

treatment plant and road sweepings.   

Liquid and gaseous wastes (such as refrigerant gases and LPG) are not included except where 

they interact with solid waste systems.  

2.3.4 Consideration of Public Health  

Public health issues are dependent on the local context and actions taken. As well as meeting the 

legislative requirements the key issues that are likely to be of concern in terms of public health 

include the following: 

 Population health profile and characteristics 

 Management of putrescible wastes 

 Management of nappy and sanitary wastes 

 Potential for dog/seagull/vermin strike  

 Timely collection of material 

 Locations of waste activities 
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 Management of spillage 

 Litter and illegal dumping 

 Medical waste from households and healthcare operators 

 Storage of wastes 

 Management of biosolids/sludges from WWTP 

 Management of hazardous wastes (including asbestos, e-waste, etc.) 

 Private on-site management of wastes (i.e. burning, burying) 

 Closed landfill management including air and water discharges, odours and vermin 

 Health and safety considerations relating to collection and handling 

 Stockpiling of wastes 

Some systems may exacerbate the problem, such as infrequent collection, user-charges, 

inconveniently located facilities etc. However, in most cases, public health issues will be able to 

be addressed through setting appropriate performance standards for waste services. It is also 

important to ensure performance is monitored and reported on and that there are appropriate 

structures for addressing issues that arise.   

This WA and the WMMP will give consideration to public health impacts, with particular 

consideration of the potential effects on vulnerable groups. Where identified, planning will aim to 

anticipate, avoid or mitigate issues. 

2.4 Strategic Context – National  

The following national and international strategies, projects, reviews and plans have been taken 

into consideration in the preparation of this Waste Assessment. 

2.4.1 Review of the effectiveness of the Waste Disposal Levy 2017 

For the review period of 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016, levied waste disposal facilities received a 

total of 10,681,295 gross tonnes of waste. From this, 1,207,786 tonnes of material were 

diverted, leaving total net waste to landfill at 9,473,509 tonnes.  

Total gross tonnage of waste increased by 16.4% from the 2014 review, while the quantity of 

waste diverted decreased by 6.3%. As a result, the total net tonnage disposed to levied landfills 

has increased by 20.1% since the 2014 review1. 

 2010/2013 2013/2016 Difference 
% 

Increase/decrease 

Total gross 

tonnage 
9,178,592 10,681,295 1,502,703 16.4% 

Total diverted 

tonnage  
1,288,766 1,207,786 -80,980 -6.3% 

Total net 

tonnage to 

levied landfills  

7,889,826 9,473,509 1,583,683 20.1% 

Table 1 Total gross, diverted and net tonnages of waste at levied waste disposal facilities  

                                                             

1 Review of the effectiveness of the Waste Disposal Levy 2017, Ministry for the Environment 
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Net waste to levied landfills has increased every year since the levy was introduced (except for 

2012). New Zealanders are now producing about 734kg of levied waste per person annually. 

The 2017 review also identified that only 11% of consented waste disposal facilities were levied. 

The report noted “annual levied waste is increasing, indicating that the levy is not currently 

achieving its objective. Added to this, the majority of New Zealand's waste disposal facilities are 

exempt from the levy and no data is available about the waste that is disposed at these facilities”. 

The Ministry2 intends to: 

 Develop a clear vision, strategy and set of outcomes for the future direction of the 

waste disposal levy. Develop an aligned approach to invest funding into projects that are 

targeted, measurable and provide the greatest returns (over 2 years). 

 Invest in developing a national waste data collection and evaluation framework that 

targets key information to prioritise waste issues and measures effectiveness of the 

waste disposal levy (over 3 years). 

 Develop and implement a staged approach to applying the waste disposal levy across 

additional classes of landfills and assess the role of a differential rating system (over 5 

years). 

2.4.2 New Zealand Waste Strategy 

Section 44 of the WMA requires councils to have regard to the NZWS when preparing their 

WMMP.   

The 2010 New Zealand Waste Strategy: Reducing Harm, Improving Efficiency (NZWS) is the 

Government’s core policy document concerning waste management and minimisation in New 

Zealand.   

The two goals of the NZWS are: 

1. Reducing the harmful effects of waste 

2. Improving the efficiency of resource use 

The NZWS provides high-level, flexible direction to guide the use of the legislation, regulation 

and conventions that relate to the management and minimisation of waste in New Zealand.  

These conventions are set out in Section A.5.0. 

The flexible nature of the NZWS means that councils are able to decide on solutions to waste 

management and minimisation that are relevant and appropriate to local situations and desired 

community outcomes. 

For the purpose of this Waste Assessment, the council has given regard to the NZWS and the 

current WMMP. 

2.4.3 International Commitments 

New Zealand is party to the following key international agreements: 

1. Montreal Protocol – to protect the ozone layer by phasing out the production of 

numerous substances 

2. Basel Convention – to reduce the movement of hazardous wastes between nations 

3. Stockholm Convention – to eliminate or restrict the production and use of persistent 

organic pollutants 

                                                             
2 Review of the effectiveness of the Waste Disposal Levy 2017, Ministry for the Environment 
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4. Waigani Convention – bans export of hazardous or radioactive waste to Pacific Islands 

Forum countries 

2.4.4 National Projects 

A number of national projects are underway, aimed at assisting TAs, business and the public to 

adopt waste management and minimisation principles in a consistent fashion. 

(a) National Waste Data Framework Project 

The National Waste Data Framework (NWDF) project, led by WasteMINZ3 sets out a 

consistent methodology for the collection and categorisation of waste data. 

The first stage of the Framework includes data on waste disposed of at levied disposal sites 

(Class 1 landfills) and information on waste services and infrastructure as well as other areas 

where practicable. Subsequent stages of the Framework will include more detailed data on 

diverted materials and waste disposed of at non-levied disposal sites. The Framework will only 

be successful if it is widely adopted and correctly applied.  The implementation report clearly 

sets out a range of options to move the Framework forwards.   

The Council intends to be a part of the implementation of the NWDF by using the categories 

and terminology of the Framework in the Waste Assessment and the forthcoming WMMP. 

(b) National Standardisation of Colours for Bins 

In October 2015 WasteMINZ, the Glass Packaging Forum, and councils around New Zealand 

agreed on a standardised set of colours for mobile recycling and refuse bins, crates and internal 

office bins4.  

The recommended colours are:  

Bin bodies For 240 litre and 120 litre wheeled bins, black or dark green should be used. These 

colours maximise the amount of recycled content used in the production of the 

bins. 

Red Refuse 

Yellow commingled recycling (glass, plastic, metal and paper combined) 

Lime green food waste and food waste/garden (referring to green) waste combined 

Dark Green garden waste 

Light Blue commingled glass collections (white, brown, green glass combined) 

Grey paper and cardboard recycling 

Table 2 Recommended bin and bin lid colours for MGB's 

It is intended that any services provided or funded by Waikato District Council will comply with 

this National Standard. 

                                                             
3 WasteMinz is the largest representative body of the waste, resource recovery and contaminated land sectors in New Zealand 
4 More information is available from WasteMINZ - http://www.wasteminz.org.nz/sector-groups/behaviour-change/standardising-the-
colours-of-mobile-waste-and-recycling-containers/ 
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2.4.5 Emissions Trading Scheme5 

The Climate Change (Unique Emissions Factors) Amendment Regulations 2010 require landfills 

to surrender New Zealand Emissions Units (NZUs) for Carbon-dioxide equivalent gases (CO2-

e) generated and released into the atmosphere.  Landfills are required to surrender units only 

for methane that is released, not for CO2, as CO2 is considered biogenic (part of the natural 

carbon cycle).  The regulations required landfills to begin reporting from January 2012, and to 

surrender emissions units from January 2013. 

The purpose of the ETS is to impose a cost on greenhouse gas generating activities, and provide 

a market-based incentive to invest in low carbon or carbon reducing activities.  In the case of 

waste management, the ETS should provide an incentive to reduce the amount of biodegradable 

waste going to landfill as well as encourage better management of landfill methane through 

landfill gas capture and destruction.  How effective this incentive will depend on the price of 

carbon. 

Reviews in 2013, and again in 2016 caused changes to the Act; and it is likely that further changes 

will be implemented over the next two years as the government elected in 2017 campaigned on 

climate change policies.   

Landfill operators are passing on ETS charge to waste, as well as other related costs such as 

administration and scheme compliance costs, and risk premiums. 

The ETS regulations allow for landfills to reduce their ETS liabilities by applying for a Unique 

Emissions Factor (UEF).  There are two types of UEFs: 

 If a landfill captures and destroys methane generated in a landfill through a gas capture 

system, they can reduce their liabilities in proportion to the amount of methane 

captured and destroyed by applying for a methane capture and destruction UEF (up to 

90% capture and destruction is allowed to be claimed under the regulations).   

 Where a landfill can show that they accept less biodegradable waste than is assumed by 

the default emissions factor they can apply for a ‘waste composition UEF’.  This means 

they can then surrender NZUs based on the lower level of emissions they are estimated 

to generate. 

ETS exposure for Waikato District Council is indirect.  Landfills compete for tonnage not only 

against other proximate facilities but against other recovery options.  The extent to which 

landfills pass ETS costs on will determine the extent of exposure for council. Disposal contracts 

are usually negotiated where there is a council service contract, and ETS costs should be 

specifically set out in such contracts. 

2.5 Local and regional context  

The actions and objectives identified in this Waste Assessment reflect, intersect with, and are 

expressed through other Waikato District Council and regional planning documents.   

Key planning documents and waste-related goals and objectives that have been taken into 

consideration include: 

2.5.1 Waikato District 2015-2025 Long Term Plan 

 

 

                                                             
5 Service Review: Analysis of Current Services (April 2014); Eunomia 
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The Long-Term Plan (LTP) sets out the following Community Outcomes & Goals: 

People 

We will develop and maintain relationships and partnerships and provide accessible services, 

facilities and activities that create a supported, healthy, safe and engaged community. 

Economy 

We will promote sustainable growth, maintain accessible, safe and connected infrastructure and 

services, create an attractive business environment and provide sound financial governance. 

Energy 

We will provide active leadership, empowerment and collaboration in our business environment 

and we will effectively and sustainably manage natural resources. 

The LTP also sets out levels of service for waste services. 

Community 

Outcomes 

Level of 

Service 

Performance 

Measure 

Performance 

Target
   

2017/18 

Performance 

Target
   

2018-25 

To ensure 

communities are well 

informed about the 

effects of waste and 

opportunities they 

have to reduce waste. 

Information on 

Councils waste 

and recycling 

services is 

available to 

communities 

The percentage of 

schools in the 

district that receive 

solid waste 

education. 

55% 55% 

To ensure that our 

waste and recycling 

services are efficient 

and effective and 

protect our natural 

environment. 

Refuse and 

recycling 

services are 

convenient, 

reliable and 

efficient. 

The number of times 

that bags or bins are 

missed in Council’s 

kerbside collection 

<200 per 

annum 

<200 per 

annum 

The percentage of 

kerbside collection 

complaints that are 

resolved within 

agreed timeframes.  

97% 97% 

Table 3 Waste Levels of service (LTP) 

2.5.2 Waikato District Plan  

WDC are reviewing the District Plan through the same time period that this Waste Assessment 

is under development.  The draft District Plan is expected to be notified for public submission 

during the first part of 2018. 

2.5.3 Future Proof Strategy 

Future Proof is a growth strategy specific to the Hamilton, Waipa, and Waikato sub-region and 

has been developed jointly by Waikato District Council, Waikato Regional Council, and Waipa 

and Waikato District Councils, as well as Tangata Whenua, the NZ Transport Agency (NZTA) 

and Matamata-Piako District Council. 

The Future Proof growth strategy aims to manage growth in a collaborative way for the benefit 

of the Future Proof sub-region both from a community and a physical perspective. The growth 

strategy provides a framework for ongoing co-operation and implementation. This will ensure 
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the costs and resources required to fund and manage infrastructure such as transport, 

wastewater, stormwater, recreation and cultural facilities are provided for. 

Population figures in this Waste Assessment are taken from the Future Proof Strategy: Planning 

for Growth 2017 (2016: households= 24,892; population = 69,887). 

2.5.4 Waikato Regional Policy Statement 

The Regional Policy Statement looks 100 years into the future. This accords well with the 

purposes of sustainable management of our natural and physical resources, and meeting the 

reasonably foreseeable needs of future generations. It recognises the long life of community 

infrastructure, including the fact that many critical infrastructural elements in the region are 

either the same structures or have been in the same location for the last century. Additionally, 

the effects of current activities are projected to take many years for their full impacts to be 

realised.  

2.5.5 Waikato-Tainui Environmental Plan 

The Waikato-Tainui environmental plan provides high-level guidance on Waikato-Tainui 

objectives and policies, with respect to the environment, to resource managers, users and 

activity operators, and those regulating such activities, within the Waikato-Tainui rohe. With 

regard to waste management the following objective and policy are particularly relevant: 

Objective - liquid, solid, and hazardous waste 

26.3.3 Liquid, solid, and hazardous waste management is best practice and manages social, 

cultural, spiritual, economic and environmental effects. 

Policy – liquid, solid and hazardous waste 

26.3.3.1 To ensure that liquid, solid and hazardous waste management is best practice and 

manages social, cultural, spiritual, economic, and environmental effects. 

Method 

(a) The full life cycle of waste from generation to assimilation/disposal is considered in developing 

waste management strategies. 

(b) Manage waste including solid, liquid, gas, and sludge waste, according to the following 

hierarchy: 

i. reducing the amount of waste produced (including composting and mulching of green 

waste); 

ii. reusing waste; 

iii. recycling waste; 

iv. recovering resources from waste; 

v. treating residual waste; and 

vi. appropriately disposing of residual wastes. 

2.5.6 Maniapoto Environment Management Plan  

Geographically, the Maniapoto Environmental Management Plan (the Plan) covers the Maniapoto 

rohe, including the areas commonly known within Te Ao Māori as Te Rohe Pōtae and Te 
Nehenehenui. 

It is anticipated that the objectives, policies, and actions in the Plan will inform the review, 

development and implementation of regional and district plans, policies and strategies. The Plan 
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is also a tool to support the leadership of Maniapoto at the forefront of exercising kaitiakitanga 

and rangatiratanga within the Maniapoto rohe. 

Part 24.0 – Waste Management, includes three polices and a number of activities.  

Policy: 24.2.2.1 Incentives and initiatives to reduce the volume of waste are supported. 

Actions 

(a) Ensure Maniapoto participation and input to initiatives to reduce waste 

(b) Require discharge to land activities associated with solid and hazardous waste and by-products to be 

effectively controlled and monitored 

(c) Incentivise systems that promote waste minimisation or deal with waste as close to point of origin 

as possible 

(d) Promote product stewardship initiatives where the costs of waste disposal are met by product 

manufacturers (imported materials are taxed to cover eventual disposal costs) and other waste 

generators at source 

e) Promote education initiatives on waste minimisation programmes and zero waste – (see Parakore 

model) 

(f) Support and provide for low waste trading practices, including no packaging supermarkets, farmers’ 

markets and bulk suppliers 

(g) Establish accessible community recycling, composting facilities, swap or exchange facility for 

unwanted items  

Policy: 24.2.2.2 Waste disposal facilities are appropriately sited and managed to avoid adverse 

effects. 

Actions 

(h) Ensure Maniapoto participation and input to any new proposals for waste facilities and review of 

existing facilities to avoid any adverse effects on Maniapoto values and interests in a manner 

(i) Undertake remedial work at closed landfill sites where leaching of contaminants is occurring, or 

could occur, to prevent contamination of groundwater, waterways, and coastal waters 

(j) Ensure disposal facilities are designed and managed to ensure no leaching to or contamination of the 

environment 

(k) Ensure new waste disposal facilities are sited so as to prevent any impact on wāhi tapu, mahinga kai, 

kura, marae, urupā 

Policy: 24.2.2.2 Unsafe disposal of waste, including hazardous waste and by-products, is 

eliminated. 

Actions 

(a) Solid and hazardous waste disposal practices are safe and avoid any adverse effects on Maniapoto 

values and interests 
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(b) Enforce regulation of disposal of hazardous products 

(c) Promote education initiatives to the public regarding appropriate disposal options for different types 

of waste 

(d) Ensure penalties for illegal dumping provide a significant deterrent 

(e) Report, investigate and enforce penalties for illegal dumping 

2.5.7 Waikato Waste and Resource Efficiency Strategy 2015-18 (WRES) 

The Waste and Resource Efficiency Strategy (WRES) describes how Waikato Regional Council 

will work with key stakeholders to achieve collective regional waste minimisation objectives. 

The Strategy has a vision of: “working together towards a zero-waste region”. 

Two key goals of the strategy are to: 

 protect our communities, land, water and air from harmful and hazardous wastes; and 

 encourage resource efficiency and beneficial reuse that creates sustainable, economic 

growth.  

The Strategy also contains ten strategic guiding principles:  

1. Prioritising waste prevention and reduction 

2. Exploring onshore and sustainable solutions 

3. Closed loop or cyclical solutions 

4. Recognising kaitiakitanga (stewardship) 

5. Keeping the big issues in front of decision makers 

6. Supporting the valuable role of community enterprise 

7. Working collaboratively with others to share responsibilities 

8. Advocating for product stewardship 

9. Getting the most from external funding 

10. Exploring how to lower barriers to waste minimisation 

A Waste Strategy Advisory Group (WSAG) was established and includes representation from 

industry, local authorities (including HCC), community enterprises, Bay of Plenty Regional 

Council, and the Ministry for the Environment.   

The role of the WSAG is to monitor and review the effectiveness of the strategy, provide 

feedback, advice, and recommend changes, and to report back to their respective organisations.   

The group also investigates opportunities for joint working at a regional or sub-regional level. 

2.5.8 Cross-regional collaboration 

The Bay of Plenty and Waikato regional councils are working together on a number of pan-

regional collaborative projects that have been identified as priority actions by the constituent 

councils.  

The areas of collaborative work include: 

1. Waste assessments and waste management and minimisation planning 

2. Solid waste bylaws, licensing and data 

3. Education and communication 

4. Procurement 

5. Rural waste 
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Projects are currently under way for the first two of these priorities and there is also ongoing 

collaborative work among the constituent councils of the two regions on rural waste, tyres and 

education and communication. 

2.5.9 Sub-Regional Waste Awareness Group (SWAG). 

Waikato District, Hamilton City, Waipa District and Waikato Regional Councils are working 

together as part of a Sub-Regional Waste Awareness Group (SWAG). The SWAG, in 

collaboration with the community, developed and is implementing a Sub-Regional Waste 

Awareness and Communications Strategy. The strategy has the vision of working together 

towards a zero-waste region.  

Collaborating across the sub-region on waste education programs and campaigns increases 

efficiencies and broadens the reach of the Councils’ engagement and supports all Councils in 

achieving their waste minimisation objectives.     

2.6 International considerations 

While they do not immediately impact on Waikato District’s waste flows, it is worth noting the 

potential impact of international activities on New Zealand’s waste industry. 

Much of the recycling collected in NZ is exported, particularly to Indonesia and China. China has 

in recent years tightened measures around the acceptance of recycled materials. The most 

recent initiative, translated into English as “National Sword 2017,” targets “foreign waste,” 

including plastics, industrial waste, electronics and other household waste materials6. It comes 

four years after China initiated its Operation Green Fence, an imports-enforcement campaign 

that required a higher standard of recycled product in order to gain approval for import into 

China.  

Restrictions on the acceptance of recyclable material will mean changes to collection and sorting 

methodologies in order to achieve export standards. This may impact the costs associated with 

recycling with some estimates indicating recycling costs could double within the 5-10-year period 

(regardless of collection methodology). 

It is recommended that councils indicate these potential increases to the community 

Procurement processes and contracts can be used to make recycling proposals more attractive 

to contractors and share the risks associated with contamination and cleaning up the recycling. 

Some councils may start to consider in-house service provision (council owned trucks and staff 

rather than contracted out services). 

Also, of concern is the potential for climate change and rising instability to cause unrest in many 

countries. International conflict and unrest has the potential to disrupt recycling supply chains. As 

New Zealand has limited processing facilities for kerbside recyclables, we are potentially 

vulnerable should export markets be disrupted. 

2.7 General data limitations, completeness and assumptions  

This waste assessment compiles and analyses available information on waste and diverted 

materials being generated in Waikato District. It considers future demand for waste facilities and 

services; and reasonably practicable options available to meet demand, while achieving Council’s 

objectives including waste management and minimisation objectives. 

The options considered in this waste assessment will be incorporated into Council’s draft WMMP 
for public consultation, prior to formal adoption and implementation. 

                                                             
6 https://resource-recycling.com/recycling/2017/02/21/china-announces-sword-crackdown-illegal-recyclable-material-imports/ 

107



Waikato District Council Waste Assessment   February 2018 

WDC 2017 Waste Assessment   
                                                                          

Page 17 of 100 

 

This document was prepared using information gathered from a variety of sources. While every 

effort has been made to achieve a reasonable degree of accuracy in this assessment, limitations 

due to the low-level detail and quality of data available should be noted. 

The information obtained in this waste assessment was considered appropriate when giving 

regard to: 

 the significance of the information; 

 the costs of, and difficulty in, obtaining the information; 

 the extent of the Council’s resources; and 

 the possibility that the Council may be directed under the Health Act 1956 to provide the 

services referred to in that Act. 
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PART 3 - THE WASTE PROBLEM 

An estimated 235,844 tonnes of waste are generated in the Waikato District annually, with 

47.8% of this being waste estimated to be generated on-farm. 

 

Based on information from collectors and facility operators, an estimated 123,182 tonnes of 

waste were collected by waste services and facilities and services in the Waikato District in 

2016/2017. 

 

Of this amount, 52,182 tonnes (22.1%) were sent to landfill and 71,000 tonnes (30.1%) were 

recovered for reuse or recycling through resource recovery facilities and collection services.  

 

This does not represent all the waste and diverted materials generated in the District as an 

unknown volume of material is currently collected, re‐used, recovered, recycled or disposed of 

through other means or via facilities out of the District. In addition, provision of information 

from private waste companies is voluntary, therefore not all information was accessible. 
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3.1 How much waste is going to landfill from the WDC area?  

The identified volumes of waste disposed of to landfill from the Waikato District is summarised 

in Table 4 below. 

 

Waste disposed of to land  Tonnes 

(2016/2017) 

% of total 

waste 

generated 

(2016/2017) 

Tonnes/capita/annum7 

(2016/2017) 

Levied waste to Class 1 landfills       

Council kerbside refuse     7,522 3.2% 0.11 

General waste to landfill   20,000 8.5% 0.29 

Special waste e.g. hazardous and 

medical wastes  

        60 0.0% 0.00 

Wastewater screenings   24,600 10.4% 0.35 

Total waste to landfill  52,182 22.1% 0.75 

Waste diverted from landfill       

Council kerbside recycling*    3,631  1.5% 0.05 

Other waste (diverted)  67,369 28.6% 0.96 

Total waste diverted from 

landfill 

 71,000 30.1% 1.02 

Total waste collected 

(waste to landfill + diverted 

waste) 

123,182 52.2% 1.76 

Farm waste disposed of on-site 112,662 47.8% 1.61 

Total waste generated 235,844 100.0% 3.37 

Table 4 Summary of waste generated in the Waikato District 2016/2017 

*Note: does not include food waste collections now in place in the Raglan area. 

Waste disposed of to landfill was equivalent to approximately 0.75 tonnes per person; while 

diversion from landfill equates to approximately 1 tonne per person. 

Note: These figures exclude waste to non-levied landfills, as this amount is unknown. It also 

excludes waste going to the North Waikato Regional Landfill at Hampton Downs, as most 

material received by this facility is generated out of the District. 

                                                             
7 Future Proof population projections 
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Of the information provided, a large proportion of the total waste to landfill is comprised of 

waste from industrial, commercial and institutional (ICI) sources. While data on the source of 

waste is poor – ICI waste may comprise approximately 65% of the waste sent to landfill. 

Potentially, this material may be related to the three large scale waste generators in the District - 

Affco, Brinks Chickens and Goodman Fielder Quality Bakers. It may be useful for council to 

undertake further investigation and, potentially, provide educative support for these companies 

in order to reduce waste to landfill.  

However, the reliability of estimate for different types of waste varies. Some waste to landfill 

data comes unverified from private waste operators, while other waste data and wastewater 

screening tonnages are verifiable as they have been provided by WDC staff or council 

contractors. 

Information from private operators is also variable in terms of data collection methodology, with 

some data comprised of estimates of tonnages collected within vs without the area. For example, 

if a collection truck route includes 40% of customers from within the District – the total 

tonnages WDC collected will be estimated at 40% of the tonnages collected for that route. 

3.1.1 Council kerbside refuse collection 

The WDC kerbside refuse service collect approximately 9,140 tonnes of refuse per annum. This 

is an average of 130kg per person per annum, servicing on average 24,892 households. This is 

approximately 17% of the total waste to landfill for the Waikato District, although this is likely to 

be an underestimate as not all residents receive a kerbside service. 

Tonnages of refuse collected in the different collection areas within the District vary, this is in 

part related to the differing number of households in each area. 

Council provided 

refuse services 
    

Area Service provider 

Number of 

households 

charged for 

service   

Annual 

tonnage 

collected 

(approx.) 

Raglan Xtreme Zero Waste  2,632 1,820 

Central  
MetroWaste 

Waikato  
15,741 6,000 

Northern area Smart Environmental 6,606 1,320 

Total refuse (kerbside 

collections) 
 24,979 9,140 

Table 5 Summary of council refuse service tonnages 
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Figure 1 Tonnages of refuse collected from council kerbside collections 

The per capita weight of refuse is slightly lower than for similar sized councils in New Zealand. A 

comparison of the amounts of refuse material collected compared to comparable councils is 

shown in Table 6 below. 

 

District and year of survey Kg/capita/annum Comment 

Matamata Piako District 2016 62 Only 66% of properties have kerbside refuse services 

Hauraki District 2016 78 Only 73% of properties have kerbside refuse services 

Thames Coromandel 2016 131 91% of properties have kerbside refuse services 

Waikato District 2016 132 Variable services – bags and MGB bins 

Hamilton City 2016 152 
a maximum of two bags, not exceeding 60 litres or 

20 kilograms 

Table 6 Kerbside refuse comparison with other councils 
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3.1.2 Composition of council kerbside refuse8  

A compositional audit of council provided kerbside refuse was last undertaken in November 

2013 and can be seen in the table below.   

Primary category -  

as % of total 

Waikato 

urban  

refuse bags  

Waikato  

rural  

refuse bags  

Franklin  

rural  

refuse bags  

Tuakau  

120-litre 

wheeled bins 

Paper 15.9% 17.7% 17.3% 12.8% 

Plastics 14.0% 15.9% 14.0% 12.3% 

Organics 45.3% 39.7% 38.5% 48.2% 

Ferrous metals  2.5%  3.1%   3.2%   3.1% 

Non-ferrous metals  0.6%  1.1%   1.1%   1.0% 

Glass  3.0%  4.0%   9.8%   2.2% 

Textiles  6.1%  5.9%   3.6%  6.1% 

Sanitary paper  9.9%  9.3%   8.5% 11.7% 

Rubble  0.8%  1.6%   1.5%  0.9% 

Timber  0.7%  0.4%   0.4%  0.8% 

Rubber  0.1%  0.4%   0.2%  0.5% 

Potentially hazardous 1.0%  1.1%  1.7%  0.3% 

Refuse set out weight 

by household 

8.37 kg 9.02 kg 11.83 kg 11.22 kg 

Table 7 Comparison of kerbside refuse streams 

 

While the compositions of the four kerbside refuse streams were generally similar, both of the 

rural bag collections contain more recyclable materials and less organic material than the urban 

collections. Rural households are more likely to compost or use food waste for feeding animals. 

In general, urban households in the district set out less refuse than their rural counterparts.  

However, there is no information as to whether urban and rural households set out refuse with 

the same frequency.  Without being able to compare set out rates, a definitive comparison 

between set out weights cannot be made.  Rural properties may find it less convenient to set out 

refuse and may do so less frequently. 

The average household set out weight for Tuakau wheeled bins was higher than the urban and 

rural Waikato District refuse bags but lower than the Franklin rural bags.Tuakau households set 

out the highest weight of sanitary paper, which may be associated with the demographics of the 

                                                             
8 Section taken from: Service Review: Analysis of Current Services (April 2014); Eunomia 

113



Waikato District Council Waste Assessment   February 2018 

WDC 2017 Waste Assessment   
                                                                          

Page 23 of 100 

 

different areas. A higher proportion of young children usually results in greater quantities of 

disposable nappies, which are classified as sanitary paper.  

An estimate of the composition of council kerbside refuse from 2013 can be seen in the figure 

below: 

 
Figure 2 Composition of kerbside refuse 2013 

3.1.3 Transfer Stations and other recovery facilities 

Transfer stations and other material recovery facilities accept a range of materials such as waste 

from: 

 Construction & demolition (C&D) 

 Industrial/commercial/institutional 

 Landscaping & earthworks 

 Residential 

 Special waste e.g. hazardous and medical wastes 

 Kerbside waste collections 

While it is known that a number of private facilities provide C&D, commercial, landscaping or 

earthworks disposal – some of these companies did not voluntarily provide data around their 

tonnages. Therefore, it is not possible to know what proportion of each waste material is being 

handled by facilities in the District. 

3.1.4 Wastewater sludge / biosolids 

The sewage sludge in the Waikato district accumulates in ponds, and is de-sludged every 15-20 

years. WDC records indicate that approximately 60 tonnes of wastewater screenings are sent to 

landfill annually.  

3.1.5 Road sweepings 

Approximately 437 tonnes of road sweepings are collected annually. This material is taken to 

various disposal facilities including the Waste Management facility in Hamilton, the Envirowaste 

landfill at Hampton Downs and the Hamilton Organic Centre for composting. 

Composition of kerbside refuse 2013 
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3.1.6 Inorganic collection 

Approximately 1000 tonnes of material is collected annually from an inorganic collection 

provided to parts of the District. All of this material goes to landfill. In 2017 the inorganics 

collection cost $285,000 (approximately $285 per tonne). 

3.1.7 Hazardous material 

No data is available to identify the volumes of hazardous waste disposed of from Waikato 

District. Types of hazardous waste collected for disposal include E-waste, medical waste, used oil 

and oil filters from automotive repairers, commercial hazardous materials disposed of via the 

private sector and hazardous materials collected by NZTA contractors as part of roadside 

maintenance. 

3.1.8 Farm waste disposed of to land 

Waikato District Council has a responsibility to consider all waste generated in the district when 

planning waste infrastructure and services. This includes farm waste. 

The farm waste stream includes materials such as scrap metal, treated timber, fence posts, plastic 

wraps and ties, crop netting, glass, batteries, and construction and demolition wastes. 

The 2014 Rural Waste Surveys Data Analysis: Waikato & Bay of Plenty indicated that over two-

thirds of rural waste is organic materials, which the survey found to include animal carcasses and 

crop residues. The survey identified the three most commonplace rural waste management 

practices as burning, burial, or bulk storage for an indefinite time. 

A comparison of the Waikato/BoP survey with a similar survey carried out in Canterbury 
indicates data for average tonnages of rural waste is substantially higher in the Waikato / BoP. 

Waste Stream Waikato / BoP survey (tonnes) Canterbury survey (tonnes) 

Average rural waste 31.9  9.3 

Average organic/animal waste  3.9 14.0 

Average household domestic 

waste 

 1.3  0.5 

Table 8 Waste generation per farm surveyed in Waikato/BoP and Canterbury9 

As different farm types create different volumes of waste, NZ Statistics data on farm types 

specific to the Waikato District, along with average waste volumes for farm type from the 

national Rural Waste Risk Assessment and Waste Prioritisation report have been used as the basis 

for identifying the volume of farm waste (Table 9 below). 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             
9 GHD Rural waste surveys data analysis Waikato & Bay of Plenty July 2014 
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  Dairy Livestock Arable Horticulture 

Number of 

Farms 

747 1326 42 204 

  Average 

(t) 

Total 

(t) 

Average 

(t) 

Total (t) Average 

(t) 

Total 

(t) 

Average 

(t) 

Total 

(t) 

Inorganic 1.71 1,277 5.96 7,903 1.80 76 3.32 677 

Organic 1.17 874 17.08 22,648 0.80 34 17.82 3,635 

Hazardous 6.74 5,035 49.59 65,756 3.42 144 21.92 4,472 

                  

Sub-Total 

(t/farm/annum) 

10 7,186 73 96,307 6 253 43 8,784 

Total           

(t/Waikato 

District) 

112,662 

Table 9 Farm waste tonnages for the Waikato District 

 

The 2,319 farms in the District (excluding forestry) are estimated to generated approximately 

112,662 tonnes of waste per annum. However, this total includes material such as carcasses 

which would not normally be considered as solid waste from the council’s perspective. 

This is an average of 48.5 tonne of waste per farm across the District. However, some farming 

types create larger volumes of waste than others. For example, livestock farming creates an 

average of 73 tonnes per farm, while arable farming creates an average of 6 tonne per farm.  

Within the livestock category, there is also considerable variation, with piggeries and poultry 

farming creating considerably more waste than sheep, beef or deer farming (Table 10 below), 

while horticulture creates high volumes of hazardous waste.  

 Inorganic Organic Hazardous 

Beef cattle (incl. young stock)  0.08 0.2 1.03 

Horticulture 3.32 17.82 21.92 

Piggery  1.14 3.16 13.07 

Poultry 4.03 11.19 18.8 

Sheep  0.06 0.2 0.87 

Arable 1.8 0.8 3.42 

Table 10 Volumes of waste by waste and farm type 

It is not currently known how farm waste is being disposed of in the Waikato district. The Rural 

Waste Surveys Data Analysis: Waikato & Bay of Plenty indicates that 80% of farms use a farm dump. 

Farmers typically burn off a lot of materials in the dump to reduce the volume within the dump 

and to extend the lifespan of the dump.  

In addition, 91% of farms in the Waikato region admitted to having a burn pile, or some form of 

brazier for waste disposal. All farmers surveyed that used burning had an annual burn off, and at 
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least 50% had two or more burn piles a year (usually coinciding with a change in farming season). 

All of the farms surveyed also used bulk storage practices.   

3.1.9 Large scale waste generators 

The Waikato District has three known large-scale waste generators: 

 Affco (Horotui) 

 Brinks Chickens (Tuakau) 

 Goodman Fielder Quality Bakers (Huntly) 

Waste material for these is includes in the waste volumes for service providers and facilities. 

Specific details on the waste generated by these companies is unknown. However, based on 

available information, as much as 65% of Waikato Districts waste to landfill may be related to 

industrial, commercial and institutional (ICI) sources - including these three large scale waste 

generators.  

3.1.10 Regional waste stocktake  

An estimate of the total volume of waste to landfill in the Waikato region is provided in the 2013 

report, Bay of Plenty and Waikato Regions Waste Stocktake; Report for Bay of Plenty and Waikato 

Regional Councils summarised in the table below.  

Waste Stream Bay of 

Plenty 

Waikato Total % of Overall 

waste 

stream 

Kerbside refuse 48,192 78,929 127,121 t/annum 35.9% 

C&D waste 8,644 16,629 40,578 t/annum 11.5% 

ICI waste 26,997 51,937 126,735 t/annum 35.8% 

Landscaping waste 4,680 9,004 21,971 t/annum 6.2% 

Residential waste 6,657 12,806 31,248 t/annum 8.8% 

Subtotal – General Waste 75,427 145,105 220,532 t/annum 62.3% 

Special Waste 3,574 2,853 6,427 1.8% 

Total 127,193 226,887 354,080 

t/annum 

100% 

Other Land Disposal Sites – Bay of Plenty and Waikato Regions Combined 

Other diverted materials T/annum T/capita/annum 

All waste to other land disposal sites 787,000 1.13 tonnes 

Waste other than natural, excavated material 411,300 0.59 tonnes 

Table 11 Tonnage of waste to landfill from Waikato and Bay of Plenty10 

                                                             
10 Source: Bay of Plenty and Waikato Regions Waste Stocktake; Report for Bay of Plenty and Waikato Regional Councils; April 2013 
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Bay of Plenty and Waikato Regions Waste 2013 Stocktake estimates a total of 354,080 tonnes of 

waste are disposed of to landfill annually from Bay of Plenty and Waikato Regions. As the 

tonnage data has been taken from a number of different sources, no specific year has been 

attached to the figure. 

Of the total amount disposed of to landfill, just over one third (35.9%) was kerbside refuse, and a 

further third was Industrial, Commercial & Institutional (ICI). Construction & Demolition (C&D) 

waste made up nearly 12% while less than 2% was special waste. The figure for special waste, 

which primarily includes biosolids, is the least reliable, as the smallest dataset was used for its 

calculation. The stocktake report also estimates that 787,000 tonnes of material are disposed of 
at other land disposal sites annually. This is more than twice as much as is disposed of to landfills. 

Slightly more than half of this waste is other than natural, virgin, excavated materials. 

3.2 How much is being recycled or diverted from landfill 

Of the total waste collected in the District11, an estimated 56% is reused, recycled, composted 

or otherwise diverted. Total weights of material recycled or otherwise diverted from landfill in 

2016 are shown in Table 12 below: 

 

Waste diverted from landfill Tonnes % of total waste 

collected 

Tonnes/capita/annum 

Kerbside recycling   3,631 5% 0.05 

Other recycling or diversion 65,669 92% 0.94 

Composted / vermicomposted 1,700 2% 0.02 

Total 71,000 100% 1.02 

Table 12 Recycled and diverted material – summary12 

Of the waste diverted from landfill, 5% was from council kerbside services and 92% from private 

facilities and services. Only 2% was composted or vermicomposted in either council or private 

facilities12. 

3.2.1 Council kerbside recycling collections 

Recycling tonnages vary across the collection areas due to population differences. Overall 

approximately 3,631 tonnes of recycling were collected in 2016/2017, with a noticeable upward 

trend in volumes across the district.  

                                                             
11 Excluding farm waste 
12 Based on information provided by WDC staff and private operators 
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Figure 3 Tonnages of recycling collected from council collections 

Note: the Xtreme Zero Waste tonnages are averaged out over 12 months and therefore do not 

reflect seasonal changes. In addition, the food waste collection trial is not reflected in the figure 

above. The WDC recycling service accepts plastics 1 and 2 (1-7 in Raglan), glass, steel and 

aluminium cans; and crates paper and cardboard. This service collected 3,631 tonnes of 

recyclables in 2016, an average of 52kg per capita per annum.  

3.2.2 Council kerbside food waste collection 

While a foodwaste service is now in place in Raglan, it did not commence until August 2017. As 

the data provided in this Waste Assessment is for the period July 2016 – June 2017,  food waste 

tonnages diverted from landfill are not included. 

3.2.3 Private recycling services and facilities 

Information from private waste and recycling operators is provided on a voluntary basis. As a 

result, not all operators provided detailed information of recycling volumes, and there were 

differences in methodology for how volumes were calculated. 

Based on information from council and private operators, approximately 67,369 tonnes of waste 

were diverted from landfill by private services and non-council services. This is 94% of waste 

diverted from landfill in the District. 

It is unclear what materials are being diverted, although it can be identified that organic material 

makes up only 2-3% of diverted materials.  
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PART 4 - WASTE INFRASTRUCTURE 

 

The two regional landfills which receive the bulk of waste generated within the Waikato District 

are the North Waikato Regional Landfill (located within the District) and Tirohia landfills. Both 

landfills also accept waste from other parts of the Waikato and Auckland Regions. 

There are three transfer stations located in the District, at Raglan, Huntly and Te Kauwhata. A 

number of council provided drop off points are also available.  Two large transfer stations and an 

organics processing centre are also available in nearby Hamilton City. 

WDC provides two drop-off centres for recycling and in outlying areas.  These are typically a 

concrete pad and a shipping container or plastic drums to receive material. These are located at 

Te Mata, and Te Uku. 

4.1 Key issues related to waste infrastructure 

 Insufficient resource recovery infrastructure in the District to meet future demand 

 Inconsistent infrastructure provision for resource recovery - while the Raglan area is well 

serviced for resource recovery, other areas are lacking access to resource recovery, reuse 

and repair facilities. 

4.2 Waste to land 

4.2.1 Landfills 

There does not appear to be a need for a council owned landfill to be developed within the 

District. While some longer-term planning may be required to ensure the Waikato region as a 

whole has suitable landfill capacity in the 20-50-year term, this is a discussion more suitable as a 

private venture or a joint council initiative. 

Note: Data and information on the volume and composition of waste being received by landfills 

outside of the area is provided at the discretion of the landfill owner. 

The table below lists the landfills that may receive municipal waste from the Waikato District.   

 

Name & 

Owner/Operator 

Accepts Location Capacity and 

Consent 

North Waikato Regional 

Landfill 

(EnviroNZ) 

Non-hazardous residential, commercial and 

industrial solid waste, including special wastes. 

Sludges with less than 20% solid by weight are 

prohibited. 

Hampton Downs, 

Waikato District 

Consented to 

2030 

Tirohia Landfill 

(Waste Management) 

Non-hazardous residential, commercial and 

industrial solid waste, including special wastes.  

Sludges with less than 20% solid by weight are 

prohibited. 

Compostable material is also processed on 

site.  

Tirohia, Hauraki 

District 

Consented to 

accept 4 

million m3 - 

approximately 

2035 

Table 13 Class 1 landfills accessible from Waikato District 
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(a) North Waikato Regional Landfill (Hampton Downs) 

There is one privately owned landfill disposal facility within the Waikato district – North 

Waikato Regional Landfill (Hampton Downs) owned and operated by EnviroNZ. This landfill 

receives a high proportion of refuse generated within the district as well as from Auckland and 

the rest of the Waikato. However, the bulk of material received at Hampton Downs is from 

outside the district with less than 0.4% of waste coming from within the district. 

The Hampton Downs landfill also includes facilities for composting and worm farming - dealing 

with food waste and green waste from Auckland and Waikato and Tauranga. The food waste and 

green waste tonnages are growing and is estimated to be at 10k tonnes by mid-2018 due to 

additional contracts. Bulk scrap steel is also removed from the refuse stream with approximately 

20t recycled per annum. 

Good monitoring for compliance of resource consents is required for this facility to ensure no 

material or leachate leaks into the Waikato River; or causes other environmental harm. 

(b) Tirohia landfill 

Tirohia landfill is located within the Hauraki District Council area, and is owned and operated by 

Waste Management Ltd. 

4.2.2 Closed Landfills 

The closed landfills for which the council has ongoing management and monitoring responsibility 

are located in Huntly, Ngaruawahia, Raglan, Te Kauwhata and Horotiu. The council carries out 

regular monitoring and inspection of closed landfills to ensure that they are remediated and 

managed according to the requirements of their resource consents. 

Closed Landfill Status Consent Number Expiry 

Parker Lane, 

Tuakau 

Consented 950575 – Leachate 

950576 – Stormwater 

950577 – Air 

30 Jun 2035 

Kowhai Street, 

Tuakau 

Unconsented - - 

Elbow Road, 

Tuakau 

Consented 950578 – Leachate 

950579 – Stormwater 

950580 – Air 

31 Jan 2038 

Les Batkin Reserve, 

Tuakau 

Unconsented. - - 

Te Kauwhata Consented 118817 – Land, water, and air 20 Aug 2029 

Huntly Consented 950586 – Leachate 

950587 – Stormwater 

950588 – Air 

07 Jul 2035 

Ngaruawahia Consent issued but 

under appeal. 

135911.01.01- Landfill gas to Air 

135911.02.01 - Leachate 

To be confirmed 

once appeal decided 

(approx. 2052) 

Raglan Consented 950582 – Leachate 

950583 – Stormwater 

950584 – Air 

31 Dec 2034 

Table 14 Summary of closed landfills in the Waikato District 
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There are also two closed landfills in the district under private ownership – a Department of 

Corrections facility at Waikeria, and a timber waste landfill in Pokeno. 

4.2.3 Cleanfills 

Cleanfill sites accepting less than 2500m3 per annum are permitted under the Waikato Regional 

Council rules and are not required to provide information to the Council on volumes or 

composition of accepted material. Monitoring of cleanfills is a responsibility of the Waikato 

Regional Council. 

Risks associated with cleanfills are disposal of unsuitable material (i.e. material not defined as 

appropriate for cleanfill), settlement, slope failure, and erosion.  

Typically, cleanfills are not strongly regulated, although the MfE is investigating the need for 

further regulation of cleanfills, and in general there is a need for more stringent conditions and 

monitoring of registered cleanfills as there is some evidence that some cleanfills may be accepting 

municipal waste. 

4.3 Reuse, recycling, recovery and disposal facilities 

Transfer Stations and drop off points provide a local option for residents and businesses to drop 

off their refuse and recycling. As most of these facilities are private providers, provision of 

information on their activities (including tonnages diverted from landfill) is at the discretion of 

the business owner. Therefore, council is unable to identify the volume of waste managed by 

private providers.  

4.3.1 Xtreme Zero Waste (XZW) - Raglan 

Located at 186 Te Hutewai Rd, Raglan, Xtreme Zero Waste is a community enterprise using 

business as a tool to meet the needs of their community.  

They accept a wide range of materials and aim to divert as much material from landfill as 

possible. They currently divert approx. 75% of material from landfill. 

XZW accepts batteries (nickel cadmium (NiCd), nickel-metal hydride (NiMH), lithium ion (Li-

ion) and other batteries which contain hazardous metals), car batteries, clean fill, EWaste, 

fluorescent tubes, farm chemicals, fridges, freezers, washing machines, furniture, paint, silage 

wrap, greenwaste, metal, rinsed empty farm containers, spray/aerosol cans, waste oil and wood. 

They do not accept asbestos. 

 XZW is contracted by Waikato District Council to operate the Raglan Resource Recovery 

Centre, and provide a weekly kerbside collection for refuse and recycling, empty litter bins and 

provide Zero Waste Education. They are also trailing a kerbside foodwaste service for the 

Raglan area. 

XZW also provides a reuse shop, metal yard and wood yard, E-waste drop-off, business 

recycling, consultancy, mentoring, waste audits and site tours. 

4.3.2 Huntly refuse transfer station 

The Metrowaste owned refuse transfer station at 93 McVie Road, Huntly accepts both 

commercial and residential refuse and recyclables including car batteries, clean fill, E -waste, 

fridges, freezers, washing machines, greenwaste, metal, rinsed empty farm containers, 

spray/aerosol cans, tyres, waste oil and wood. Charges apply to most waste which comes across 

the weigh bridge. 

All refuse from the facility is disposed of at the North Waikato Regional Landfill at Hampton 

Downs. The facility does not accept asbestos, household batteries (nickel cadmium (NiCd), 

122



Waikato District Council Waste Assessment   February 2018 

WDC 2017 Waste Assessment   
                                                                          

Page 32 of 100 

 

nickel-metal hydride (NiMH), lithium ion (Li-ion) and other batteries which contain hazardous 

metals), fluorescent tubes, farm chemicals, furniture, paint or silage wrap. 

4.3.3 Te Kauwhata refuse transfer station 

The Metrowaste owned refuse transfer station at Rata Street, Te Kauwhata car batteries, clean 

fill, fridges, freezers, washing machines, greenwaste, metal, rinsed empty farm containers, 

spray/aerosol cans, waste oil and wood. Charges apply to most waste which comes across the 

weigh bridge. All refuse from the facility is disposed of at the North Waikato Regional Landfill at 

Hampton Downs. 

The facility does not accept asbestos, household batteries (nickel cadmium (NiCd), nickel-metal 

hydride (NiMH), lithium ion (Li-ion) and other batteries which contain hazardous metals), 

fluorescent tubes, farm chemicals, furniture, paint or silage wrap. 

4.3.4 Other nearby recovery and refuse facilities 

The following facilities receive material from both the Auckland and Waikato regions, but do not 

record information on volumes sourced from each council area. Therefore, it is not possible to 

identify how much material from the Waikato District is disposed of to each facility. 

(a) Pukekohe Refuse and Recycling Transfer Station 

The Pukekohe Refuse Transfer Station owned by Envirowaste is located just over the boundary 

with the Auckland region at 10 Austen Place, Pukekohe. While the facility accepts both 

commercial and residential refuse material, there are no free recycling drop off services. All 

waste into the facility is charged at the weighbridge and some recyclables are separated out of 

the waste stream (such as metals). They do not provide services for separate paper or plastics 

recycling. 

(b) Waiuku Zero Waste 

Located in the Auckland region, the facility at 5 Hosking Pl, Waiuku Zero Waste Ltd is a 

charitable company formed by two Charitable Trusts for the purpose of running the Waiuku 

Community Recycling Centre. The facility accepts most types of waste, including general rubbish, 

green waste, building materials, recyclable materials. 

This centre is run by locals for locals and has a focus on re-using, recycling and upcycling as many 

items as possible from what is brought to the site. These goods are then sold at the on-site shop. 

(c) Lincoln Street TS 

The Lincoln St TS (also known as the Hamilton Recovery Park) is situated at 60 Lincoln Street, 

Frankton.  The facility is owned by Hamilton City Council and leased to Waste Management 

(WM).  WM contracts site management to Essential Recycling.   

Recycling staff recover significant quantities of materials from the transfer pit.  These materials 

are stored temporarily adjacent to the transfer pit before being aggregated and removed.  Re-

usable items are transferred to the re-use shop for sale.   

(d) Sunshine Ave TS 

Sunshine Avenue TS is located at 99 Sunshine Avenue, Te Rapa.  The facility is owned and 

operated by EnviroWaste Services Ltd.   

The site comprises a recycling drop-off area, which is available for use at no charge, and a 

transfer shed, which includes separate drop-off areas for residual refuse and green waste.  All 

vehicles carrying waste must stop at the weighbridge kiosk, where the kiosk operator assesses 
the load.   
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Bags and small loads are not weighed, but are charged at a flat rate.  Vehicles with trailers and 

trucks are weighed over the weighbridge entering and leaving the facility and are charged by 

weight.  Vehicles carrying only recyclable materials do not stop at the weighbridge kiosk, but 

proceed directly to the recycling drop-off area.   

Sunshine Ave TS receives primarily commercial waste delivered by commercial waste operators.  

A relatively small number of residents and small businesses use the facility.   

4.3.5 Construction & demolition waste facilities 

A range of companies provide residential and commercial construction, deconstruction, 

dismantling and demolition waste and recycling services in or close to the Waikato District. 

These include: 

 Nikau Group (Nationwide) 

 The Green Demolition Co Ltd (Pukekohe) 

 Thames Demolition (Kopu) 

 Jacob Demolition & Building Supplies (Drury) 

 Demolition Traders (Hamilton) 

4.3.6 Organic material processing facilities 

As well as many of the transfer stations and recycling centres accepting green waste and other 

putrescible waste, the following facilities specifically process organic material that would 

otherwise be sent to landfill: 

 Envirofert (receives green waste from the Auckland, Waikato and Bay of Plenty regions) 

 Lowe Corporation (processing of hides, skins and pelts) 

 Hamilton Organic Centre (receives green waste from the Hamilton area). 

4.3.7 Hazardous Waste facilities  

Hazardous waste comprises both liquid and solid wastes that, in general, require further 

treatment before conventional disposal methods can be used.  The most common types of 

hazardous waste include: 

 Organic liquids, such as those removed from septic tanks and industrial cesspits 

 Fuel, solvents and oils, particularly those containing volatile organic compounds 

 Hydrocarbon-containing wastes, such as inks, glues and greases 

 Contaminated soils  

 Chemical wastes, such as pesticides and agricultural chemicals 

 Household hazardous waste such as garden or kitchen chemicals, bleaches and glues 

 Medical and quarantine wastes 

 Wastes containing heavy metals, such as timber preservatives 

 Contaminated packaging associated with these wastes. 

A range of treatment processes are used before hazardous wastes can be safely disposed. Most 

disposal is either to landfill or through the trade waste system. Some of these treatments result 

in trans-media effects, with liquid wastes being disposed of as solids after treatment.  

A small proportion of hazardous wastes are ‘intractable’, and require exporting for treatment. 

These include polychlorinated biphenyls, pesticides, and persistent organic pollutants.  
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4.3.8 Other destination facilities for recyclables 

Recycling processing facilities which may receive material from the Waikato District include13:  

 O-I NZ Ltd (paper and cardboard) 

 SIMS Pacific (metals, plastics, e-waste) 

 Oji Fibre Solutions (fibre board) 

 Visy MRF (plastic, paper, cardboard, aluminium, steel cans) 

 CHH Fullcircle (paper and cardboard) 

 South Waikato Achievement Trust (plastic, paper, cardboard, aluminium, steel cans) 

 Envirowaste MRF – Taupo (– plastic, paper, cardboard, aluminium, steel cans) 

 Smart Environmental MRF – Kopu (plastic, paper, cardboard, aluminium, steel cans) 

 International – China / Indonesia / Jakarta (various) 

The term ‘recyclables processing facilities’ refers to material recovery facilities (MRFs). At a MRF, 

dry recyclables/commodities are sorted and bulked for transport to recycling facilities outside 

the region for processing. 

4.4 Assessment of infrastructure and council role 

In general, the collection and processing of dry recyclables/commodities from commercial 

premises is a mature market, with limited opportunity for expansion. The Waikato region has a 

particularly wide range of recovered materials processing facilities, particularly for scrap metal, 

organic wastes, including wood wastes, and to a lesser extent, C&D materials such as concrete. 

While there are limited facilities for recycling or reprocessing in Waikato District, access to such 

facilities currently meet the District’s needs. There may be some need to develop repair, reuse 

and recycling facilities to meet future demand. 

Due to its proximity to the main centres of Auckland and Hamilton; and main transport routes; 

the Waikato District is generally well placed for access to landfills, transfer stations and 

recyclable processing facilities. 

The main issues for infrastructure are around access to reuse and recycling facilities, for 

example: 

 In the northern area, residents are closer to the Pukekohe Transfer Station (located 

within Auckland Council’s boundary but only 10km away) than the Te Kauwhata 

Transfer Station (33 km away). The Pukekohe station provides minimal recycling 

services. For example, it does not collect paper or plastics for recycling. This limits the 

ability of northern residents to engage in waste minimisation activities beyond council 

provided services. 

 While the Xtreme Zero Waste facility in Raglan provides a wide range of reuse, 

recovery and recycling options, other parts of the District have considerably less access 

to such services, potentially leading to landfill disposal of materials that could be 

recovered.  

Population growth, including migration from areas where waste services are more available, may 

mean community demand for reuse, recovery and diversion facilities will increase. 

                                                             
13 This list is not exhaustive, it is extracted from information provided by the waste operators who provided Waikato District 
Council with data for this waste assessment  
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PART 5 - WASTE SERVICES 

 

5.1 Key issues related to waste services in Waikato District 

This section of the waste assessment has identified the following as being the key issues related 

to waste services in the Waikato District Council area:  

 Increasing quantity of waste to landfill 

 The need to ensure effective and affordable provision of waste services 

 Poor data quality and management 

 Potential for greater joint working in Council service delivery and regional and sub-

regional collaboration  

 Potential for greater community partnership, engagement and understanding of waste 

issues  

In addition to the above issues, there is potential for Waikato District Council internal roles, 

responsibilities and systems to be streamlined to improve: 

 Data capture and management across all departments within council 

 Efficiency and cost effectiveness 

 Councils ability to meet the goals and objective of the 2018 WMMP 

5.2 Council-provided waste services 

WDC provides a range of waste services including:  

 Kerbside refuse and recycling collection services 

 A food waste collection service in Raglan 

 Recycling drop off points and monthly recycling for the Glen Murray area 

 Inorganic collections provided throughout the District excluding the Raglan area where a 

Resource Recovery centre is available central and south area, and properties that used to be 

part of Franklin District Council 

 Refuse and recycling services are only provided to commercial properties in Tuakau. This is 

due to the area previously being within the Franklin District Council area, with services 

continued after the amalgamation of the councils of Auckland into Auckland Council.  This 

service is the same as residential services. 

Council services are provided in differently throughout the region. The different service areas 

are separated into four areas of service – Tuakau, North Waikato, Central and Raglan. 

5.2.1 Council kerbside refuse collection service 

Council refuse services are provided for residential properties, excluding very rural areas. 

Approximately check households are eligible for a council service. Commercial properties are 

not included in council service provision except in Tuakau township. 
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Council provided refuse services 

 Raglan North & Central  Tuakau township 

Receptacle Either a 60L or a 25L 

pre-paid bag  

Any bag up to 60 litres 

and up to 20Kg  

120L wheelie bin 

Frequency Weekly in all 3 areas in the district  

Funded User-pays pre-paid 

bags 60L and 25L bag 

options 

One pre-paid sticker per 

bag (RRP $1.50 per 

sticker) 

Pay-per-lift using pre-paid tag 

(RRP $3.00 per tag) 

Service 

provider 

Xtreme Zero Waste 

(Raglan) 

MetroWaste Waikato 

(central and southern 

most areas) 

Northern Area (Smart 

Environmental) 

Table 15 Council provided refuse services 

5.2.2 Kerbside refuse market share 

Waikato District Council operates part user-pays services for refuse. Residents purchase a pre-

paid bag, sticker or tag to ensure their refuse is collected. User pays services are shown to 

encourage waste minimisation, as residents have to pay for the refuse while the recycling is rate-

funded and therefore appears “free.” Ensuring recyclables are removed from the refuse stream 

reduces the cost of refuse disposal. 

Manipulation of the refuse price will theoretically provide greater incentive to divert recyclables 

from refuse and into recycling services. However, there are several disadvantages observed with 

a user-pays scheme including: 

 If the cost of refuse is too low, it may have insufficient diversionary impact 

 If the cost is too high it may encourage illegal dumping 

 Reducing the size of the MGB bin provided may have similar results (if MGB’s are 

provided) without the risk of loss of market share 

 If private refuse collectors operate in the area, a competitive market is created. Council 

services may become economically unviable as councils are not structured to operate in 

a competitive market. 

 Councils ability to encourage diversion of recyclables and compostable material from the 

refuse stream is reduced with a high uptake of private services. 

In order to meet their obligations under legislation councils have few options. These include: 

 Ceasing provision of refuse services and allowing the private sector to provide all 

services. This runs the risk that less profitable areas do not have a service available to 

them, services are excessively priced or are inconsistently priced. Council subsidisation 

may be required.  

 Introduce a licensing system to ensure private operators meet standards such as 

consistent service provision, full service provision across the district, provision of data, 

provision of recycling services as well as refuse services etc 

 Make all services rates funded – ensuring sufficient budget to meet legislative 

requirements.  
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All three options reduce the ability for council to disincentive refuse disposal via manipulation of 

refuse disposal price - an option which can only be used if council maintains a high market share 

while competing in an open user pays market. 

Tauranga City Council has recently made the decision to return to rates-funded kerbside 

collections for Tauranga. They plan to introduce waste, recycling and compostable collections 

for all households by the 2020/21 financial year to enable and encourage residents to recycle 

more and send less waste to landfill. 

This decision was to enable Tauranga City Council to have greater influence over the range of 

materials that could be recycled, which was not possible with privately managed services. 

It is recommended that Waikato District Council re-evaluate the funding mechanism for the 

provision of waste services across the District, in order to identify if the current model is 

financially sustainable, allows maximum resource recovery and diversion from refuse, allows 

council to obtain data on waste flows and provides best value for ratepayers. 

5.2.3 Council kerbside recycling collection service 

Council recycling services are provided for residential properties, excluding very isolated rural 

areas. Approximately 21,700 households are eligible for a council service. Commercial 

properties are not included in council service provision, other than in Tuakau. In addition, a -

monthly recycling drop off service is available currently available to residents in the rural areas in 

Northern part of District and 2 in Rural Raglan. 

Council provided recycling services 

 Raglan Central and South  Tuakau / Northern 

Area 

Receptacle Two council provided 55L crates for glass, plastic, tin and aluminium per household. 

Paper and cardboard placed inside a box, plastic bag or tied with string and placed 

next to the recycling crate. 

Frequency Weekly in all 3 areas in the district  

Funded Rates funded  

Accepted 

material 

Plastics #1-7 

Paper.  

Glass.  

Aluminium cans and foil.  

Steel cans  

Plastics #1, 2, and 5. 

Paper.  

Glass.  

Aluminium cans and foil.  

Steel cans 

Plastics #1, 2, and 5.  

Paper. 

Glass.  

Aluminium cans and foil.  

Steel cans 

Service 

provider 

Xtreme Zero Waste 

(Raglan) 

MetroWaste Waikato (in 

most areas) 

Smart Environmental 

Table 16 Council provided recycling services 

5.2.4 Council drop off points and monthly recycling 

As kerbside recycling is unavailable in some parts of the District, Council provides drop off 

points and monthly recycling in rural ex-Franklin District Council and rural Raglan areas: 
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Figure 4 Raglan food waste HCU 

(a) Monthly recycling collection 

 Glen Murray - Glen Murray Hall carpark. First Saturday of each month from 8.30am-

12.30pm. 

(b) Recycling points 

 Te Uku- Located at the back of the Te Uku Store- 3440 SH23 

The Te Uku drop off centre is a modified sea freight container which collects separated 

recyclables and has a place to drop off pre-paid bags.  Some difficulties have been 

identified related to large seasonal volumes, accessibility to the main road, the size of the 

catchment area and poor responsibility for aesthetics, illegal dumping. The Te Uku 

community has increased and may now be sufficient to warrant a kerbside collection 
rather than the drop off point. The future feasibility of a kerbside service could be 

evaluated for potential when District-wide service reviews occur. 

 Te Mata- Located at the Te Mata School - 778 Te Mata Road. 

5.2.5 Food waste collections 

Xtreme Zero Waste Raglan operate a kerbside 

food waste service to approximately 2,000 

households in the Raglan   

The service commenced in August 2017 and is 

currently funded by council until 2108/19. After 

this time the community will be consulted 

regarding the introduction of a targeted rate to 

fund the service on a continuing basis from 

2019/20. 

Information on the performance of the service is 

limited as it has not yet been in operation for a 

full year. However, it had an initial 30% put-out 

rate for bins, and collected 860kg of food waste in 

its first week of operation.  

Processing is via a Horizontal Composting Unit (HCU) located at Xtreme Zero Waste in Raglan. 

The hot-composting process takes 12 weeks and has been designed to handle the average of five 

cubic meters of food waste anticipated to be collected from the town each week. 

5.2.6 Inorganic Collections 

An annual inorganic kerbside refuse collection is currently provided to the North, Central and 

southern areas. 

Approximately 1,000 tonnes of material are collected annually from an inorganic collection 

provided to parts of the District. All of this material goes to landfill. In 2017 the inorganics 

collection cost $285,000 (approximately $285 per tonne). 

The inorganic collection is an inefficient and expensive way to service households for bulky waste 

material. Resources are not recovered from the waste and it is not in alignment with the Waste 

Minimisation Act 2008, the WDC Waste Management and Minimisation Plan, or the service 

change consulted on in 2015-16. 

It is recommended that council consider changing this service to an alternative service which 

allows for resource recovery to occur such an on-property collection or additional resource 
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recovery centres. This may be facilitated by a period of phasing out the existing service while 

introducing recovery services. 

However, on-property collections with a phone in service can be costly due to the need for 

multiple trucks (to collect refuse vs recoverable material); or a sorting facility to pull out 

recoverable material. Costs involved in customer service to manage the phone in booking aspect 

can also be prohibitive. Therefore, a sound business case would need to be developed showing 

how the service could be integrated with other services and facilities in order to meet the goals 

and objectives of the 2018 WMMP. 

Additional resource recovery centres, while expensive to establish, reduce the need for an 

inorganic collection – and can utilise short-distance pick up services year-round rather than an 
event-based service. This option has potential to cost-effectively maximise resource recovery 

and minimise waste to landfill. 

There is no substantive evidence that ceasing the inorganic collection will lead to increased illegal 

dumping, particularly if an alternative is available such as a resource recovery centre. 

5.2.7 Illegal dumping, abandoned vehicles and litter control and enforcement 

Public place refuse & recycling bin emptying and litter collection services are provided under 

contract. The contract also covers road sweepings.  

(a) Litter servicing 

International evidence indicates people look for familiar branding when seeing a litterbin. If they 

are out of their home region, they may not recognise a litter bin in different branding. Therefore, 

regional or sub-regional standardisation of litter bins, signs and branding may assist in reinforcing 

litter messaging and could be investigated further. 

(b) Illegal dumping 

A total of 887 illegal dumping incidents were recorded in the 2016-2017 year. However, tonnage 

and composition information are not currently recorded by illegal dumping contractors. 

 

Therefore, it is unclear the extent to which illegal dumping is a problem for Waikato District. 

Improvements in internal data capture systems and the introduction of the Waste Data 

Framework will improve date quality in this area, and allow a better assessment of illegal 

dumping activities in the District. 

(c) Abandoned vehicles 

Abandoned vehicles are collected on behalf of council by various contractors: 

 Wills Automotive – Ngaruawahia & surrounds 

 Pedens Towing & Salvage – Huntly to Meremere 

 Top Garage – Raglan 

 Brian Roberts Towing – Meremere to Bombay 

5.2.8 Behaviour change programmes  

Waste education partnerships with community groups may be beneficial, particularly where they 

have networks, contacts and low-cost structures for achieving maximum community involvement 

for waste education and promotion. 

WDC currently supports four behaviour change programmes: 
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 Enviroschools (24 schools) – this is primarily an environmental education program rather 

than a waste minimisation programme. 

 Zero waste education – provided to schools across the district 

 Para kore -  a marae based zero waste education programme 

 Paper4trees – an incentive programme to encourage schools to recycle paper 

Current behaviour change programmes have not been recently reviewed for effectiveness, and 

may not fully meet waste minimisation objectives. A full review of behaviour change programmes 

is recommended after the adoption of the 2018 WMMP to ensure council support for behaviour 

change is most effectively contributing towards the goals and objectives of the 2018 WMMP. 

In addition, education and minimisation programs are an area where joint working with other 

councils has the potential to deliver significant benefits. Opportunities include: 

 Regional or sub regional education programs for target groups such as farmers 

 Regional messaging / branding for litter to account for cross District travel and reinforce 

litter messages 

 Working towards consistent enforcement of litter and illegal dumping 

5.2.9 Event waste 

Waste minimisation at events is becoming increasingly popular in New Zealand, and the practices 

involved are increasingly mature and effective. However, events carried out in the Waikato 

District are not commonly managed in a manner to avoid or reduce waste. This is seen as an 

area where improvement could be made with some encouragement by council. For example, by 

promoting companies such as Beyond the Bin event waste management company which operates 

nationwide, including in the Waikato District. 

Waste created at events can be a considerable, and avoidable, volume of waste. Due to growing 

awareness, around environmental sustainability affects poorly managed waste can leave a bad 

impression on – particularly international – visitors. 

There are a number of factors influencing the amount, and kind, of waste generated at an event. 

These can include: 

 Length of the event (one-day events produce far less waste per person per day than 

three-day events factoring in camping) 

 Community attracted to an event (events that attract people who consume large 

quantities of alcohol tend produce more waste and more litter) 

 Regulation of materials onsite - some events specify what suppliers can bring onsite – e.g. 

no glass, or compulsory use of biodegradable plates and cutlery  

 Deliberate adoption of a waste minimisation strategy during planning and running the 

event – waste minimisation strategies can substantially reduce waste to landfill if 

implemented correctly  

One company, Beyond the Bin (XZW), provides private event waste management services and 

operates in the Waikato District. 

Waikato District Council could consider developing Event Waste Guidelines to assist event 

managers in planning for waste generated at events. Guidelines should include details of the 

consent process for events held in the Waikato District (such as H&S Plan, Traffic Management 

Plan and Event Waste Minimisation Plan). Completion of these Guidelines, potentially in 

alignment sub-regionally, is recommended. 
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5.2.10 Waste Grants 

WDC provides rates funded grants through four main grant schemes: 

 Discretionary Grants Fund - This funding is available for projects happening in 

Huntly, Taupiri, Raglan, Tuakau or Ngaruawahia and the rural wards of the Waikato 

district.  

 Conservation Fund - The Waikato District Council provides the Conservation Fund 

to assist private land owners undertaking conservation projects on their properties that 

are within the Waikato district boundaries. 

 Community Wellbeing Trust Fund - This funding is available for capital projects 

throughout the Waikato district.  The application must also demonstrate broad 

community support for the project. 

 Heritage Assistance Fund - The Waikato District Council provides the Heritage 

Assistance Fund to assist with the conservation, restoration and protection of listed 

heritage items only, that are within the Waikato district boundaries and are not council-

owned. 

There is no council funded grant scheme which specifically targets waste minimisation activities. 

This is reflected in the low level of community engagement in waste minimisation activities 

across the District. 

A specific Waste Minimisation Fund may encourage greater interest in establishing waste 

reduction, reuse, recovery or recycling initiatives by community groups. 

5.3 Funding for council-provided services 

All council-provided services are funded out of rates revenue or Waste Levy funding provided by 

the Ministry for the Environment. The Waste Levy is accumulated from a $10 per tonne levy 

(excluding GST) on all waste sent to landfill. The levy was introduced under the Waste 

Minimisation Act 2008. Disposal facility operators must pay the levy based on the weight of 

material disposed of at their facility. However, they may pass this cost on to the waste producer 

such as households and businesses. 

Half of the levy money goes to territorial authorities (city and district councils) to spend on 

promoting or achieving the waste minimisation activities set out in their waste management and 

minimisation plans (WMMPs). 

The remaining levy money (minus administration costs) is put into the Waste Minimisation Fund. 

The fund is for waste minimisation activities in New Zealand. 

WDC received $255,184.01 levy funding in 2016/17. 

Territorial authorities must spend the levy to promote or achieve waste minimisation.  Waste 

management and minimisation plans (WMMP) prepared by each territorial authority set out how 

the levy will be used. 

5.4 Non-Council Services  

There are a moderate number of non-Council waste and recycling service providers operating in 

the District.  Many of the private companies operate out of Auckland or Hamilton bases, and 

simply service the District.  

5.4.1 Private refuse and recycling services 

Commercial refuse and recycling is collected by a relatively small number of companies who 

offer a range of services including front end load (FEL) bins, skip bins, hook bins, compactors, and 
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wheeled bins. They may accept refuse, recycling and/or green waste. 

Private operators include: 

Commercial waste service providers 

 Metrowaste 

 Envirowaste 

 Waste Management 

 Xtreme Zero Waste 

 Nikau Contractors 

 Smart Environmental 

 Lowe Corporation 

 Franklin Refuse Removal 

 Daisy Garden Bags 

 Fullcircle 

 Envirofert 

 Allens United (liquid waste) 

 Flexi Bin 

 Salters Cartage 

 J J Richards 

 Waikato Garden Bins 

 Demolition Traders 

 Greenfingers  

Table 17 Commercial refuse and recycling service providers  

5.4.2 Private reuse organisations  

A number of alternatives for the disposal and sale of reusable items are available in the District, 

such as charity stores and second-hand stores. These include: 

 Salvation Army Opportunity Store (Ngaruawahia) 

 River Traders (Tuakau) 

 Vintage Love (Pokeno) 

 St John Opportunity Shop (Huntly) 

 House of Treasures (Te Kauwhata) 

 Raglan Vintage & Traders (Raglan) 

 Xtreme Zero Waste shop (Raglan) 

5.4.3 Soft Plastics recycling scheme 

The Packaging Forum provide the voluntary Love NZ Soft Plastics Programme in the WDC area 

at Countdown stores located in Ngaruawahia and Huntly. 

The scheme takes all soft plastic bags including bread bags, frozen food bags, confectionery and 

biscuit wrap, pasta and rice bags, shopping bags. Customers take their used soft plastics back to 

participating stores and put them in the recycling bin. Bags are collected from stores and 

transported to Abilities group in Auckland for sorting and then to Melbourne, Australia for 

processing.  

Information on the volumes collected through this scheme are unavailable. 

5.4.4 Para Kore 

The Para Kore (Zero Waste) programme works with marae to increase the reuse, recycling and 

composting of waste materials thereby helping to reduce the extraction of natural resources and 

raw materials from Papatūānuku. 

More than 50 Marae in the Waikato District are part of the Para Kore programme. 

5.4.5 Farm waste 

A 2014 study into farm waste management practices in the Waikato and Bay of Plenty found that 

most number of farms used at least one of the ‘three B’ methods of waste management – bury, 

burn, or bulk storage on property.   
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Farmers generally agreed that the ‘three B’ methods are not ideal and indicate interest in access 

to better options.  However, the ‘three Bs’ are perceived to have ‘no cost’ compared to the 

alternatives.   

Discussions with waste service providers indicates that there is an increasing uptake of privately 

provided farm waste services. In most cases, skip bins are provided ‘at the wool shed’ for the 

disposal of farm waste. This is in addition to private refuse services provided for farm 

households. 

Indications are farm waste services are dependent on economic conditions (when times are hard 

the service is cancelled) but that overall uptake is increasing and there are now private waste 

services targeted the rural community. 

As the Waikato District has a high volume of farm waste being disposed of to land, Council 

could facilitate the uptake of private farm waste services by providing targeted education and 

messaging, and working with the farming industry to identify and remove barriers to uptake. 

5.4.6 Assessment of non-council (private) waste services 

There are a range of services offered by private waste collection operators with prices 

depending on bin size and frequency of collection. 

There may also be further opportunities to support the second hand and reuse markets – 

perhaps via support for ‘upcycling’ of waste materials into new or unique items for sale. This 

occurs well at the Xtreme Zero Waste facility but could be encouraged to expand to other 

areas. 

Reuse and upcycling have additional potential benefits around local job creation. 

The main area of concern with private services relates to a lack of visibility around the volume 

and composition of refuse collected via private services.  

The most promising mechanism for obtaining information on volume and composition of 

material collected by private collectors and operators is the introduction of waste licencing. The 

introduction of licensing will greatly improve data quality for the development of the next Waste 

Assessment.  

5.5 Sustainable procurement and community benefits 

For local government, sustainable procurement (frequently used interchangeably with ‘social 

procurement’) utilises procurement procedures and purchasing power to create positive 

environmental and social outcomes. The council still receives the same delivery of cost effective 

goods, services and works that a commercial supplier could provide but community 

organisations and social enterprises are instead contracted.  

The procurement processes of large organisations like local government have a significant impact 

on the local environment and economy.  Altering how goods and services are acquired, so that 

cost as well as environmental and social benefits are given equal value may help WDC to deliver 

strategic goals and build a stronger community.  

5.5.1 Benefits of community involvement in waste issues 

Community led resource recovery activities can provide positive outcomes for the local 

economy via employment creation. More labour-intensive activities such as prevention, waste 

minimisation and re-use, create (on average) 6 – 8 jobs compared to one created through 
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sending waste to a landfill14.  

The table below illustrates job growth at five community recycling centres around New Zealand 

that were previously typical transfer stations. 

Employment before and after the development of Community Recycling Centres at 

various sites in NZ 

 Before development of a 

Community Recycling 

Centre 

After development of a 

Community Recycling 

Centre 

Waiuku 1 part-time 5 full time 

Wanaka 0 16 full time 

Kaikoura 1-2 full time 13 full time 

Raglan 2 full time 17 full time, 23 part-time 

Kaitaia 2 full time 18 full time, 16 part-time 

Table 18 Employment before and after CRC development 

Community or social enterprises tend to prioritise employment creation when compared to 

privately owned waste companies. Social enterprises create a multiplier effect - meaning that the 

impact of this additional employment to the local economy is larger than their take home pay 

might suggest. 

Calculating the exact amount of return to local economies via staff spending is difficult however 

one study suggests that for every $1 spent on staff wages, local economic activity increases by 

$2.80 due to local staff spending15. This compares favorably to organisations which, because of 

their structure and methodology, take money out of communities – for example by making 

returns to foreign shareholders. 

5.5.2 Key issues and barriers related to community involvement in waste issues 

Issues and barriers to new resource recovery activities include: 

 Venue costs: Commercial leases paid by organisations are expensive and increase regularly. 

This can contribute to some initiatives becoming financially marginal. 

 Access to processing: A lack of local processing options means it is uneconomic to 

provide recycling services for some materials. While facilities do exist regionally, for example 

e-waste recycling, additional funding would be required for expansion.  

 Operational capacity: Managing a recycling facility requires operational skills and an 

understanding of waste markets and waste issues. This capacity is not always available within 

community groups, nor may council have the internal capacity or institutional knowledge of 

resource recovery to upskill community groups in these areas.  

 Leadership: There is a need for leadership in fostering collaboration and integration within 

council and across community to generate resource recovery and local economic 

development.  

                                                             
14 Valuing Recycling Town – Measuring which bucket has the most leaks : 2009 : Gary Kelk :  Ministry for the Environment : New 
Zealand 
15 Valuing Recycling Town – Measuring which bucket has the most leaks : 2009 : Gary Kelk :  Ministry for the Environment : New 
Zealand 
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Council procurement: Council’s procurement approach is traditional and favours large 

businesses. Community organisations could benefit from a partnership approach to 

procurement that recognises the social, economic, and environmental benefits of ‘buying 

local’.  
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PART 6 - REVIEW OF THE 2012-2018 WMMP 

 

This Waste Assessment provides an assessment of the 2012-2018 Waste Management and 

Minimisation Plan (WMMP) to guide the development of the 2018-2024 WMMP. 

The 2012-2018 Waste Management & Minimisation Plan (WMMP) was the first plan developed 

under the Waste Minimisation Act 2008. A comparison between this first WMMP and the 

information in this Waste Assessment suggests some progress has been made against the actions 

set out in the WMMP, but that per capita volumes of waste to landfill have increased. In 2011, 

the Waikato District sent 509 kg of waste to landfill per capita per year. In 2016 the District sent 

750 kg of waste to landfill per capita.  

However, this increase is at least in part related to differences in the type of waste measured and 

methodologies for collecting data between 2012 and 2017. In addition, the lack of accurate data 

from private waste service and facility providers makes it difficult to assess the exact quantities 

of waste – both during the development of the first WMMP and the development of this Waste 

Assessment.  

Indications are that waste to landfill volumes has increased by approximately 47% compared to 

2012. Recyclable material recovered appears to have increased from 0.03 per capita to 0.05 – a 

67% increase compared to 2012. The increase in recyclable material is likely to be a result of a 

combination of low estimates in 2012 and a genuine increase in recyclable recovery as markets 

have opened and private operators have moved to take advantage of these opportunities. 

For both waste to landfill and diverted materials, 2012 figures were estimates based on audits 

and regional reports, whereas 2017 figures are based on low quality data obtained via voluntarily 

provision from some operators. National trends indicate a 20% increase in waste landfill has 

occurred and it is likely the Waikato District is experiencing a similar increase. 

The volumes of waste to landfill and diverted materials for the two periods can be seen in Table 

19 below: 

Material Tonnes Tonnes/ capita/ annum 

 2011 2017 2011
16

 2017  

General waste to landfill
17

 29,794 52,182 0.51 0.75 

Recyclables (kerbside) 1,467 3,631 0.03 0.05 

Table 19  Comparison of volumes of refuse and recyclables: 2012 WA to 2017 WA * excludes farm waste to land 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             
16 2012 population based on 2009 Census data (43,959) 
17 Note: this figure does not include waste to land on rural properties, as this information was not available in 2012. 
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6.1 Objectives of 2012-2018 WMMP 

The objectives of the 2012-2018 WMMP were: 

2012 Goals 2012 Objectives Progress against 

objective 

Goal: Managing waste 

locally wherever 

possible and working 

with the community 

Objective: Work in partnership with the 

local community to develop and expand 

waste management initiatives. 

Ongoing 

Objective: Build the skill capacity of our 

community wherever possible when 

delivering our action plan. 

Ongoing 

Goal: Reduce the 

amount of waste sent 

to landfill or other 

disposal 

Objective: Reflect the waste hierarchy, by 

emphasising and prioritising reduction, 

reuse, recycling and recovery in our 

action plan 

Ongoing 

Objective: Improve information collection 

and analysis to ensure we know what 

waste is in the district, and where it is 

going. 

Partially achieved, further 

work required 

Goal: Lower the total 

cost of waste 

management to our 

community as a whole, 

while increasing 

economic benefit 

through new initiatives 

and infrastructure 

Objective: Use resources more efficiently. Ongoing 

Objective: Work with the waste sector 

and other councils near us to increase the 

range of reuse, recycling and recovery 

options available in the district, 

maximising the economic benefit to the 

community. 

Partially achieved, further 

work required 

Objective: To look for opportunities to 

recover the value of waste materials 

locally. 

Ongoing 

Objective: Consider the total cost to our 

community when choosing waste 

management options. 

Achieved 

Goal: Reduce the risk 

of environmental 

damage 

Objective: Consider the environmental 

impact of all options and seek to choose 

options with the least overall 

environmental impact. 

Achieved 

Goal: To protect public 

health 

Objective: To consider the public health 

impacts of all waste management options 

and seek to choose options which 

effectively protect human health. 

Ongoing 

Table 20 Progress against 2012 WMMP Objectives  
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6.2 2012 WMMP Targets 

In 2011, the Waikato District sent 509 kg of waste to landfill per capita per year, and the WMMP 

anticipated that by 2022 the amount going to landfill would be reduced to 338 kg per capita per 

year. This gave a target of an overall reduction of 33 per cent in waste to landfill per capita by 

2022. The table below shows the key initiatives planned in the 2012 WMMP and how they were 

expected to contribute to achieving the targets. Progress against the 2012 targets can be seen in 

the Table below: 

Proposed initiatives Estimated 

tonnes diverted 

per year (by 

2022) 

Tonnes 

diverted per 

year (2017) 

Estimated Kg 

diverted per 

capita (by 2022) 

Kg 

diverted 

per capita 

(2017) 

Improved kerbside 

recycling  

1,467  3,631 25 50 

Food waste collection  3,730  Have not 

completed a full 
year of service 

64 Have not 

completed a 
full year of 
service 

Commercial recycling  1,715  Insufficient 

data  

29 Insufficient 

data 

Construction & 

demolition waste 

recycling  

1,666  Insufficient 

data 

29 Insufficient 

data 

Reuse stores  579  120 10 1.7 

Nappy composting  803  Not 

measurable 

14 Not 

measurable 

Total diverted  9,960  71,000 171 1,020 

Remaining waste to 

landfill  

18,666  53,800 338 0.77 

Table 21 Progress against 2022 targets 

6.3 Key Issues of 2012-2018 WMMP 

Key issues identified in the 2012-2018 WMMP were: 

 The council and community, particularly the business community, need to work more 

closely together to achieve our goals and objectives. 

 Landfill disposal costs are rising – we need to reduce the amount of waste our growing 

population sends to landfill. 

 Recycling is still ending up in refuse bins even with a recycling collection available. 

 A large proportion of waste going to landfill is organic waste – this is a particular 

problem due to the negative environmental impacts. 

 Improving our information collection so that we know how our growing business and 

commercial sectors are managing their waste, and to be more informed and involved in 

the flows of waste coming into the district from neighbouring districts and cities. 
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 The council needs to work with the waste sector and other councils to direct and 

support the growing waste management industry in the district. 

 The council needs to provide ourselves with the regulatory tools to enable all of these 

issues to be managed. 

These issues continue to be relevant and further action is required to address them.  
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6.4 Review of Actions  

The 2012-2018 WMMP initiatives are shown alongside an assessment of progress in the table below. 

A1 Communication, education and consultation Progress 

A1.1 Community partnerships: Support community waste partnerships where they exist, and encourage establishment of new partnerships. Ongoing 

A1.2 Communication and consultation: Provide for community involvement in waste management planning, whether through partnerships or other 

means 

Ongoing 

A1.3 Educate: Provide regular and detailed information about waste services, waste prevention and waste reduction, in partnership with community 

where possible. 

Achieved 

A1.4 Regional partnerships: Continue partnership working with other local councils and the regional authority, particularly on regional strategies for the 

management of organic wastes, hazardous waste, and sewage sludge disposal options. Opportunities for regional coordination will be assessed when 

reviewing or expanding services. 

Achieved 

A2 Take direct action, foster new ideas Progress 

A2.1 Waste Management Sector Working Group: A working group will be established for the waste management sector to encourage 

communication between this sector, the community and the council. 

Achieved 

A2.2 Direct sector development: Work with the community, waste sector and other councils to encourage development of facilities for diversion of 

priority waste streams. 

Ongoing 

A2.3 Support sector development: Establish an internal council team to focus on appropriate waste sector development – definition and policy 

approach. 

Ongoing 

A2.4 Lobbying Central Government: Work with other local government organisations to lobby government on various waste management issues such 

as cleaner production, product stewardship and other waste minimisation schemes.  

Ongoing  

A3 Change the rules, monitor and feedback Progress 

A3.1 Waste bylaw: Review the existing Franklin district bylaw and revise as appropriate for Waikato district to address issues such as operator licensing, Not 
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cleanfill operation, service provision by private sector among others. completed 

A3.2 Review waste charges: Review pricing for all services to ensure true cost waste management is recovered, reuse/recycling is encouraged, and 

ensure that public funds do not subsidise private operations. Agree any changes to waste charges with community partnerships where these operate. 

Underway 

A3.3 Enforcement: Investigate options for effective enforcement of bylaw, such as delegating to community partnerships and/or contractors. Review 

performance of enforcement activity regularly and consult with community to identify key issues to focus enforcement. 

Not 

completed 

A3.4 Solid waste analysis surveys: Carry out regular surveys of kerbside collections to identify opportunities and monitor progress. Arrange with 

contractors for transfer station waste flows to be analysed and monitored. 

Not 

completed 

A3.5 Monitor waste flows: Through a waste bylaw (A3.1) collect information and monitor the volumes and movements of waste within, and into/out of 

the district. 

Not 

Completed 

W1 Recyclable commodities Progress 

W1.1. Maintain kerbside recycling collection: Continue to provide collection of recyclables at the kerbside, and consider opportunities 

to expand the collection to new areas of the district 

Achieved 

W1.2 Expand kerbside recycling collection: Work with contractors and community partnerships to identify ways to expand the kerbside recycling 

collection. This could include collecting additional amounts of recycling on occasion as negotiated with contractors and community partnerships, and/or 

providing an additional receptacle which could target specific recyclable material. Alter service as agreed. 

Achieved 

W1.3 Expand kerbside recycling materials: Identify and investigate additional materials to be included in the kerbside recycling collection based on 

more detailed waste analysis surveys; negotiate with contractor and/or community partnerships for inclusion where cost/benefit analysis supports inclusion 

Completed 

W1.4 Commercial recycling collection: Investigate the potential for a commercial recycling collection in parts of the district (for businesses, schools, 

etc). Work with the Waste Management Sector Working Group to explore options for provision of service and processing. This may mean services are 

offered by community/private sector, or the council may provide services directly, or a combination of the two. The council should also investigate 

potential to encourage recycling through bylaw mechanisms. Glass and paper/card are priority materials. 

Not 

Completed 

W1.5 Maintain drop-off facilities: Continue to provide drop-off facilities at transfer stations and two other areas. Achieved 

W1.6 Expand drop-off facilities: Investigate options for providing additional drop-off facilities to serve rural areas and busy holiday spots. Negotiate Achieved 
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with contractors/ CWPs to provide services. 

W1.7 RTS facilities: Continue to provide refuse transfer station services, but review charging and negotiate with contractors / community partnerships 

to ensure consistent charging across the district 

Achieved 

W1.8 Expand RTS facilities: Investigate the capital required to upgrade transfer stations to accommodate reuse (except Raglan), C&D waste recycling 

(timber, concrete, rubble), and expanded e-waste services. 

Not 

Completed 

W1.9 Transport: Continue to transport recyclables to processing/markets Achieved  

W2 Food and garden waste Progress 

W2.1 Food waste collection: Monitor progress of Xtreme Zero Waste trial. Based on outcomes, investigate provision of a user-friendly weekly 

kerbside food waste collection, including collection and processing options. 

Achieved 

W2.2 Commercial food waste collection: Investigate the potential for a commercial food waste collection in parts of the district. Work with the 

Waste Management Sector Working Group to explore options for provision of service and processing. 

Ongoing 

W3 Inorganic/C&D/litter Progress 

W3.1 C&D waste recycling: Work with the Waste Management Sector Working Group to identify and support options for increasing segregation of 

C&D waste on site, providing more services for the collection of separated materials, and expanding use of off-site sorting facilities. 

Not 

Completed 

W3.2 Inorganic waste: Investigate making the transition from a rate funded inorganic collection to an on-call user pays service Achieved 

W3.3 Litter bins and collection: Continue existing litter bin and loose litter clearance. Achieved 

W3.4 Illegal dumping: Continue to provide a collection service for illegal dumping. Collect information to quantify waste and monitor locations/waste 

types to identify priority areas for action. Take measures to enforce bylaw and prosecute offenders. 

Achieved 

W4 Hazardous/liquid/gaseous wastes Progress 

W4.1 Quantify biosolids: Review existing biosolids storage and quantify current and future quantities of biosolids requiring management. Not 

Completed 
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W4.2 Management of biosolids: Consider options for management of biosolids in conjunction with other waste streams, through the Waste 

Management Sector Working Group, focusing on options for beneficial use. Dispose of biosolids appropriately if alternative processing is not feasible. 

Not 

Completed? 

W4.3 Hazardous waste: Continue to offer options for hazardous waste management at transfer stations; monitor volumes and types. Work with 

contractors and community partnerships to extend the range of items that can be accepted at transfer stations. 

Achieved 

W5 Residual waste Progress 

W5.1 Residual waste collection: Investigate the potential to reduce residual waste collection frequencies alongside the introduction of a food waste 

collection, chargeable garden waste collection, and expanded recycling collection. If a food waste collection and expanded recycling collection are used 

effectively, residual waste should not need to be collected weekly at unnecessary cost. 

Achieved 

W5.2 Transfer and disposal: Transfer residual waste to an appropriate disposal facility. Achieved 

Table 22 Review of 2012 WMMP Actions 
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6.5 Summary of progress 

Overall, WDC has made good progress for a number of the actions in relation to the 2012-2018 

WMMP Action Plan. However, kerbside refuse per capita has increased by approximately 47% 

and some objectives have not been achieved. Further effort is required to collect accurate data, 

set up internal systems that can accurately record the information, and to achieve a real 

reduction in waste to landfill. 

This Waste Assessment is intended to assist in the development of the 2018-2024 WMMP in 

order to continue and build upon the progress made in the 2012-2018 period.   

6.6 New Guidance 

New Guidance from MfE on Waste Management and Minimisation Planning was released in 2015.  

The 2012 WA and WMMP, while consistent with the guidance at the time they were written, do 

not fully align with the new (2015) MfE Guidance.   

The new guidance places more emphasis on funding of plans, inclusion of targets and how actions 

are monitored and reported.  In addition, the 2012 documents did not provide for data to be 

collected accordance with the National Waste Data Framework, as suggested by the new 

guidance.  
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PART 7 - FUTURE DEMAND AND GAP ANALYSIS 

 

7.1 Waikato District Council area  

Waikato District, in the northern part of Waikato Region is bordered by Auckland on the north 

and Hamilton on the south. The area takes in much of the northern Waikato Plains and also the 

Hakarimata Range. The main population centres are Ngaruawahia, Huntly, Raglan, Pokeno, 

Tuakau and Te Kauwhata.  

In November 2010, the Waikato district expanded by approximately 100,000 hectares as a result 

of boundary changes when the Auckland Council was formed. The Waikato district absorbed a 

large part of the former Franklin district area. The district’s southern boundary with Hamilton 

City was adjusted in May 2011, with parts of Ruakura and Te Rapa formerly in the Waikato 

district becoming part of Hamilton City. 

The proximity to major population centres and major transport corridors ensures access to 

several major waste processing and disposal facilities that serve the wider Auckland and Waikato 

regions. 

The main industries in the district are dairy farming, forestry, and coal mining. There is a major 

coal-fired power station at Huntly and Te Kauwhata is at the centre of a major wine region. The 

district relies on industry, education and a growing adventure tourism and events industry. 

The Waikato River flows through the district and is of great significance to the area – a 

significance which has been formalised through a Joint Management Agreement between the 

council and Waikato-Tainui. 

7.2 Future Demand 

The factors likely to impact future demand for waste minimisation and management vary over 

time and location and therefore create inherent uncertainties with any predictions. 

Factors which influence future demand include: 

 Overall population growth 

 Economic activity 

 Changes in lifestyle and consumption 

 Changes in waste management approaches 

In general, the factors that have the greatest influence on potential demand for waste and 

resource recovery services are population and household growth, construction and demolition 

activity, economic growth, and changes in the collection service or recovery of materials.   

7.2.1 Assessment of key towns within the Waikato District18 

The Future Proof Strategy indicated approximately 80% of growth in the Waikato District will be 

in the areas of Pokeno, Tuakau, Te Kauwhata, Huntly, Pokeno, Tuakau, Ngaruawahia, Raglan and 

various rural villages.  

 Rapidly growing settlement on Auckland’s doorstep with potential to become a town 

catering for an additional 2000 households. 

 Sought after by Aucklanders looking for more affordable homes (compared to Auckland) 

yet within easy commuting distance to the city. 

                                                             
18  from draft Future Proof Strategy: Planning for Growth 2017 
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 Rapid development of the existing zoned industrial land with potential for further growth 

acknowledging existing constraints (topographical, geographical and physical). 

(a) Tuakau 

 Planned to accommodate residential growth recognising that many people may choose 

to live in Tuakau and commute to Auckland to work; with potential to become the 

biggest town in the Waikato district as growth is less constrained by geological, 

topographical and network infrastructure compared to Pokeno. 

 Primary satellite town to Pukekohe, and a major service town for the northern Waikato. 

(b) Te Kauwhata 

 Principally planned as a residential village with amenity benefits. 

 The village has played and continues to play an important role as a service centre for the 

farming areas to the east and west and is likely to grow on the back of growth in Pokeno 

and the lower median houses prices. 

(c) Huntly 

 Opportunities for redevelopment and growth, recognising its potential due to affordable 

housing and accessibility to Auckland and Hamilton. 

 Economic development planned to stimulate positive economic and social outcomes e.g. 

industrial and residential aspirations potentially providing an employment alternative to 

coal mining; and services and employment opportunities for surrounding areas. 

(d) Ngaruawahia 

 Potential to become the cultural and heritage capital of New Zealand, Ngaruawahia will 

keep its sense of spaciousness and heritage as a town with a predominantly residential 

function. 

(e) Raglan 

 Seaside settlement that maintains the established desirable character of the Raglan 

coastal environment. It is a destination town with a high number of holiday houses. 

7.2.2 Population growth19 

The report 2014 Review of Demographic, Households and Labour Force Projections for the Waikato 

Region for the Period 2013 – 2063 estimates the population of Waikato District is projected to 

grow from 64,910 in 2013 to 82,733 in 2033 (+27.5%), and to 94,862 in 2063 (+46.2%).  

It also suggests natural growth will peak around 2025 and then diminish, with net migration 

projected to remain positive – averaging 351 p.a between 2013 and 2033. 

                                                             
19 Jackson, N.O., Cameron, M. and Cochrane, B, 2014 Review of Demographic, Households and Labour Force Projections for the 
Waikato Region for the Period 2013 - 2063 
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Figure 5  Projected high, medium and low baseline population, Waikato District20  

By 2033, 22.2% of the Waikato District’s population is projected to be aged 65+ years, up from 

12.2% in 2013. By 2063 that proportion is projected to reach 29.5%.  

The age profile of residents is changing with an increasing proportion of elderly residents. 

Analysis carried out by WRAP (UK) in 2007 found older people generated approximately 25% 

less food waste than other age groups, once household size factored into analysis. Further 

research carried out by WRAP has found that those over 65 years old are also more likely to 

home compost.

 

Figure 6 Age-sex structure, percentage of each, 2013-2033, Waikato District21 

                                                             
20 Source: 2014 Review of Demographic, Households and Labour Force Projections for the Future Proof Sub-Region for the Period 
2013 - 2063 
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Taking the aging population into account, it may be appropriate to tailor waste minimisation 

communication campaigns and waste reduction initiatives to an older age group.  

Another issue that may emerge as the population ages is an increase in healthcare-related waste 

generated in the home as healthcare services are increasing pushed to home-based healthcare. 

7.2.3 Economic Activity 

Research from the UK22 and USA23 suggests that underlying the longer-term pattern of 

household waste growth is an increase in the quantity of materials consumed by the average 

household and that this in turn is driven by rising levels of household expenditure.  

The relationship between population, GDP, and waste seems intuitively sound, as an increased 

number of people will generate increased quantities of waste and greater economic activity is 

linked to the production and consumption of goods which, in turn, generates waste.  Figure 7 

below shows the relationship between growth in municipal waste in the OECD plotted against 

GDP and population. 

Total GDP is also a useful measure as it takes account of the effects of population growth as well 

as changes in economic activity. In general, municipal solid waste growth tracks above population 

growth but below GDP.  The exact relationship between GDP, population, and waste growth 

will vary according to local economic, demographic, and social factors.   

In effect as a country becomes richer, the volume and composition of its waste changes. With 

more money comes more packaging, imports, electronic waste, toys and appliances. Solid waste 

can thus be used as a proxy for the environmental impact of urbanization.  

As Waikato District’s population is anticipated to experience a steady growth, increasing +27.5% 

by 2033, it is likely that Waikato District would experience an approximately similar increase in 

waste (approximately 30%) generated within that time period assuming no change to waste 

behavior or resource recovery rates. 

 

   

Figure 7  Municipal waste generation, GDP and population in OECD 1980 – 202024 

                                                                                                                                                                                       
21 Source: 2014 Review of Demographic, Households and Labour Force Projections for the Future Proof Sub-Region for the Period 
2013 - 2063 
22 Eunomia (2007), Household Waste Prevention Policy Side Research Programme, Final Report for Defra, London, England 
23 EPA, 1999. National Source Reduction Characterisation Report For Municipal Solid Waste in the United States 
24 Eunomia (2007), Household Waste Prevention Policy Side Research Programme, Final Report for Defra, London, England 
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7.2.4 Changes in Lifestyle and Consumption 

Community expectations relating to recycling and waste minimisation are anticipated to lead to 

increased demand for resource recovery and recycling services. This will include raised 

expectations for services based on migration and travel.  

Consumption habits will affect the generation of waste and recyclables.  For example, in New 

Zealand the production of newsprint has been in decline since 2005, when it hit a peak of 

377,000 tonnes, falling to 276,000 tonnes in 201125.   

Conversely, growth in the consumption of electronic products has led to a rapidly increasing 

problem with electronic waste. 

7.2.5 Changes in Waste Management Approaches26 

It is anticipated that the methods and priorities for waste management will continue to evolve, 

with an increasing emphasis on diversion of waste from landfill and recovery of material value.  

These drivers include: 

 The statutory requirement in the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 to encourage waste 

minimisation and decrease waste disposal – with a specific duty for TAs to promote effective 

and efficient waste management and minimisation and to consider the waste hierarchy in 

formulating their WMMPs. 

 A requirement in the current New Zealand Waste Strategy 2010 to reduce harm from 

waste and increase the efficiency of resource use. 

 Increased costs of disposing of waste to landfill.  Landfill costs have risen in the past due to 

higher environmental standards under the RMA, the introduction of the Waste Disposal 

Levy (currently $10 per tonne) and the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme. While 

these have not been strong drivers to date, there remains the potential for their values to be 

increased and to incentivise diversion from landfill 

 A general trend to introduce more convenient collection systems.  In brief, more convenient 

systems encourage more material recovered.  For example, more convenient recycling 

systems with more capacity help drive an increase in the amount of recycling recovered. 

 The waste industry is changing to reflect a greater emphasis on recovery and developing 

models and ways of working that will help enable effective waste minimisation in cost-

effective ways. 

 Local policy drivers, including actions and targets in the WMMP, bylaws, and licensing. 

 Recovery of materials from the waste stream for recycling and reuse is heavily dependent on 

the recovered materials having an economic value, particularly for recovery of materials by 

the private sector.  Markets for recycled commodities are influenced by prevailing economic 

conditions and most significantly by commodity prices for the equivalent virgin materials.  

The risk is linked to the wider global economy through international markets. 

7.2.6 Projections of Future Demand 

The analysis of factors driving demand for waste services in the future suggests that changes in 

demand will occur over time but that no dramatic shifts are expected.  If new waste management 

approaches are introduced, this could shift material between disposal and recovery management.   

Population and economic growth are likely to drive moderate increases in the waste generated.  

The biggest change in demand is likely to come through changes within the industry, with 

economic and policy drivers leading to increased waste diversion and waste minimisation. 

                                                             
25 http://www.nzherald.co.nz/business/news/article.cfm?c_id=3&objectid=10833117 
26 WDC 2015 Waste Services report 

150



Waikato District Council Waste Assessment   February 2018 

WDC 2017 Waste Assessment   
                                                                          

Page 60 of 100 

 

7.3 Gap Analysis - Future Demand  

The aim of waste planning at a territorial authority level is to achieve effective and efficient waste 

management and minimisation.  An assessment of this was undertaken using a gap analysis based 

on the information in this Waste Assessment. The following ‘gaps’ have been identified: 

 Insufficient systems in place for obtaining waste data from private operators in the District 

 Increasing population affecting waste streams and waste reduction messaging 

 Infrastructure to manage increased quantities and some waste streams may be insufficient to 

meet future demand 

 Inadequate internal council systems to collect, record and monitor waste streams 

 Potential for improved services targeting the rural sector and C&D waste 

 Opportunities for improved sub-regional, regional and national collaboration to achieve 

reduction and minimisation of waste 

 Insufficient leadership from central government to address national waste issues  

7.3.1 Key waste Streams to be addressed 

Priority waste streams that could be targeted to further reduce waste to landfill could include:   

(a) National problematic waste streams 

Waste tyres, refrigerant gases, e-waste and packaging waste are national issues and are best 

managed via national product stewardship schemes. Arguably, councils have little ability to 

reduce or manage these waste streams due to the scale of the problem and the lack of council 

control over those waste streams. Such issues are most effectively managed at a national level. 

WDC, in conjunction with other councils, has the ability to strongly advocate for the 

introduction of national schemes to assist in the management of these waste streams. 

(b) Farm waste 

A 2014 study into farm waste management practices in the Waikato and Bay of Plenty found that 

most number of farms used at least one of the ‘three B’ methods of waste management – bury, 

burn, or bulk storage on property.   

Farmers generally agreed that the ‘three B’ methods are not ideal and indicate interest in access 

to better options.  However, the ‘three Bs’ are perceived to have ‘no cost’ compared to the 

alternatives.   

Discussions with waste service providers indicates that there is an increasing uptake of privately 

provided farm waste services. In most cases, skip bins are provided ‘at the wool shed’ for the 

disposal of farm waste. This is in addition to private refuse services provided for farm 

households. 

Indications are farm waste services are dependent on economic conditions (when times are hard 

the service is cancelled) but that overall uptake is increasing and there are now private waste 

services targeted the rural community. 

As the Waikato District has a high volume of farm waste being disposed of to land, Council 

could facilitate the uptake of private farm waste services by providing targeted education and 

messaging, and working with the farming industry to identify and remove barriers to uptake. 

(c) Construction and Demolition waste 

Construction & demolition (C&D) waste may be a waste stream which, if addressed, could 

significantly reduce the volumes of waste being sent to landfill. The increasing volumes of C&D 

waste are associated with increases in development activity in the region. Targeted programmes 
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aimed at reducing waste associated with C&D have been developed both internationally and 

within NZ with some success. These include resources to assist developers to better predict and 

manage materials (reducing waste associated with procurement); education around waste 

management practice and working with waste service providers to ensure infrastructure and 

services are available to meet demand. 

7.3.2 Hazardous Wastes 

(a) Household hazardous waste 

Continued access to council services for household hazardous waste and used oil is likely to be 

of benefit for the District. A significant driver for the disposal of household hazardous waste 

relates to elderly residents moving or disposing of long-held homes. ‘Grandads shed’ is likely to 

contain a range of hazardous substances, including a number of harmful chemicals which are no 

longer available such as DDT, 2,4,5,T, Dialdrin and mercury.  

(b) Medical Waste 

As hospitals continue to shorten patients’ lengths of stay, home health care is increasingly relied 

upon to address the needs of patients at home. From one point of view, health care in the home 

environment is more comfortable for patients, offers less risk of infection, saves health care 

dollars, and lends itself to the promotion of ongoing strategies to improve patients’ quality of life. 

However, health care produces medical waste which may require specialist treatment and 

disposal. In the hospital environment medical waste is treated and disposed of appropriately; 

while for the home healthcare patient, medical waste is problematic. 

In most cases, medical waste is prohibited in both the refuse and recycling streams. Some 

medical waste includes sharp items (e.g. syringes) or bodily fluids – both of which pose risks to 

waste handlers either during collection or processing of waste. 

In addition, medical waste packaging, not being a household item, is sometimes unable to be 

processed in MRF facilities. For example – hemodialysis may involve containers of saline which 

are too large to be processed by the largest MRF (Visy). In many cases, the volume of waste 

created by home healthcare is greater than the normal capacity of kerbside waste receptacles. 

Ideally, home healthcare providers will provide waste solutions for the medical waste created. 

However, barriers to provider responsibility include: 

 Lack of awareness of the issue 

 Cost 

 A belief that council will provide appropriate waste services 

An ageing population and healthcare policy indicate home healthcare will increase, and the 

associated waste problems will become more prevalent.  

For non-home healthcare related waste issues, the Pharmacy Practice Handbook27 sets out 

guidelines for appropriate disposal of medical waste: 

4.1.16 Disposal of Unused, Returned or Expired Medicines 

Members of the public should be encouraged to return unused and expired medicines to their 

local pharmacy for disposal.  Medicines, and devices such as diabetic needles and syringes, 

should not be disposed of as part of normal household refuse because of the potential for 

misuse and because municipal waste disposal in landfills is not the disposal method of choice for 

                                                             
27 https://nzpharmacy.wordpress.com/2009/06/09/disposal-of-unwanted-medicines/ 
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many pharmaceutical types.  Handling and disposal should comply with the guidelines in NZ 

Standard 4304:2002 – Management of Healthcare Waste. 

In summary, while council is not responsible for home healthcare waste, there is likely to be an 

increase in queries from home healthcare patients regarding waste services. Working proactively 

with home heathcare providers and DHB’s to assist the establishment of heathcare waste take-

back programs may be a suitable solution to the issue. 

(c) E-waste 

Without a national product stewardship scheme, the e-waste treatment and collection system 

will continue to provide limited opportunities for resource recovery.  Currently, companies tend 

to cherry-pick the more valuable items, such as computers and mobile phones while products 

that incur a cost to recycle are sent to landfill unless the product owner is willing to pay for 

recycling.  As a result, the more difficult or expensive items to treat, such as CRT TVs and 

domestic batteries, will often still be sent to landfill. 

The 2015 report E-Waste Product Stewardship: Framework for New Zealand commissioned by the 

Ministry for the Environment, concluded that although priority product status (for mandatory 

products stewardship) was supported by a number of stakeholders, there was insufficient data to 

satisfactorily prove the current management of e-waste caused significant environmental harm; 

and therefore, they could not recommend priority product status. 

Improving the framework for capturing data on waste flows has therefore been shown to be a 

critical factor in the implementation of nationwide waste management schemes. 

Introducing a data capture system, such as a waste licencing system under the Solid Waste 

Bylaw, would assist WDC to identify problematic waste streams, plan for future management, 

support regional and national initiatives and develop waste management systems for problematic 

waste streams. 

E-waste is a national issue and is best managed via a national product stewardship scheme, 

however, local services and infrastructure could be strengthened within the city to provide 

improved access to e-waste recycling; and the ensure e-waste recyclers meet the joint Australian 

and New Zealand Standard AS/NZS 5377:2013 Collection, storage, transport and treatment of 

end-of-life electrical and electronic equipment. 
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PART 8 - OPTIONS 

This section sets out the range of options available to Council to address the key issues 

identified in this Waste Assessment.  Options presented in this section would need to be fully 

researched, and the cost implications understood before being implemented. 

8.1 Key issues to be addressed by the 2018 – 2024 WMMP 

Issues identified during the development of this Waste Assessment are: 

 Increasing quantity of waste to landfill 

 The need to ensure effective and affordable provision of waste services 

 Poor data quality and management 

 Potential for greater joint working in Council service delivery and regional and sub-

regional collaboration  

 Potential for greater community partnership, engagement and understanding of waste 

issues  

 Insufficient resource recovery infrastructure in the District to meet future demand 

 Inconsistent infrastructure provision for resource recovery - while the Raglan area is 

well serviced for resource recovery, other areas are lacking access to resource 

recovery, reuse and repair facilities. 

 Internal roles, responsibilities and systems do not currently provide an integrated 

approach to contract management, resource recovery and waste minimisation. 

8.2 Options: Data & regulation 

8.2.1 Data 

Throughout this Waste Assessment, the issue of data availability has been raised as a concern. 

Issues include: 

 Inability to obtain accurate information from private collectors and operators regarding 

waste flows 

 Difficulty planning for future demand due to a lack of knowledge about the status quo 

 Inability to support regional or national initiatives to establish nationwide waste 

management systems by providing data on district waste flows 

 Lack of internal council system to collect, record and process data across council 

departments 

Addressing the inability to obtain quality waste data must be a priority. Options for addressing 

the data issue include: 

1. Implementation of a licensing system for waste collectors and operators, potentially in a 

sub-regional or regional partnership 

2. Implementation of a central government waste data collection and management system 

which includes: 

a. TA level data collection; and 

b. Collecting data suitable for TA’s to achieve their obligations under the WMA 

2008; and 

c. TA access to data collected by central government 

3. Amendments to the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 to obligate waste collectors and 

operators to provide relevant waste data to TA’s 

Of these options, only Option 1 is within the control of WDC. 
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The Ministry for the Environment has stated a key focus area for the next 1-3 years is to “invest 

in developing a national waste data collection and evaluation framework that targets key 

information to prioritise waste issues and measures effectiveness of the waste disposal levy28”. 

However, the report goes on to state: 

“A key recommendation by the OECD in its recent environmental performance review for New Zealand 

was that the Ministry for the Environment needed to improve its access and reporting of data and 

evidence regarding waste.  

Accessing data on quantities and types of waste disposed at waste disposal facilities would provide the 

Ministry with a deeper understanding of the waste sector in this country. This would enable the Ministry 

to prepare timely, comprehensive and internationally comparable reports based on sound information to 
support planning and strategy for the country”; and  

“Further attention should be directed towards improving the availability of data from territorial authorities 

and Waste Minimisation Fund projects, including provision of waste minimisation data and contributions 

to wider outcomes”. 

These comments suggest that any national waste data scheme may be focused on the Ministry 

for the Environment’s needs for data rather than TA requirements; and also, that data collection 

may be placed as a further obligation of TA’s regardless of the current difficulty to obtain such 

data from the private sector. 

8.2.2 Solid Waste Bylaw 

WDC is one of only a few councils in the Waikato region that does not have a district wide 

Solid Waste bylaw. 

Two issues within the region now provide a compelling case for the introduction of a Solid 

Waste Bylaw, including waste operator licensing provisions.  

Firstly, the Waikato and Bay of Plenty areas have experienced a number of incidents involving 

tyre piles which have resulted in some councils facing expensive ‘clean-ups’, and have seen tyre 

piles moved from one council area to another. Concerns have been raised that tyre piles are 

likely to gravitate to the council area with the least effective regulation for this problematic 

waste stream. 

Secondly, despite councils having a legislative obligation to promote effective and efficient waste 

management and minimisation within its district, the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 does not 

provide councils with the ability to obtain data about the volume or composition of waste being 

collected, transported, processed or disposed of via private waste operators or facilities. 

In order to address these two issues, the councils of the Waikato and Bay of Plenty have worked 

together to develop a regionally aligned template Solid Waste Bylaw to: 

• Assist councils to offer similar levels of control of waste in their regions. The Bylaw 

takes into account the Auckland Council’s Waste Bylaw, in order to avoid Waikato / Bay 

of Plenty becoming an attractive dumping ground for Auckland’s problematic waste. 

• Ensure councils can obtain waste volume and composition information from private 

operators and facilities in a manner which minimises administrative difficulties for the 

operator or facility. For example, by having similar reporting requirements, categories of 

waste, frequency of reporting etc. 

The template bylaw also provides the opportunity for regional and sub-regional licensing 

administration. Options for working together include funding a single administrator who manages 

                                                             
28 Review of the effectiveness of the Waste Disposal Levy 2017, Ministry for the Environment 
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the licencing systems for all participating councils or offering a single licence which covers 

multiple council areas. Such co-operation is likely to reduce the administrative burden on waste 

operators and facilities and avoid resistance. 

A regionally consistent Bylaw could help reduce unnecessary administrative burden for private 

operators, and the unintended consequences of less well-regulated areas becoming a target for 

undesirable practices, such as cleanfilling, tyre dumping and poorly managed waste facilities. 

Auckland, Christchurch, Taupo, New Plymouth, Kapiti Coast, Waimakariri and Far North have 

licensing systems, the requirements vary as do the fees charged. For example, the fees are $30 in 

New Plymouth and $435 plus $88 per vehicle in Auckland29.  

Another option under the template bylaw clauses is to introduce minimum standards. This could 

be applicable to the E-Waste issue, where e-waste providers frequently fail to meet the Joint 

Standard for e-waste recycling. The Bylaw could place meeting the Standard as a requirement of 

holding a Waste Collectors or Waste Operators licence. 

8.2.3 Internal systems 

Waikato District Council internal systems for data capture and management; contract 

management, procurement and waste minimisation activities have potential to be streamlined. A 

review of internal systems may identify areas of efficiency and assist council to meet the goals 

and objectives of its 2018 WMMP. 

8.2.4 Event waste management 

Waikato District Council could develop guidelines for events held in the District. Once 

completed, these would provide better guidance for events and include details of the consent 

process for events held in the WDC District (such as H&S Plan, Traffic Management Plan and 

Event Waste Minimisation Plan). It may be advantageous to develop the Event Waste Guidelines 

as a sub-regional activity with Hamilton City and Waipa District Councils.

                                                             
29 WDC Waste Services report 2015 
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8.2.5 Options relating to data and regulation 

Data and regulation options 

Option Issues Addressed Strategic Assessment Impact on Current/Future Demand Councils’ Role 

Continue 

without a Solid 

Waste Bylaw  

None Social/Cultural: uneven understanding of waste flows 

in the district 

Environmental: minimal ability to guard against 

environmental degradation through illegal disposal. 

Minimal ability to require environmental 

performance standards are met (e.g. recyclable 

material is separated) 

Economic: No change to current systems.   
Health:  Limited ability to monitor and enforce 

actions of providers and protect public health 

A lack reliable information to monitor 

and plan for waste management in the 

region 

A lack of data and controls on private 

operators limits Councils’ ability to 

effectively manage waste in the region.   

Constrained ability to plan for and 

respond to future demand   

Council would implement 

and enforce existing 

bylaws   

May not be sufficient for 

reporting requirement 

changes signalled by MfE 

Implement 

regionally 

consistent Solid 

Waste Bylaw and 

waste licensing 
system 

 

Data quality and 

management  

Management of key waste 

streams  

Increasing quantity of waste 
to landfill 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery and regional and 

sub-regional collaboration 

Social/Cultural: better understanding of the waste 

flows in the district 

Environmental: would increase diversion from landfill 

and information about disposal practices and could 

potentially guard against environmental harm 
through illegal disposal 

Economic: small increased cost for operators; 

additional resources will be required to monitor 

and enforce the regulatory system  

Health:  greater monitoring of providers to ensure 

no adverse health risks occur 

Improved bylaws would, as a minimum, 

require reporting of waste material 

quantities.  Collecting waste data is 

imperative to planning how to increase 

waste minimisation across Council 
provided services and commercial waste 

streams. The bylaw could also be used to 

require minimum performance standards.  

This could be a key mechanism for 

addressing waste streams currently 

controlled by the private sector and how 

they provide their collection services  

Council would develop 

and enforce the bylaw; 

monitor and report on 

waste quantities and 

outcomes. 

There are opportunities 

to implement waste 

licencing as part of sub-

regional co-operation to 

reduce costs and impact 

on providers. 

 

Audit waste 

stream every 3-6 

years and before 

and after 

significant 

service changes  

Data quality and 

management  

Social/Cultural: Identifying material streams for 

recovery could lead to job creation. Better 

understanding of waste behaviour. 

Environmental: Ability to identify materials and 

waste streams for potential recovery and reduction 

in waste to landfill. 

Economic:  Operational costs of implementation. 

Ability to identify materials and waste streams for 

potential recovery and reduction, giving rise to new 

Better information will inform council 

planning to meet future demand 

Plan for and action a 

SWAP analysis every 3-6 

year, with the first audit in 

2018. 

Funding 
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business opportunities and reduction of disposal 

costs 

Health: A better understanding of the waste 

problem will highlight key areas for action to 

improve health outcomes 

Implement 

National Waste 

Data Framework 

and regional 

collation of data 

Data quality and 

management of data 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery and regional and 

sub-regional collaboration 

Social/Cultural: improved knowledge of waste flows 

and better information available to the public on 

waste and recovery performance 

Environmental: Improved ability to monitor and 

manage waste collection and disposal information 

and make appropriate planning and management 

decisions 

Economic: improved understanding of waste flows 

resulting in better targeted waste and recovery 

services and facilities 

Health.  Potential for improved data on hazardous 

and harmful wastes 

The Waste Data Framework would 

enhance the ability to share and collate 

information improving overall knowledge 

of waste flows.  It currently only covers 

material to disposal however 

Council would implement 

the Waste Data 

Framework by putting 

standard protocols in 

place for the gathering 

and collation of data.  This 

would enable sharing and 

consolidation of data at a 

regional level 

Review internal 

roles, 

responsibilities 

and systems for 

meeting waste 

minimisation 

goals and 

objectives 

Data quality and 

management of data 

Internal roles, 

responsibilities and systems 

Social/Cultural: improved knowledge of waste flows. 

More integrated services. 

Environmental: Improved ability to monitor and 

manage waste collection and disposal information 

and make appropriate planning and management 

decisions 

Economic: improved understanding of waste flows 

resulting in better targeted waste and recovery 

services and facilities; greater internal efficiency 

Health:  Potential for improved data on hazardous 

and harmful wastes 

Improved ability to meet future demand Staff time to establish 

internal systems 

Complete Event 

Waste 

Guidelines and 

clarify consenting 

requirements for 

Event Waste; 

potentially as 

part of a sub-

Greater community 

partnership, engagement 

and understanding of waste 

issues 

Data quality and 

management  

Increasing quantity of waste 

Social/Cultural: community will be more aware of 

waste minimisation issues outside of the home, 

taking a higher level of ownership of the issue  

Environmental: services would seek to establish, 

support and extend positive behaviours that reduce 

environmental impact  

Economic: costs borne by event managers 

Health.  Minimise health risks associated with waste 

Meet future demand Regulatory 

Education and 

partnerships 

Opportunities for regional 

or sub-regional 

collaboration to maximise 

158



Waikato District Council Waste Assessment       February 2018 

WDC 2017 Waste Assessment                                              Page 68 of 100 

 

regional 

collaboration. 

to landfill 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery and regional and 

sub-regional collaboration 

management impact 

Staff time 

 

Table 23 Options: Data and Regulation 
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8.3 Options: Collection services 

Three issues identified in this Waste Assessment relate to council provided services. In particular: 

 Increasing quantity of waste to landfill 

 Increasing diversion of recyclable and compostable material from the refuse stream 

 The need to ensure effective and affordable provision of waste services 

In order to address these issues, the Waikato District Council may wish to consider the provision 

of all waste services (refuse, recycling and organic) over the district including affordability, 

effectiveness, types or service, receptible type and future demand. Any review of waste services 

should include consideration of: 

 User pays refuse services vs rates funded refuse services 

 Council provided vs private services 

 Utilising social procurement practises 

8.3.1 User pays refuse services vs rates funded refuse services 

Waikato District Council is one of many councils in New Zealand who have moved towards a 

user-pays refuse service under the understanding that this would encourage recycling and 

diversion. However, the potential benefits of user pays have not been realised as competing in a 

user pays market for the residential refuse waste stream reduces council’s ability to obtain data 

on refuse flows, and reduces council’s ability to influence household’s waste behaviour via pricing 

and other mechanisms. Three potential options are for Waikato District Council to: 

 resource full commercial marketing and management systems to promote council services 

and grow market share in a competitive model 

 bring refuse services back under a rates system (either permanently or until a mechanism 

is established to ensure data on waste flows can be obtained, and behaviour change 

initiatives can be implemented effectively); or  

 to fully privatise the refuse service (i.e. council cease providing a private service and leave 

it to private operators to provide and price the service as they will). 

Council may consider bringing refuse services back as a rate-payer funded service in some or all 

areas in the District, until mechanisms are in place to ensure council can meet its waste 

minimisation objectives around obtaining data and initiating behaviour change. This may include 

the development of resource recovery facilities and support for community groups to provide 

services under a social procurement model. Once some control of waste flow has been obtained, 

council may re-consider the introduction of user-pays services to stimulate further waste 

minimisation behaviour. 

8.3.2 Council provided vs private refuse services 

Council currently ensures the provision of waste services by contracting services to private waste 

companies. However, other models can be considered including: 

(a) Council provided services 

A council provided service can be provided either in-house (i.e. council staff, vehicles, plant and 

equipment) or via a contracted service (where council manages a contractor who delivers a 

service). Since the 1980’s, most councils have contracted waste services to private collectors in 

order to access expertise, leverage off the contractor’s available plant and staff, and bring 

competitive pricing to the tender process. There has been an expectation that the private sector 

will provide a more cost effective and efficient service than Council could deliver. 
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(b) Privately provided services 

Private services can operate in a council area either in competition to council services; or as the 

only providers (I.e. no council funded refuse or refuse/recycling services).  

In the Waikato District, the private sector acts in competition to council provided services in only 

some areas. Private competition reduces the ability for council provided services to be accurately 

costed out (as market-share can change unpredictably), reduces the ability of council to obtain 

quality data on waste flows for planning purposes and can adversely impact the effectiveness of 

waste minimisation measures.  

Under this model, the only way council can meet its waste minimisation objectives is to introduce 

licences to waste operators under a Waste Bylaw.  

Where private services are in operation (either in competition with council service or as the only 

providers) licences regulate operators with specific criteria e.g. provision of data to Council, limits 

on the percentage of waste allowed to landfill, or regulation of services provided (e.g. if a 

company provides a refuse service they must provide a recycling service as well or must provide 

services to all areas in the District).  

Licensing would allow Council to establish some degree of regulatory control over private sector 

waste collections, obtain waste data and enable Council to meet its obligations under the Waste 

Minimisation Act 2008. 

(c) Council vs private services: key issues: 

1. Private services run counter to council’s legislatively obligated waste minimisation aims as 

private operators place no limitations on volume or what can be placed inside a bag / bin 

and may also offer bulk rates, discouraging waste minimisation.  

2. Private operators are able to offer cheaper services as: 

i) The cost of council services includes the cost to provide public-good waste services 

(such as illegal dumping and litter collection) whereas private operators are not 

obligated to contribute to these services. 

ii) Councils are obligated to ensure services are provided to all areas, whereas private 

operators can ‘cherry pick’ profitable areas to provide services while council are 

obligated to provide services in less profitable rural and isolated areas. 

3. If a householder does not like council waste minimisation initiatives such as reduction in 

receptacle size, collection frequency or price, they are able to change to a private 

collector. 

4. Council requires waste data (volume, composition, source and destination) in order to 

monitor waste minimisation efforts and meet its reporting and planning obligations under 

the Waste Minimisation Act 2008. Private collectors are under no obligation to provide 

such information unless under a licencing system. 

5. Council will receive customer enquiries and complaints regarding waste services whether 

it provides a service or not. Managing residents’ concerns represents a cost to council. 

6. Looking at broader environmental effects, such as greenhouse gas emissions, traffic 

congestion, and wear and tear on roads, the effects of several vehicles collecting kerbside 

waste from households are much greater than for a single vehicle doing the same job. 

8.3.3 Social procurement 

“Sustainable procurement can minimise the environmental impacts of  

public sector organisations, as well as benefiting society, the natural environment  

and reducing overall operating costs30.”   

                                                             
30 P.6. APCC: Australia and New Zealand Government Framework for Sustainable Procurement 
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For local government, social procurement (frequently used interchangeably with ‘sustainable 

procurement’) utilises procurement procedures and purchasing power to create positive 

environmental and social outcomes. The council still receives the same delivery of cost effective 

goods, services and works that a commercial supplier could provide but community organisations 

and social enterprises are instead contracted.  

The procurement processes of large organisations like local government have a significant impact 

on the local environment and economy.  Altering how goods and services are acquired, so that 

cost as well as environmental and social benefits are given equal value will help Waikato District 

Council to deliver strategic goals and build a stronger community.  

Community groups within the Waikato District are likely to support the implementation of 

sustainable / social procurement, particularly in relation to waste services and facilities. 

Guidelines to assist local government to implement sustainable procurement, can be found on the 

New Zealand Government Procurement website31.  

8.3.4 Organic waste 

National data indicates that a third of refuse from householders is organic material such as food 

scraps. Waikato District Council is currently supporting a food waste kerbside service in the 

Raglan area (see section 5.2.5).  This service, provided under contract by Xtreme Zero Waste, 

commenced a kerbside food waste service to approximately 2,000 households after a trial that 

ran from July 2012 to Feb 2013. The service has around 30% put-out rate for bins, and collected 

860kg of food waste in its first week of operation.  

While the service has not yet been provided for a full year, council will need to assess its 

effectiveness and decide if a similar service should be rolled out to other communities in the 

Waikato District during the term of the next 2018-2024 WMMP. 

                                                             
31 http://www.procurement.govt.nz/procurement/for-agencies/guides-and-tools/A-to-Z-guides-tools-templates#st 
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8.3.5 Options: Collection Services & Procurement 

Option Issues Addressed Strategic Assessment Impact on Current/Future 

Demand 

Councils’ Role 

Status Quo services and 

procurement practises. 

No effect on any of the key 

issues. 

Social / Cultural / Environmental / 

Economic / Health - no new 

impacts 

Would not impact on the status 

quo prediction of demand. 

Provides a kerbside recycling 

service    

Review current waste 

services to: 

 Ensure service funding 
model to ensure Council 

can remain within a 

predictable budget, meet 

future needs and provide 

good value to residents 

 Assess whether Te Uku 

warrants inclusion in the 

kerbside service area 

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

The need to ensure effective 

and affordable provision of 

waste services 

Potential for greater community 

partnership, engagement and 

understanding of waste issues 

Social/Cultural: some improved 

consistency in approach 

Environmental: impacts depend on 

outcomes of review 

Economic: shared services could 

reduce costs and enable access to 

better quality services. 

Health:  Enhanced services could 

facilitate appropriate disposal and 

reduce health impacts 

Improve ability to meet prediction 

of demand for waste services and 

facilities 

Provision of services (under 

contract)  

Councils enter into shared 

service or joint procurement 

arrangements where there is 

mutual benefit   

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Data quality and management of 

data 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery 

Social/Cultural: some improved 

consistency in approach. 

Environmental: impacts depend on 

the collaborative strategies and 

projects. 

Economic: shared services could 

reduce costs and enable access to 

better quality services. 

Health:  Enhanced services would 

facilitate appropriate disposal and 

reduce health impacts 

No significant impact on status 

quo forecast of future demand 

Council to approach neighbouring 

authorities to form collaborative 

partnerships on various strategic 

or operational projects  

Where services are to be shared 

there will a need to align service 

provision and contract dates 

Establishment of a 

social/sustainable 

procurement model over 

time 

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Data quality and management of 

Social/Cultural: Supporting 

community capacity and fostering 

strong communities 

Environmental: improvement to 

waste recovery  

Could enable management of 

future demand while also meeting 

LTP objectives 

Changes to council procurement 

practices.  

Council recognise the importance 

of diversity in the mix of scales of 
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data 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery 

Economic:  Could result in benefits 

for the local economy 

Health:  Enhanced services 

enabling separation of materials 

could reduce health impacts 

economy and localised solutions 

Councils will support a mix of 

economic models to target best 

fit solutions depending on the 

situation 

Monitor the food waste 

service provided by Xtreme 

Zero Waste in Raglan, and 

assess the potential to 

expand the service to other 

communities after the 

service has been in operation 

for at least two years  

 

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Data quality and management of 

data 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery 

Social/Cultural: Improved services 

to residents 

Environmental:  Reduced waste to 

landfill 

Economic:  Additional costs to 

ratepayers   

Health.  Vulnerable sectors of the 

community may not be able to 

afford increased costs. Potential 

for animal strike 

Would need to be developed to 

take into account future demand  

Council would be service 

provider (contracted service) 

Investigate the introduction 

of programmes to avoid and 

reduce food waste; and 

increase composting and 

associated behaviours 

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Data quality and management 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery and regional and sub-

regional collaboration 

Greater community partnership, 

engagement and understanding 

of waste issues  

 

Social/cultural: Community 

awareness and engagement in the 

waste minimisation process, 

taking a higher level of ownership 

of the food waste issues.  

Environmental: Education 

programmes would seek to 

establish, support and extend 

positive behaviours that reduce 

environmental impact 

Economic: funded through waste 

levy funding 

Health:  Information regarding 

health risks of relevant waste 

materials and appropriate 

management targeted to 

audiences needs 

Improved ability to meet future 

requirements 

Education alone will not support 

behaviour change.  Pathways need 

to be provided for residents and 

businesses to take action on 

education messages and be 

supported to make behaviour 

change actions. 

Councils would fund and 

coordinate education and 

engagement programmes. 

Programmes may be delivered by 

community or other partners. 

Table 24 Options:  Collection services and Procurement
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8.4 Options: Infrastructure  

8.4.1 Resource recovery 

Potentially, resource recovery and recycling services could be expanded via the introduction of additional resource recovery centres based on the Xtreme 

Zero Waste (Raglan) model. 

 

The Xtreme Zero Waste resource recovery facility is a nationally recognised facility which has been used as a model for similar facilities throughout the 

country, including Auckland, and Waikato District Council is able to ‘tap in to’ the wealth of knowledge and experience available at Xtreme  Zero Waste. 

The success of the facility at diverting waste from landfill could be replicated at additional locations in the District. Possible locations include Huntly, 

Ngaruawahia and Pokeno; and potentially supporting a facility in Pukekohe (jointly with Auckland Council) as per a pre-existing scoping study that Waikato 

District Council has engaged in. 

 

Some budget has already been accounted for in the Long-Term Plan for a facility at Huntly, however if a facility at Pokeno is to be considered – the 

purchase of land should be addressed sooner rather than later as land prices in that area are increasing rapidly. 

Establishing a resource recovery facility in conjunction with community groups is likely to provide additional benefits, beyond just waste minimisation 

including job creation, local spending, reuse/repair facilities and community engagement with waste minimisation.  
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8.4.2 Options: Infrastructure 

Option Issues Addressed Strategic Assessment Impact on Current/Future 

Demand 

Councils’ Role 

Status Quo infrastructure No effect on any of the key 

issues. 

Social / Cultural / Environmental / 

Economic / Health - no new 

impacts 

Would not provide any benefit 

towards meeting prediction of 

demand. 

Provides a kerbside recycling 

service    

Investigate and, where 

applicable, facilitate the 

development of additional 

resource recovery centres 

similar to the Xtreme Zero 

Waste facility in Raglan. 

Possible locations include 

Huntly, Ngaruawahia and 

Pokeno and a joint facility 

with Auckland Council at a 

Pukekohe location.  

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Poor data quality and 

management 

Potential for greater community 

partnership, engagement and 

understanding of waste issues  

Insufficient resource recovery 

infrastructure in the District to 

meet future demand 

Inconsistent infrastructure 

provision for resource recovery 

- while the Raglan area is well 

serviced for resource recovery, 

other areas are lacking access to 

resource recovery, reuse and 

repair facilities. 

Social/Cultural: improved 

consistency in approach. 

Environmental: improved 

environmental outcomes including 

an increased diversion of waste 

from landfill 

Economic: local employment, 

potential for new small businesses 

to develop to meet 

reuse/recycling demand. Funded 

by waste levy and funding 

applications to the Waste 

Minimisation Fund (government) 

Health:  Enhanced services would 

facilitate appropriate disposal and 

reduce health impacts 

Increased ability to meet forecast 

of future demand 

Investigation of potential facilities 

Leadership in collaborative 

projects with community partners 

Project management and 

assistance providing and obtaining 

funding 

Table 25 Options: Infrastructure  
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8.5 Influence and partnerships 

A number of opportunities have been identified for WDC to exert influence and / or partner with others to achieve waste avoidance, reduction or 

minimisation. These include: 

 greater community partnership, engagement to foster understanding of waste issues 

 potential for greater joint working in Council service delivery, regional and sub-regional collaboration; and  

 advocacy for Product Stewardship. 

In addition, there is the potential to establish a Zero Waste Sector Working Group to assist council to encourage the communities towards becoming a 

‘zero waste communities’. This could be a sub-regional group in collaboration with Hamilton City and Waipa District councils and similar to Waikato/Bay of 

Plenty Sector Advisory group supporting the regional Councils achieve their waste minimisation goals. 

8.5.1 Options relating to influence and partnerships 

Option Issues Addressed Strategic Assessment Impact on Current/Future 

Demand 

Councils’ Role 

Maintain existing education 

programmes and 

partnerships 

No change Social/Cultural: no change in 

community level of ownership of 

waste issues 

No significant impact on status 

quo forecast of future demand 

No change 

Engage in regional 

cooperation including 

appointing a regional 

Coordinator to assist with 

joint projects. Each Council 

responsible for own 

jurisdiction.   

A regional coordinator will 

assist in progressing closer 

working in a number of areas 

including solid waste bylaws, 

education and data  

Social/Cultural: improve 

community level of ownership of 

waste issues 

Environmental: improved resource 

efficiency and reduce harm from 

waste 

Economic: Shared funding  

Assist in meeting future demand Continue to develop strategic 

documents through the joint 

committee.   

Funding for agreed projects and 

initiatives. 

Engage in sub-regional co-

operation by continuing to 

work closely with Hamilton 

City and Waipa District 

Councils 

Data quality and management 

Greater community partnership, 

engagement and understanding 

of waste issues 

Social/Cultural: improve 

community level of ownership of 

waste issues 

Environmental: improved resource 

efficiency and reduce harm from 

waste 

Economic: Potential to identify 

Assist in meeting future demand Staff time and potentially some 

funding identified on a case by 

case basis. 
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areas of job creation 

Health: Health impacts dependent 

on the nature of the 

collaboration.   

Establish a Zero Waste 

Sector Working Group to 

assist council to encourage 

the communities towards 

becoming a ‘zero waste 

communities’.  

Data quality and management 

Greater community partnership, 

engagement and understanding 

of waste issues 

Social/Cultural: improve 

community level of ownership of 

waste issues 

Environmental: improved resource 

efficiency and reduce harm from 

waste 

Economic: Potential to identify 

areas of job creation 

Health: Health impacts dependent 

on the nature of the 

collaboration.   

Assist in meeting future demand Staff time and potentially some 

funding identified on a case by 

case basis. 

Strongly advocate for 

effective product stewardship 

and regulation under section 

2 of the WMA2008 and 

support independent 

organisations advocating for 

similar outcomes 

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Data quality and management 

Greater community partnership, 

engagement and understanding 

of waste issues  

Insufficient resource recovery 

infrastructure in Waikato 

District to meet future demand 

Social/Cultural: product take back 

schemes will require behaviour 

change by product producers and 

consumers; potentially better 

management of hazardous 

materials. 

Environmental: improved resource 

efficiency. 

Economic: producer responsibility 

for key waste streams reduces 

reliance on council funded 

services 

Health: product take back will 

ensure better management of 

hazardous materials 

Product stewardship is specifically 

enabled in the WMA.  Fully 

enacting this principle will help 

ensure true costs of products are 

reflected in their price. 

Call for the introduction of a 

container deposit scheme 

Product stewardship schemes will 

assist Council to meet future 

demand by providing effective 

waste recycling services for 

products such as e-waste, 

agricultural chemicals and tyres  

Strongly advocate to 

Government for regulation and 

product stewardship 

Work with other councils to call 

for product stewardship and 

regulation 

Work with DHB’s and others to 

establish and implement product 

take back schemes for medical 

waste and other materials 

Support NGO’s and other 

organisations acting to achieve 

producer responsibility for end of 

life products 

 

Collaborate with Mana 

Whenua, community groups 

and private sector to 

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Potential for greater joint 

Social/Cultural: potential for 

downstream job creation 

Environmental: potential 

There are waste minimisation 

activities such as reuse shops that 

are marginally cost effective in 

Council to lead and facilitate 

Council funding & staff support 

may be required for both 
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investigate and (if suitable) 

implement opportunities to 

enhance economic 

development through 

resource recovery 

working in Council service 

delivery and regional and sub-

regional collaboration 

Greater community partnership, 

engagement and understanding 

of waste issues  

enhancement through waste 

minimisation 

Economic: could result in benefits 

for the local economy 

Health:  Health impacts dependent 

on the nature of the 

collaboration.   

strictly commercial sense, but 

provide opportunities for social 

enterprise/charitable community 

group. Having all three sectors 

working together can provide 

mutual benefits for all. 

establishment and ongoing 

support of opportunities. 

Council to employ a waste 

minimisation officer. 

 

Continue existing education 

programmes including 

application of the Regional 

Waste Education Strategy 

and identify areas where an 

extension of services would 

be beneficial e.g. In-schools 

program extended to 

Northern areas of the 

District  

Increasing quantity of waste to 

landfill 

Data quality and management 

Potential for greater joint 

working in Council service 

delivery and regional and sub-

regional collaboration 

Greater community partnership, 

engagement and understanding 

of waste issues  

Social/Cultural: no change in 

community level of ownership of 

waste issues 

Environmental: education 

programmes aim to establish and 

support positive behaviours that 

reduce environmental impact 

Economic: currently funded 

Health:  Public informed of health 

risks of waste materials and 

appropriate disposal pathways 

Awareness of waste issues and 

behaviour would not change 

significantly from current situation 

Council would continue to fund 

and coordinate education 

programmes 

Table 26 Options: Influence and partnerships  
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8.6 Summary table of potential scenarios 

The above options can form an almost infinite number of combinations.  To simplify consideration of the options, high level scenarios with logical 

combinations of the above options are laid out in the table below.  The scenarios are for illustration and can be amended. 

 Status Quo Scenario 1: Recomended Scenario 2:  

Service Model No change from current 

service model 

Review current waste services to: 

 Ensure service funding model to ensure Council can 

remain within a predictable budget, meet future 

needs and provide good value to residents 

 Assess whether Te Uku warrants inclusion in the 

kerbside service area 

Review current waste services to: 

 Ensure service funding model to ensure Council can 

remain within a predictable budget, meet future needs 

and provide good value to residents 

 Include Te Uku in the kerbside service area 

Data & 

regulation 

No Solid Waste Bylaw or 

operator and facility 

licensing 

Data not in alignment with 

National Waste Data 

Framework  

Regionally aligned bylaw with operator and facility 

licensing, data provision, service standards and 

receptacle restrictions  

All reporting to be against the standard reporting 

indicators under the National Waste Data Framework 

Regional or sub-regional licensing to reduce compliance 

costs 

Investigate utilising social procurement mechanisms for 

waste services 

Complete Event Waste Management Guidelines 

Regionally aligned bylaw with operator and facility licensing, 

data provision, service standards, and receptacle 

restrictions  

All reporting to be against the standard reporting 

indicators under the National Waste Data Framework 

WDC provide licensing provisions separate to other 

councils in the region  

Promote social procurement mechanisms for waste 

services 

Complete Event Waste Management Guidelines  

Organic 

waste 

No expansion of Raglan 

food waste service 

Assess Raglan food waste service and consider options 

to expand service to other communities where 

applicable 

Investigate programmes to avoid and reduce food 

waste; encourage better behaviours around food waste 

and increase composting and associated behaviours 

Provide a kerbside food waste collection service to all 

urban households and introduce programmes to avoid and 

reduce food waste; encourage better behaviours around 

food waste 

Infrastructure No change to waste Investigate and, where applicable, facilitate the Investigate and, where applicable, facilitate the 

development of additional resource recovery centres.  
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infrastructure development of additional resource recovery centres.  Commit to a minimum of two additional facilities by 2024. 

Influence and 

partnerships 

No advocacy for product 

stewardship 

Maintain current 

relationships and level of 

regional collaboration 

Advocate for effective product stewardship and 

regulation and support independent organisations 

advocating for similar outcomes 

Engage in regional cooperation including appointing a 

Regional Coordinator to assist with joint projects. Each 

Council would be responsible for own jurisdiction.  

Collaborate with Mana Whenua, community groups and 

private sector to investigate and (if suitable) implement 

opportunities to enhance economic development 

through resource recovery 

Continue existing education programmes including 

application of the Regional Waste Education Strategy 

Council provides guidance for event waste management 

programmes 

Commit budget allocation for ongoing advocacy 

programme calling for effective product stewardship and 

regulation and support independent organisations 

advocating for similar outcomes 

Engage in regional cooperation including appointing a 

Regional Coordinator to assist with joint projects. Each 

Council responsible for own jurisdiction. 

Collaborate with Mana Whenua, community groups and 

private sector to investigate and implement opportunities 

to enhance economic development through resource 

recovery 

Expand existing education programmes including 

application of the Regional Waste Education Strategy 

Council provides an event waste management programme 

Table 27 Summary: Potential scenarios 
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PART 9 - STATEMENT OF COUNCIL’S INTENDED 

ROLE 

 

9.1 Statutory Obligations and Powers 

Councils have a number of statutory obligations and powers in respect of the planning and 

provision of waste services.  These include the following: 

 Under the WMA each Council “must promote effective and efficient waste management and 

minimisation within its district” (s 42). The WMA requires TAs to develop and adopt a 

Waste Management and Minimisation Plan (WMMP).32 

 The WMA also requires TAs to have regard to the New Zealand Waste Strategy 2010.  The 

Strategy has two high levels goals: ‘Reducing the harmful effects of waste’ and ‘Improving the 

efficiency of resource use’.  These goals must be taken into consideration in the 

development of the Councils’ waste strategy. 

 Under the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) the Councils must consult the public about 

their plans for managing waste. 

 Under the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA), TA responsibility includes controlling the 

effects of land-use activities that have the potential to create adverse effects on the natural 

and physical resources of their district. Facilities involved in the disposal, treatment or use of 

waste or recoverable materials may carry this potential. Permitted, controlled, discretionary, 

non-complying and prohibited activities and their controls are specified within district 

planning documents, thereby defining further land-use-related resource consent 

requirements for waste-related facilities. 

 Under the Litter Act 1979 TAs have powers to make bylaws, issue infringement notices, and 

require the clean-up of litter from land. 

 The Health Act 1956.  Health Act provisions for the removal of refuse by local authorities 

have been repealed by local government legislation. The Public Health Bill is currently 

progressing through Parliament. It is a major legislative reform reviewing and updating the 

Health Act 1956, but it contains similar provisions for sanitary services to those currently 

contained in the Health Act 1956. 

 The Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996 (the HSNO Act). The HSNO Act 

provides minimum national standards that may apply to the disposal of a hazardous 

substance. However, under the RMA a regional council or TA may set more stringent 

controls relating to the use of land for storing, using, disposing of or transporting hazardous 

substances. 

 Under current legislation and the new Health and Safety at Work Act the Council has a duty 

to ensure that its contractors are operating in a safe manner. 

The Waikato/BoP region Councils, in determining their role, need to ensure that their statutory 

obligations, including those noted above, are met. 

9.2 Overall Strategic Direction and Role 

The Councils overall strategic direction and role has been set out in the Waikato District 

Council 2018-2024 WMMP. 

 

                                                             
32 The development of a WMMP in the WMA is a requirement modified from Part 31 of the LGA 1974, but with even greater 

emphasis on waste minimisation. 
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PART 10 - STATEMENT OF PROPOSALS 

 

Council proposes for the 6‐year term of its next WMMP to continue providing the following 

current waste services in the Waikato District: 

 Council provided kerbside refuse and recycling collection, processing and disposal 

 Litter bin servicing and illegal dumping collection 

 Ongoing monitoring of closed landfills to ensure that resource consent conditions continue 

to be met; and 

 Waste minimisation promotion and education 

 Management of waste to ensure protection of health 

In addition, based on the options identified in this Waste Assessment and the Council’s intended 

role in meeting forecast demand a range of proposals are put forward.  Actions and timeframes 

for delivery of these proposals are identified in the 2018-2024 Waste Management and 

Minimisation Plan. 

It is expected that the implementation of these proposals will meet forecast demand for services 

as well as support the Councils’ goals and objectives for waste management and minimisation. 

These goals and objectives will be confirmed as part of the development and adoption of the 

2018-2024 Waste Management and Minimisation Plan. 

10.1 Statement of Extent  

In accordance with section 51 (f), a Waste Assessment must include a statement about the 

extent to which the proposals will (i) ensure that public health is adequately protected, (ii) 

promote effective and efficient waste management and minimisation. 

10.1.1 Protection of Public Health 

The Health Act 1956 requires the Council to ensure the provision of waste services adequately 

protects public health.   

The Waste Assessment has identified potential public health issues associated with each of the 

options, and appropriate initiatives to manage these risks would be a part of any implementation 

programme. 

In respect of Council-provided waste and recycling services, public health issues will be able to 

be addressed through setting appropriate performance standards for waste service contracts and 

ensuring performance is monitored and reported on, and that there are appropriate structures 

within the contracts for addressing issues that arise. 

Privately-provided services will be regulated through local bylaws and uncontrolled disposal of 

waste, for example in rural areas and in cleanfills, will be regulated through local and regional 

bylaws. It is considered that these proposals will adequately protect public health. 

10.1.2 Effective and Efficient Waste Management and Minimisation 

The Waste Assessment has investigated current and future quantities of waste and diverted 

material, and outlines the Council’s role in meeting the forecast demand for services. 

It is considered that the process of forecasting has been robust, and that the Council’s intended 

role in meeting these demands is appropriate in the context of the overall statutory planning 

framework for the Council.  

Therefore, it is considered that the proposals would promote effective and efficient waste 

management and minimisation. 
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 Medical Officer of Health Statement A.1.0

A draft of the Waste Assessment was provided to the Medical Officer of Health for comment as 

per the requirements of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008. 

The Act states: 

Section 51 Requirements for waste assessment 

(5) In making an assessment, the territorial authority must— 

(a) use its best endeavors to make a full and balanced assessment; and 

(b) consult the Medical Officer of Health. 

Commentary from the Medical Officer of Health is provided below.  

The Medical Officer of Health supports the proposed options to improve waste management 

and minimization, access to quality data, and the proposed focus for activities.  
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 Glossary of Terms A.2.0

Term Definition 

Cleanfill A cleanfill (properly referred to as a Class 4 landfill) is any disposal facility that 

accepts only cleanfill material.  This is defined as material that, when buried, will 

have no adverse environmental effect on people or the environment.  

C&D Waste Waste generated from the construction or demolition of a building including 

the preparation and/or clearance of the property or site.  This excludes 

materials such as clay, soil and rock when those materials are associated with 

infrastructure such as road construction and maintenance, but includes 

building-related infrastructure. 

Diverted Material Anything that is no longer required for its original purpose and, but for 

commercial or other waste minimisation activities, would be disposed of or 

discarded. 

Domestic Waste Waste from domestic activity in households. 

ETS Emissions Trading Scheme 

 

Hazardous waste Means any waste that contains hazardous substances at sufficient 

concentrations to exceed the minimum degrees of hazard specified 

by Hazardous Substances (Minimum Degrees of Hazard) Regulations 

2001 under the Hazardous Substances and New Organism Act 1996; or that 

meets the definition for infectious substances included in the Land Transport 

Rule: Dangerous Goods 1999 and NZS 5433: 2012 – Transport of Dangerous 

Goods on Land; or that meets the definition for radioactive material included in 

the Radiation Safety Act 2016. 

ICI Industrial, Commercial, Institutional 

Landfill A disposal facility as defined in S.7 of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008, 

excluding incineration.  Includes, by definition in the WMA, only those facilities 

that accept ‘household waste’. Properly referred to as a Class 1 landfill. See 

Landfill categories and definitions in Appendix A.2.2 below 

LGA Local Government Act 2002 

Managed Fill A disposal site requiring a resource consent to accept well-defined types of 

non-household waste, e.g. low-level contaminated soils or industrial by-

products, such as sewage by-products. Properly referred to as a Class 3 landfill.  

MfE Ministry for the Environment 

MRF Materials Recovery Facility 

MSW Municipal Solid Waste 

NZ New Zealand 
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NZWS New Zealand Waste Strategy 

Putrescible;  

garden or green 

waste 

Plant based material and other bio-degradable material that can be recovered 

through composting, digestion or other similar processes. 

RRP Resource Recovery Park 

RTS Refuse Transfer Station 

Service Delivery 

Review 

As defined by s17A of the LGA 2002.  Councils are required to review the 

cost-effectiveness of current arrangements for meeting the needs of 

communities within its district or region for good-quality local infrastructure, 

local public services, and performance of regulatory functions.  A review under 

subsection (1) must consider options for the governance, funding, and delivery 

of infrastructure, services, and regulatory functions. 

Special waste Waste that fits into significant, identifiable waste streams, usually from a single 

generator. Special wastes are those that cause particular management and/or 

disposal problems and need special care. This includes, but is not restricted to, 

hazardous and medical wastes (including e-wastes). 

TA Territorial Authority (a city or district council) 

Waste Means, according to the WMA:  

a) Anything disposed of or discarded, and 

b) Includes a type of waste that is defined by its composition or source 

(for example, organic waste, electronic waste, or construction and 

demolition waste); and 

c) To avoid doubt, includes any component or element of diverted 

material, if the component or element is disposed or discarded.   

 

WA Waste Assessment as defined by s51 of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008.  A 

Waste Assessment must be completed whenever a WMMP is reviewed 

WMA Waste Minimisation Act 2008 

WMMP A Waste Management and Minimisation Plan as defined by s43 of the Waste 

Minimisation Act 2008 

WWTP Wastewater treatment plant 

Table 28 Glossary of terms 

Landfill definitions (From the ‘Technical Guidelines for Disposal to Land’ (2016))  

WAC Waste Acceptance Criteria 

Class 1 - 

Landfill 

A Class 1 landfill is a site that accepts municipal solid waste as defined in the 

Guidelines. A Class 1 landfill generally also accepts C&D waste, some industrial wastes 

and contaminated soils. Class 1 landfills often use managed fill and clean fill materials 

they accept, as daily cover. 
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Class 1 landfills require: 

 a rigorous assessment of siting constraints, considering all factors, but with 

achieving a high level of containment as a key aim;  

 engineered environmental protection by way of a liner and leachate collection 

system, and an appropriate cap, all with appropriate redundancy; and  

 landfill gas management. 

A rigorous monitoring and reporting regime is required, along with stringent 

operational controls. Monitoring of accepted waste materials is required, as is 

monitoring of sediment runoff, surface water and groundwater quality, leachate quality 

and quantity, and landfill gas. 

Waste acceptance criteria comprises:  

 municipal solid waste; and 

 for potentially hazardous leachable contaminants, maximum chemical 

contaminant leachability limits (TCLP) from Module 2 Hazardous Waste 

Guidelines – Class A4. 

Class 2 

Landfill 

A Class 2 landfill is a site that accepts non-putrescible wastes including C&D wastes, 

inert industrial wastes, managed fill material and clean fill material as defined in these 

Guidelines.  

Although not as strong as Class 1 landfill leachate, Class 2 landfill leachate is typically 

characterised by mildly acidic pH, and the presence of ammoniacal nitrogen and 

soluble metals, including heavy metals.  Similarly, industrial wastes from some activities 

may generate leachates with chemical characteristics that are not necessarily organic. 

Operational controls are required, as are monitoring of accepted waste materials, 

monitoring of sediment runoff, surface water and groundwater quality, and monitoring 

of leachate quality and quantity.  

Waste acceptance criteria comprises:  

 a list of acceptable materials; and 

 maximum ancillary biodegradeable materials (e.g. vegetation) to be no more 

than 5% by volume per load; and 

 maximum chemical contaminant leachability limits (TCLP) for potentially 

hazardous leachable contaminants. 

For Class 2 landfills, leachability testing should be completed to provide assurance that 

waste materials meet the WAC. 

Class 3 

Landfill – 

Managed/Co

ntrolled Fill 

A Class 3 landfill accepts managed fill materials as defined in the Guidelines. These 

comprise predominantly clean fill materials, but may also include other inert materials 

and soils with chemical contaminants at concentrations greater than local natural 

background concentrations, but with specified maximum total concentrations. Site 

ownership, location and transport distance are likely to be the predominant siting 

criteria. However, as contaminated materials (in accordance with specified limits) may 

be accepted, an environmental site assessment is required in respect of geology, 

stability, surface hydrology and topography. 

Monitoring of accepted material is required, as are operational controls, and 

monitoring of sediment runoff and groundwater. 

Waste acceptance criteria comprises:  

 a list of acceptable solid materials; and 

 maximum incidental or attached biodegradable materials (e.g. vegetation) to 

be no more than 2% by volume per load; and 
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 maximum chemical contaminant limits.  

A Class 3 landfill does not include any form of engineered containment. Due to the 

nature of material received it has the potential to receive wastes that are above soil 

background levels. The WAC criteria for a Class 3 landfill are therefore the main 

means of controlling potential adverse effects. 

Class 4 

Landfill - 

Cleanfill 

Class 4 landfill accepts only clean fill material as defined in the Guidelines. The 

principal control on contaminant discharges to the environment from Class 4 landfills 

is the waste acceptance criteria. 

Stringent siting requirements to protect groundwater and surface water receptors are 

not required. Practical and commercial considerations such as site ownership, location 

and transport distance are likely to be the predominant siting criteria, rather than 

technical criteria. 

Clean filling can generally take place on the existing natural or altered land without 

engineered environmental protection or the development of significant site 

infrastructure. However, surface water controls may be required to manage sediment 

runoff. 

Extensive characterisation of local geology and hydrogeology is not usually required. 

Monitoring of both accepted material and sediment runoff is required, along with 

operational controls.  

Waste acceptance criteria comprises:  

 virgin excavated natural materials (VENM), including soil, clay, gravel and 

rock; and 

 maximum incidental inert manufactured materials (e.g. concrete, brick, tiles) 

to be no more than 5% by volume per load; and 

 maximum incidental5 or attached biodegradable materials (e.g. vegetation) to 

be no more than 2% by volume per load; and 

 maximum chemical contaminant limits are local natural background soil 

concentrations. 

Materials disposed to a Class 4 landfill should pose no significant immediate or future 

risk to human health or the environment. 

Note:  The Guidelines should be referred to directly for the full criteria and definitions. 

Table 29 Landfill definitions 
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 Area map of council services A.3.0
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 National Legislative and Policy Context A.4.0

(a) The New Zealand Waste Strategy 2010 

The New Zealand Waste Strategy 2010 provides the Government’s strategic direction for waste 

management and minimisation in New Zealand. This strategy was released in 2010 and replaced 

the 2002 Waste Strategy. 

The New Zealand Waste Strategy has two goals. These are to: 

 reduce the harmful effects of waste 

 improve the efficiency of resource use. 

The strategy’s goals provide direction to central and local government, businesses (including the 

waste industry), and communities on where to focus their efforts to manage waste. The 

strategy’s flexible approach ensures waste management and minimisation activities are 

appropriate for local situations. 

Under section 44 of the Waste Management Act 2008, in preparing their waste management and 

minimisation plan (WMMP) councils must have regard to the New Zealand Waste Strategy, or 

any government policy on waste management and minimisation that replaces the strategy. 

Guidance on how councils may achieve this is provided in section 4.4.3. 

A copy of the New Zealand Waste Strategy is available on the Ministry’s website at 

www.mfe.govt.nz/publications/waste/new‐zealand‐waste‐strategy‐reducing‐harm‐
improvingefficiency. 

(b) Waste Minimisation Act 2008 

The purpose of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 (WMA) is to encourage waste minimisation 

and a decrease in waste disposal to protect the environment from harm and obtain 

environmental, economic, social and cultural benefits. 

The WMA introduced tools, including: 

 waste management and minimisation plan obligations for territorial authorities 

 a waste disposal levy to fund waste minimisation initiatives at local and central  

government levels 

 product stewardship provisions. 

Part 4 of the WMA is dedicated to the responsibilities of a council. Councils “must promote 

effective and efficient waste management and minimisation within its district” (section 42). 

Part 4 requires councils to develop and adopt a WMMP. The development of a WMMP in the 

WMA is a requirement modified from Part 31 of the Local Government Act 1974, but with even 

greater emphasis on waste minimisation. 

To support the implementation of a WMMP, section 56 of the WMA also provides councils the 

ability to: 

 develop bylaws 

 regulate the deposit, collection and transportation of wastes 

 prescribe charges for waste facilities 

 control access to waste facilities 

 prohibit the removal of waste intended for recycling. 

A number of specific clauses in Part 4 relate to the WMMP process. It is essential that those 

involved in developing a WMMP read and are familiar with the WMA and Part 4 in particular. 
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The Waste Minimisation Act 2008 (WMA) provides a regulatory framework for waste 

minimisation that had previously been based on largely voluntary initiatives and the involvement 

of territorial authorities under previous legislation, including Local Government Act 1974, Local 

Government Amendment Act (No 4) 1996, and Local Government Act 2002.  The purpose of 

the WMA is to encourage a reduction in the amount of waste disposed of in New Zealand. 

In summary, the WMA: 

 Clarifies the roles and responsibilities of territorial authorities with respect to waste 

minimisation e.g. updating Waste Management and Minimisation Plans (WMMPs) and 

collecting/administering levy funding for waste minimisation projects. 

 Requires that a Territorial Authority promote effective and efficient waste management and 

minimisation within its district (Section 42). 

 Requires that when preparing a WMMP a Territorial Authority must consider the following 

methods of waste management and minimisation in the following order of importance: 

Reduction, Reuse, Recycling, Recovery, Treatment and Disposal 

 Put a levy on all waste disposed of in a landfill.   

 Allows for mandatory and accredited voluntary product stewardship schemes.   

 Allows for regulations to be made making it mandatory for certain groups (for example, 

landfill operators) to report on waste to improve information on waste minimisation.   

 Establishes the Waste Advisory Board to give independent advice to the Minister for the 

Environment on waste minimisation issues.   

Various aspects of the Waste Minimisation Act are discussed in more detail below.   

The Government has announced a review of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 to be completed 

in 2018. 

(c) Waste Levy 

From 1st July 2009 the Waste Levy came in to effect, adding $10 per tonne to the cost of landfill 

disposal at sites which accept household solid waste.  The levy has two purposes, which are set 

out in the Act:  

 to raise revenue for promoting and achieving waste minimisation  

 to increase the cost of waste disposal to recognise that disposal imposes costs on the 

environment, society and the economy.   

This levy is collected and managed by the Ministry for the Environment (MfE) who distribute half 

of the revenue collected to territorial authorities (TA) on a population basis to be spent on 

promoting or achieving waste minimisation as set out in their WMMPs. The other half is retained 

by the MfE and managed by them as a central contestable fund for waste minimisation initiatives.  

Currently the levy is set at $10/tonne and applies to wastes deposited in landfills accepting 

household waste.  The MfE published a waste disposal levy review in 201733. This review notes 

that for the review period of 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016, levied waste disposal facilities received 

a total of 10,681,295 gross tonnes of waste. From this, 1,207,786 tonnes of material were 

diverted, leaving total net waste to landfill at 9,473,509 tonnes. Total gross tonnage of waste 

increased by 16.4% from the 2014 review, while the quantity of waste diverted decreased by 

6.3%. As a result, the total net tonnage disposed to levied landfills has increased by 20.1% since 

the 2014 review. 

                                                             
33 Ministry for the Environment. 2017. Review of the effectiveness of the waste disposal levy, 2014 in accordance with section 39 of 

the Waste Minimisation Act 2008. Wellington: Ministry for the Environment 
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The review goes on to note: “Systems and processes to administer the waste disposal levy are 

operating efficiently and effectively, and all stakeholders are meeting their obligations relevant to 

this review as prescribed in the Waste Minimisation Act. However, annual levied waste is 

increasing, indicating that the levy is not currently achieving its objective. Added to this, the 

majority of New Zealand’s waste disposal facilities are exempt from the levy and no data is 

available about the waste that is disposed at these facilities”. 

In conclusion, the Ministry intends to develop and implement a staged approach to applying the 

waste disposal levy across additional classes of landfills and assess the role of a differential rating 

system. This staged approach will be developed over a 1-5-year period. 

(d) Product Stewardship 

Under the Waste Minimisation Act 2008, if the Minister for the Environment declares a product 

to be a priority product, a product stewardship scheme must be developed and accredited to 

ensure effective reduction, reuse, recycling or recovery of the product and to manage any 

environmental harm arising from the product when it becomes waste34. No Priority Products 

have been declared as of May 2015.35 

Further details on current schemes are available on: http://www.mfe.govt.nz/waste/product-

stewardship/accredited-voluntary-schemes 

(e) Waste Minimisation Fund 

The Waste Minimisation Fund has been set up by the Ministry for the Environment to help fund 

waste minimisation projects and to improve New Zealand’s waste minimisation performance 

through:  

 Investment in infrastructure;  

 Investment in waste minimisation systems and 

 Increasing educational and promotional capacity.   

Criteria for the Waste Minimisation Fund have been published:   

1. Only waste minimisation projects are eligible for funding. Projects must promote or 

achieve waste minimisation. Waste minimisation covers the reduction of waste and the 

reuse, recycling and recovery of waste and diverted material. The scope of the fund 

includes educational projects that promote waste minimisation activity. 

2. Projects must result in new waste minimisation activity, either by implementing new 

initiatives or a significant expansion in the scope or coverage of existing activities.  

3. Funding is not for the ongoing financial support of existing activities, nor is it for the 

running costs of the existing activities of organisations, individuals, councils or firms.  

4. Projects should be for a discrete timeframe of up to three years, after which the project 

objectives will have been achieved and, where appropriate, the initiative will become self-

funding.  

5. Funding can be for operational or capital expenditure required to undertake a project.  

6. For projects where alternative, more suitable, Government funding streams are available 

(such as the Sustainable Management Fund, the Contaminated Sites Remediation Fund, 

or research funding from the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology), 

applicants should apply to these funding sources before applying to the Waste 

Minimisation Fund. 

                                                             
34 Waste Management Act 2008 2(8) 

35 MfE, Priority waste streams for product stewardship intervention: Consultation Feedback Publication date: April 2015 
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7. The applicant must be a legal entity.  

8. The fund will not cover the entire cost of the project. Applicants will need part funding 

from other sources. 

9. The minimum grant for feasibility studies will be $10,000.00. The minimum grant for 

other projects will be $50,000.00.  

Application assessment criteria have also been published by the Ministry. 

(f) Local Government Act 2002 

The Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) provides the general framework and powers under 

which New Zealand’s democratically elected and accountable local authorities operate.  

The LGA contains various provisions that may apply to councils when preparing their WMMPs, 

including consultation and bylaw provisions. For example, Part 6 of the LGA refers to planning 

and decision‐making requirements to promote accountability between local authorities and their 

communities, and a long‐term focus for the decisions and activities of the local authority. This 

part includes requirements for information to be included in the long‐term plan (LTP), including 

summary information about the WMMP. 

More information on the LGA can be found at ww.dia.govt.nz/better‐local‐government. 

(g) Resource Management Act 1991 

The Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) promotes sustainable management of natural and 

physical resources. Although it does not specifically define ‘waste’, the RMA addresses waste 

management and minimisation activity through controls on the environmental effects of waste 

management and minimisation activities and facilities through national, regional and local policy, 

standards, plans and consent procedures. In this role, the RMA exercises considerable influence 

over facilities for waste disposal and recycling, recovery, treatment and others in terms of the 

potential impacts of these facilities on the environment. 

Under section 30 of the RMA, regional councils are responsible for controlling the discharge of 

contaminants into or on to land, air or water. These responsibilities are addressed through 

regional planning and discharge consent requirements. Other regional council responsibilities 

that may be relevant to waste and recoverable materials facilities include: 

 managing the adverse effects of storing, using, disposing of and transporting hazardous 

wastes 

 the dumping of wastes from ships, aircraft and offshore installations into the coastal marine 

area  

 the allocation and use of water. 

Under section 31 of the RMA, council responsibility includes controlling the effects of land‐use 

activities that have the potential to create adverse effects on the natural and physical resources 

of their district. Facilities involved in the disposal, treatment or use of waste or recoverable 

materials may carry this potential. Permitted, controlled, discretionary, noncomplying and 

prohibited activities, and their controls, are specified in district planning documents, thereby 

defining further land‐use‐related resource consent requirements for waste‐related facilities. 

In addition, the RMA provides for the development of national policy statements and for the 

setting of national environmental standards (NES). There is currently one enacted NES that 

directly influences the management of waste in New Zealand – the Resource Management 

(National Environmental Standards for Air Quality) Regulations 2004. This NES requires certain 

landfills (e.g., those with a capacity of more than 1 million tonnes of waste) to collect landfill 

gases and either flare them or use them as fuel for generating electricity. 
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Unless exemption criteria are met, the NES for Air Quality also prohibits the lighting of fires and 

burning of wastes at landfills, the burning of tyres, bitumen burning for road maintenance, 

burning coated wire or oil, and operating high‐temperature hazardous waste incinerators. 

These prohibitions aim to protect air quality. 

(h) New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme 

The Climate Change Response Act 2002 and associated regulations is the Government’s 

principal response to manage climate change. A key mechanism for this is the New Zealand 

Emissions Trading Scheme (NZ ETS) The NZ ETS puts a price on greenhouse gas emissions, 

providing an incentive for people to reduce emissions and plant forests to absorb carbon 

dioxide. Certain sectors are required to acquire and surrender emission units to account for 

their direct greenhouse gas emissions or the emissions associated with their products. Landfills 

that are subject to the waste disposal levy are required to surrender emission units to cover 

methane emissions generated from landfill. These disposal facilities are required to report the 

tonnages landfilled annually to calculate emissions. 

The NZ ETS was introduced in 2010 and, from 2013, landfills have been required to surrender 

New Zealand Emissions Units for each tonne of CO2 (equivalent) that they produce.  To date 

however the impact of the NZETS on disposal prices has been very small. There are a number of 

reasons for this: 

 The global price of carbon crashed during the GFC in 2007-8 and has never recovered.  

Prior to the crash it was trading at around $20 per tonne.  The price has been as low as $2, 

but since in June 2015 the Government moved to no longer accept international units in 

NZETS the NZU price has increased markedly (currently sitting at around $18 per tonne)36.   

 The transitional provisions of the Climate Change Response Act, which were extended 

indefinitely in 2013 (but have now been reviewed), mean that landfills have only had to 

surrender half the number of units they would be required to otherwise37 

 Landfills are allowed to apply for ‘a methane capture and destruction Unique Emissions 

Factor (UEF).  This means that if landfills have a gas collection system in place and flare or 

otherwise use the gas (and turn it from Methane into CO2) they can reduce their liabilities in 

proportion to how much gas they capture.  Up to 90% capture and destruction is allowed to 

be claimed under the regulations, with large facilities applying for UEF’s at the upper end of 

the range. 

Taken together (a low price of carbon, two for one surrender only required, and methane 

destruction of 80-90%) these mean that the actual cost of compliance with the NZETS has been 

negligible.  Disposal facilities have typically imposed charges (in the order of $5 per tonne) to 

their customers, but these charges currently reflect mainly the costs of scheme administration, 

compliance, and hedging against risk rather than the actual cost of carbon. 

The way the scheme has been structured to date also results in some inconsistencies in the way 

it is applied – for example class 2-4 landfills and closed landfills do not have any liabilities under 

the scheme.  Further, the default waste composition (rather than a SWAP) can be used to 

calculate the theoretical gas production, which means landfill owners have an incentive to import 

biodegradable waste, which then increases gas production and which can then be captured and 

offset against ETS liabilities.   

Despite these constraints on the impact of the ETS, there may be potential for the picture to 

change in the future (to a degree).  The United Nations Climate Change Conference, (COP21) 

                                                             
36 https://carbonmatch.co.nz/  accessed 19 July 2016 
37 The two for one transitional provisions are now to be phased out by the Government from 1 January 2017 
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to be held in Paris France in November – December of 2015, established universal (but non-

binding) emissions reduction targets for all the nations of the world.  The outcomes could result 

in growing demand for carbon offsets and hence drive up the price of carbon.  The other factor 

which is likely to come into play is the removal of the transitional provisions from 1 January 

2017– meaning that landfills will need to surrender twice the number of NZUs they do currently.  

Even in a ‘worst case’ scenario however where the transitional provisions are removed and the 

price of carbon rises dramatically to say $50 per tonne, the liability for a landfill that is capturing 

80% of methane generated would only be $13.10.38 Therefore while the ETS could have an 

impact on disposal costs in the medium term this level of impact will likely not be sufficient to 

drive significant change in the waste sector. 

More information is available at www.climatechange.govt.nz/emissions‐trading‐scheme. 

(i) Litter Act 1979 

Under the Litter Act it is an offence for any person or body corporate to deposit or leave litter: 

 In or on any public place; or 

 In or on any private land without the consent of its occupier. 

The Act enables Council to appoint Litter Officers with powers to enforce the provisions of the 

legislation. 

The legislative definition of the term "Litter" is wide and includes refuse, refuse, animal remains, 

glass, metal, garbage, debris, dirt, filth, rubble, ballast, stones, earth, waste matter or other thing 

of a like nature. Any person who commits an offence under the Act is liable to: 

 An instant fine of $400 imposed by the issue of an infringement notice; or a fine not 

exceeding $5,000 in the case of an individual or $20,000 for a body corporate upon 

conviction in a District Court. 

 A term of imprisonment where the litter is of a nature that it may endanger, cause physical 

injury, disease or infection to any person coming into contact with it. 

Under the Litter Act 1979 it is an offence for any person to deposit litter of any kind in a public 

place, or onto private land without the approval of the owner. 

The Litter Act is enforced by territorial authorities, who have the responsibility to monitor litter 

dumping, act on complaints, and deal with those responsible for litter dumping. Councils reserve 

the right to prosecute offenders via fines and infringement notices administered by a litter 

control warden or officer. The maximum fines for littering are $5,000 for a person and $20,000 

for a corporation. 

Council powers under the Litter Act could be used to address illegal dumping issues that may be 

included in the scope of a council’s waste management and minimisation plan. 

(j) Health Act 1956 

The Health Act 1956 places obligations on TAs (if required by the Minister of Health) to provide 

sanitary works for the collection and disposal of refuse, for the purpose of public health 

protection (Part 2 – Powers and duties of local authorities, section 25). It specifically identifies 

certain waste management practices as nuisances (S 29) and offensive trades (Third Schedule).  

Section 54 places restrictions on carrying out an offensive trade and requires that the local 

authority and medical officer of health must give written consent and can impose conditions on 

                                                             
38 Each tonne of waste is assumed under the NZETS to generate 1.31 tonnes of CO2 equivalent.  Therefore one tonne of waste 
requires 1.31 carbon offsets, which at $50 a tonne would cost $65.50.  20% of $65.50 (the liability if 80% of methane is captured and 

destroyed) is $13.10 
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the operation.  Section 54 only applies where resource consent has not been granted under the 

RMA.  The Health Act enables TAs to raise loans for certain sanitary works and/or to receive 

government grants and subsidies, where available.39 

Health Act provisions to remove refuse by local authorities have been repealed. 

(k) Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996 (HSNO Act) 

The HSNO Act addresses the management of substances (including their disposal) that pose a 

significant risk to the environment and/or human health. The Act relates to waste management 

primarily through controls on the import or manufacture of new hazardous materials and the 

handling and disposal of hazardous substances. 

Depending on the amount of a hazardous substance on site, the HSNO Act sets out 

requirements for material storage, staff training and certification. These requirements would 

need to be addressed within operational and health and safety plans for waste facilities. 

Hazardous substances commonly managed by TAs include used oil, household chemicals, 

asbestos, agrichemicals, LPG and batteries. 

The HSNO Act provides minimum national standards that may apply to the disposal of a 

hazardous substance. However, under the RMA a regional council or TA may set more stringent 

controls relating to the use of land for storing, using, disposing of or transporting hazardous 

substances.40 

(l) Health and Safety at Work Act 2015  

The new Health and Safety at Work Act, passed in September 2015 replaces the Health and 

Safety in Employment Act 1992.  The bulk of the Act is due to come into force from 4 April 

2016. 

The Health and Safety at Work Act introduces the concept of a Person Conducting a Business 

or Undertaking, known as a PCBU. The Council will have a role to play as a PCBU for waste 

services and facilities. 

The primary duty of care requires all PCBUs to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable: 

1. the health and safety of workers employed or engaged or caused to be employed or 

engaged, by the PCBU or those workers who are influenced or directed by the PCBU 

(for example workers and contractors) 

2. that the health and safety of other people is not put at risk from work carried out as 

part of the conduct of the business or undertaking (for example visitors and customers). 

 The PCBU’s specific obligations, so far as is reasonably practicable: 

 providing and maintaining a work environment, plant and systems of work that are without 

risks to health and safety 

 ensuring the safe use, handling and storage of plant, structures and substances 

 providing adequate facilities at work for the welfare of workers, including ensuring access to 

those facilities 

 providing information, training, instruction or supervision necessary to protect workers and 

others from risks to their health and safety 

 monitoring the health of workers and the conditions at the workplace for the purpose of 

preventing illness or injury. 

                                                             
39 From: MfE 2009: Waste Management and Minimisation Planning, Guidance for Territorial Authorities.  
40 MfE 2009: Waste Management and Minimisation Planning, Guidance for Territorial Authorities 
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A key feature of the new legislation is that cost should no longer be a major consideration in 

determining the safest course of action that must be taken.   

Health and Safety at Work (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 2016 are due to be released 

March 2017 and come into effect December 2017. These regulations will place additional 

controls on the collection, storage, handling and transport of hazardous waste. If a council 

managed household hazardous waste facility or service is established, they will need to comply 

with these regulations. 

(m) Other legislation 

Other legislation that relates to waste management and/or reduction of harm, or improved 

resource efficiency from waste products includes: 

 Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996 

 Biosecurity Act 1993 

 Radiation Protection Act 1965 

 Ozone Layer Protection Act 1996 

 Agricultural Chemicals and Veterinary Medicines Act 1997. 

For full text copies of the legislation listed above see www.legislation.govt.nz. 

  International commitments A.5.0

New Zealand is party to international agreements that have an influence on the requirements of 

our domestic legislation for waste minimisation and disposal. Some key agreements are the: 

 Montreal Protocol 

 Basel Convention 

 Stockholm Convention 

 Waigani Convention 

 Minamata Convention. 

More information on these international agreements can be found on the Ministry’s website at 

www.mfe.govt.nz/more/international‐environmental‐agreements.  
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PREFACE 
The information published in this Plan has been prepared in good faith. Readers are responsible 
for assessing the relevance and accuracy of the content of this publication.  

This Waste Management and Minimisation Plan presents as clear a picture as possible of what 
activities Waikato District Council intends to carry out in order to manage and minimise waste 
in the District. 

A Waste Assessment was completed prior to the development of this Plan and has provided the 
basis for the Vision, Goals, Outcomes, Activities and Targets set out in this Plan. 
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Executive Summary 
Waikato District’s current Waste Management and Minimisation Plan (WMMP) was adopted in 
2012, and most of the activities from the 2012-2018 WMMP have been completed. However, 
the District has seen an increase in waste to landfill from all sources (council and private services 
combined). Factors contributing to this increase include: 

• An improved understanding of waste flows within the district.
• Increased availability of solid waste data and changes in methodology around data

collection.

Changes to data collection and methodology continue to improve as national industry standards 
(the Waste Data Framework) are developed and adopted, ensuring that waste data is collected 
consistently across the country. This will allow better analysis of local, regional and national 
trends. 
Based on information provided by waste operators and facilities in the District, as well as desk-
top analysis of national information, the Waikato District generates an estimated 235,844 tonnes 
of waste each year (including on-farm waste).  
Of this, 71,000 tonnes are diverted (to recycling or composting) and 112,662 tonnes is farm 
waste disposed of via burning, burial or stock-piling on-farm.   
The remaining 52,182 tonnes of waste generated are sent to landfill. This equates to around 0.75 
tonnes (750 kg) of waste to landfill per person per year. In comparison to the 2012 WMMP, 
refuse volumes appear to have increased by 47% since 2012 – although this is difficult to 
accurately gauge due to the changes in data collection methodology associated with the 
implementation of the Waste Data Framework.  
Our improved understanding of waste allows us to create a new baseline of waste flows, based 
on information in this WMMP. We will use this to assess the effectiveness of future waste 
minimisation initiatives. 
The Waikato District Council 2018 WMMP intends to focus on the avoidance, reduction and 
minimisation of waste, and we will make use of opportunities created from resource recovery.  
This WMMP sets out Goals, Objectives and Targets to guide us towards waste avoidance, 
reduction and recovery. Twenty-one activities are also detailed, and will be carried forward into 
our Long Term and Annual Plans to ensure the resourcing is available to deliver on our plan. 
As well as continuing kerbside and other council services (such as litter and illegal dumping 
collections), proposed activities include: 

• a review of waste services and behaviour change programmes to bring them into
alignment with the WMMP (including, but not limited to, contracting of solid waste
services, kerbside refuse service, inorganic collection, food waste and drop off
collections)

• the development of new recycling centres
• the introduction of a Solid Waste Bylaw and a waste operator licensing system
• improved mechanisms for the collection of waste information
• greater co-operation with other councils in the region, and with Mana Whenua,

community groups and the private sector
• advocating for greater Central Government leadership on waste issues such as the

introduction of mandatory product stewardship and a container deposit scheme

1 
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Part A: Managing our waste 

1.0 Introduction 

This Waste Management and Minimisation Plan (WMMP) sets out how Waikato District Council 
intends to manage the community’s waste. It has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008. 

The 2012-2018 Waikato District Council WMMP was the first plan developed under the Waste 
Minimisation Act 2008 and a comparison between 2012 and 2017 suggests moderate progress 
has been made against the actions set out in the WMMP, but that volumes of waste to landfill 
have risen. 

Information in this WMMP will be taken as the new baseline which we will use to assess the 
effectiveness of future waste minimisation activities. 

Indications are that per capita waste to landfill volumes have increased in the Waikato District by 
approximately 47% compared to 2012, while recyclable material recovered appears to have 
increased by approximately 67%. New information available in 2017 also suggests a high volume 
of rural waste is also being generated and disposed of on-farm in the region. 

The high rate of increase in waste per capita is due to: 

• Changes in the way we collect information about waste. We now collect more
information about more types of waste, from more sources than in 2012.

• Private collectors of waste are less focused on reducing waste to landfill than council
collection. Therefore, while council has a focus on reducing waste to landfill, many waste

3 Waikato District Council 2018-2024 WMMP 
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Figure 1 The Waste Hierarchy 

operators do not. As a result, waste to landfill across the whole of the District has 
increased. 

The increase in recyclable material is likely to be a result of a combination of low estimates in 
2012 and a genuine increase in recyclable recovery as kerbside recycling has expanded, markets 
have opened and private operators have moved to exploit these opportunities. 

1.1 Why do we need a waste plan? 

The Waste Minimisation Act 2008 (WMA) places an obligation on all Territorial Authorities 
(Councils) to promote effective and efficient waste management and minimisation within their 
city or district. This includes the adoption of a Waste Management and Minimisation Plan 
(WMMP) which must be reviewed at least every six years.  

This WMMP sets the priorities and strategic framework for managing waste in the Waikato 
District.  Once the plan is adopted, the actions will be carried forward into the Long Term and 
Annual Plan process to ensure the resourcing is available to deliver the plan’s goals and 
objectives. 

1.2 What does a WMMP have to contain? 

The plan must meet requirements set 
out in the Waste Minimisation Act, 
including to: 

• consider the ‘Waste Hierarchy’
(see Figure 1)

• ensure waste does not create a
‘nuisance’

• ‘have regard to’ the New
Zealand Waste Strategy and
other key government policies

• consider the outcomes of the
‘Waste Assessment’ (see
appendix A.3.0)

• follow the Special Consultative
Procedure set out in the Local
Government Act (2002).

This WMMP covers all solid waste 
and diverted material in the 
District, whether managed by 
council or not. Liquid and gaseous 
wastes are not included except where 
they interact with solid waste systems. 
This includes hazardous wastes like 
chemicals and the outputs from 
wastewater treatment plants. This does 
not necessarily mean that council will 
have direct involvement in the 
management of all waste – but there is 
a responsibility for council to at least 
consider all waste in the district, and to 
suggest areas where other groups, such 
as businesses or householders, could 
take action themselves. 

4 
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2.0 Vision, objectives and targets 

2.1 What does ‘Zero Waste’ mean? 

‘Zero Waste’ is a philosophy encouraging the redesign of products to so they can be 
reused, repaired and recycled.  

Zero waste encourages designing and managing products to systematically avoid and eliminate 
the volume and toxicity of waste and materials, conserve and recover all resources, and not burn 
or bury them.  

The goal is for no waste to be sent to landfills or incinerators but this is not a target. It is a goal 
that is ethical, economical, efficient and visionary, to guide people in changing their lifestyles and 
practices to copy cycles that can be seen in nature, where all discarded materials are designed to 
become resources for others to use1. 

2.2 Our Vision 

Zero waste and resource recovery are an integral part 

of our community. 

2.3 Goals 

1. Our waste minimisation and management are best practice, and manage social, cultural,
spiritual, economic, health and environmental impacts of waste

2. A reduced quantity of material entering the waste stream, increased resource recovery
3. Our nationally recognised, innovative local resource recovery industry is growing
4. Our collaborative partnerships with key stakeholders are growing our “zero-waste

communities”
5. Access to good information about waste in the District, in alignment with the National

Waste Data Framework

2.4 Objectives 

Council Objectives 

1 Waste management practices manage social, cultural, spiritual, economic, health and 
environmental impacts of waste 

2 Waste diversion is increasing and waste to landfill is decreasing 

3 Our communities are actively engaging in waste avoidance and minimisation; and becoming “zero-
waste communities” 

1 http://zwia.org/standards/zw-definition/ 
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4 Partnerships with others to achieve efficient and sustainable waste minimisation and management, 
including joint working and co-operation with territorial and regional councils, and central 
government 

5 Contributing to the national discussion advocating for effective product stewardship and a bottle 
deposit scheme 

Table 1 Objectives for the 2018-2024 WMMP 
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2.5 Targets 

Targets 

By 2024, decrease the tonnes/capita/annum of refuse to land (i.e. total refuse disposed of via landfill 
and/or on-farm waste) from the Waikato District by 5% compared to 2016-17  

By 2024, increase the tonnes/capita/annum of diverted material from the Waikato District by 10% 
compared to 2016-17  

By 2024, reduce the per capita kerbside rubbish to landfill by 5% compared to 2016-17 

By 2024, increase per capita kerbside diverted material by 10% compared to 2016-17 
Table 2 Targets for the 2018 – 2024 WMMP 
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Our vision will be realised through the achievement of a set of supporting objectives set out in 
Table 1 on the previous page.

We will also work with the private and community sectors, central government and territorial 
and regional councils to achieve regional objectives.
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3.0 What are we going to do? 

3.1 Council’s intended role 

The Council intends to oversee, facilitate and manage a range of programmes and interventions 
to achieve effective and efficient waste management and minimisation within the District. The 
Council will do this through our internal structures responsible for waste management. We are 
responsible for a range of contracts, facilities and programmes to provide waste management and 
minimisation services to the residents and ratepayers of the District.   

In addition, the councils in the Waikato/BOP region will continue to work together to deliver 
the vision goals and objectives set out in this plan. 

3.2 Proposed activities 

Council proposes to address our waste issues through a combination of maintaining many of the 
existing services, improve some other services to better meet our waste minimisation objectives; 
and introduce some new initiatives (as funding allows).  

Further details on how these methods will be implemented are provided in the Action Plan 
overleaf. 

3.3 Considerations 

This Action Plan outlines high level intentions for actions to meet our obligations under the 
WMA. Further work may be required to determine the costs and feasibility of some projects, 
which may impact how, when or if they are implemented. Detailed assessments of some actions 
will be carried out prior to their implementation. 

In some instances, the delivery of the actions set out in this Action Plan will depend on the 
development or amendment of contractual arrangements with providers, or the availability of 
resources. The nature of these contractual arrangements cannot be pre-empted and may impact 
the nature, timing or cost of these projects. 

Proposed joint working and joint procurement of waste services may lead to efficiencies, 
allowing us to do more within our budgets. It will be up to each of the councils to determine 
whether they want to enter into shared service/joint procurement arrangements with any of the 
other councils. 

Therefore, exactly what services are delivered will ultimately depend on the outcomes of the 
procurement process.   

7 Waikato District Council 2018-2024 WMMP 
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3.4 Action Plan 

The following Action Plan sets out how Waikato District Council intends to work towards the vision, goals, and objectives outlined in this WMMP. It 
aims to set out clear, practical initiatives that the Council will implement, either on our own or jointly.  While the action plan forms part of the WMMP 
it is intended to be regularly updated to reflect current plans and progress.  Under the WMA the plans can be updated without triggering the need for 
a formal review of the WMMP, as long as the changes are not significant and do not alter the direction and intent of the WMMP. 

Theme Ref Activities 
Timeframe New or 

Existing 

Potential 
funding 

mechanism 
Objectives 

met 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Services 

1 Review funding model for council services to align with waste 
minimisation activities (including but not limited to contracting 
of solid waste services, kerbside refuse, inorganic collection, 
food waste and drop off collections). Plan Plan  Implement  Implement 

New Levy, Rates 1,2,3 

2 Assess the viability of other areas for kerbside services. Plan Implement New Rates 1,2,3 
3 Consider increasing the use of a social procurement approach 

to the procurement of waste services to achieve the objectives 
and targets of the WMMP. Ongoing 

New Rates 1,2,3,4 

4 Evaluate Raglan food waste service and assess suitability for 
expansion. Expand if suitable. Assess Plan Implement 

New Levy & Rates 
(TBC) 1,2,3 

5 Continue litter and illegal dumping services, while improving 
data collection in alignment with the Waste Data Framework. Ongoing 

Existing Rates 1,2,3 

6 Monitor, evaluate and manage council provided services and 
contractors to ensure they meet contractual obligations.  Ongoing 

Existing Rates 1,2,3 

7 Procure council services and waste related contracts as 
required, ensuring new contracts are in alignment with this 
WMMP and utilising a social procurement approach. Plan Implement 

Existing Rates 1,2,3 

Facilities 

8 Investigate the development of Resource Recovery facilities in 
the District, including in Huntly; and implement if feasible. This 
may be undertaken in partnership with other councils / 
community groups to provide synergy and efficiencies that align 
with the goals and objectives of this WMMP. Plan Implement 

New Levy & Rates 
(TBC) 1,2,3,4 

Data and 
Licensing 

9 Introduce a Solid Waste Bylaw & licensing system for operators 
and facilities, aligning with the regional template developed by 
Waikato Regional Council. Plan Implement 

New Levy & Rates 
(TBC) 1,2,3,4 

10 To support the introduction of a Waste Bylaw and licensing 
system; develop internal waste data collection and monitoring 
systems to enable waste data management in alignment with the 
Waste Data Framework. This may require internal changes to 
council roles and responsibilities to account for licensing 
management and enforcement as well as implementation of the 
activities in this WMMP. Plan Implement 

New Levy & Rates 
(TBC) 1,2,3,4 
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Ref      Activities Timeframe 

2018          2019             2020                2021   2022              2023     2024 

New or 
Existing 

Potential 
funding 

mechanism 
Objectives 

met 
11 Undertake Waste Compositional Audit every 3-6 years Plan + 

implement 
Plan + 
implement 

New Levy 1,2,3 

Event 
Waste 

Management 

12 Develop Event Waste Management Guidelines and promote to 
events in the district, including mandatory utilisation for events 
at Council facilities. This may be undertaken n in partnership 
with other councils. Planning Implement 

Existing Levy 1,2,3,4 

Behaviour 
Change 

13 Council will provide quality behaviour change programs focused 
on waste minimisation, and that support the goals and objectives 
of this WMMP.  Ongoing 

Existing Levy 1,2,3,4 

Partnerships 

14 Engage in regional cooperation including appointing a Regional 
Coordinator to assist with joint projects. Each Council would be 
responsible for own jurisdiction.  Ongoing 

Existing Levy 1,2,3,4,5 

15 Collaborate with Mana Whenua, community groups and private 
sector to investigate and implement opportunities to enhance 
economic development through resource recovery. Ongoing 

Existing Levy 1,2,3,4 

16 Work with business and industry organisations to identify key 
waste generators and assist businesses to reduce waste and 
increase recycling (potentially as a sub-regional project). Plan Implement 

New Levy 1,2,3,4 

17 Identify and support community and business champions in 
waste reduction and avoidance. Ongoing 

New Levy 1,2,3,4 

Grants 
18 Investigate introducing a Grants scheme (funded through the 

Waste Levy) for waste minimisation projects - this may be in the 
form of low interest loans and/or targeted grants.  Plan Implement 

New Levy 1,2,3,4 

Advocacy 
19 Advocate for effective product stewardship and regulation and 

support independent organisations advocating for similar 
outcomes. Ongoing 

New Levy 1,2,3,4,5 

Council 
Management 

20 Ensure that services provided by Council are in line with and 
promote current health and safety guidelines; and meet 
legislative obligations. Ongoing 

Existing Rates 1,2,3,4 

21 
Undertake Waste Assessment and develop and adopt 2024 - 
2030 WMMP (by June 2024). 

Plan + Implement 

Existing Levy & Rates 
(TBC) 1,2,3,4 

Table 3 Planned Activities 2018 - 2024 

Theme
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Part B: The challenge: Our waste 
The Waikato District generates an estimated 235,844 tonnes of waste each year (including farm 
waste). Of this approximately 52,182 tonnes are sent to landfill, 71,000 tonnes are diverted (to 
recycling or composting) and approximately 112,662 tonnes is farm waste disposed of via 
burning, burial or stock-piling on-farm.  This equates to around 0.75 tonnes (750 kg) of waste to 
landfill per person per year.  

Refuse volumes per capita appear to be increasing, with an estimated 47% increase since 2012, 
despite the implementation of activities set out in the 2012-2018 Waste Management and 
Minimisation Plan. However, much of this apparent increase will be related to differences in 
measuring data – as some waste streams were not included in 2012 figures.  While 2017 data is 
still of low quality, it is significantly better than data available in 2012. 

3.5 How much waste is disposed of to landfill? 

An estimated total of 52,182 tonnes of solid waste was disposed of to landfill from Waikato 
District in the 2016-17 year. Waste disposed of to landfills comprised 22% of the total, and was 
equivalent to approximately 0.75 tonne per person.  
This excludes waste to non-levied landfills, (as this amount is unknown) and waste disposed of at 
the privately owned North Waikato landfill at Hampton Downs (as this accepts waste 
overwhelmingly from outside of the District – with less than 0.4% of waste accepted being 
sourced within the District). 
The reliability of the estimates for different types of waste varies. Some waste to landfill data 
comes unverified from private waste operators, while other waste data and sludge tonnages have 
been provided by WDC staff or council contractors. 

Waste disposed of to land Tonnes % of total waste 
collected  

Tonnes/capita/annum 

Levied waste to Class 1 
landfills 

Council kerbside refuse 7,522 3.2% 0.11 

General waste to landfill 20,000 8% 0.29 

Special 60 0% 0.00 

Wastewater screenings 24,600 10% 0.35 

Total waste to landfill 52,182 22% 0.75 
Table 4 Estimated waste disposed of to landfill from the Waikato District 

Of the general waste to landfill, only 3.2% was related to council-controlled services. Kerbside 
refuse was 7,522 tonnes in 2016-17, an average of 110kg per capita per annum. As a proportion 
of total waste to landfill, kerbside refuse is only 14%. 
The average per capita rubbish generation appears to have been steadily increasing since 2012, 
from 0.51 to 0.75 t/per capita/ per annum (47% increase). 

3.6 How much are we diverting from landfill? 

Material that is recovered from landfill and re-used, recycled or composted is called ‘diverted 
material’. An estimated 57% of all waste collected (excluding farm waste) is estimated to be 
recycled or otherwise diverted - this drops to 30% of all waste is farm waste is included in the 
total waste generated. 
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Waste diverted from landfill Tonnes % of total diverted Tonnes/capita/annum 

Kerbside recycling 3,631 5% 0.05 

Other recycling or diversion 65,669 93% 0.94 

Composted 1,700 2% 0.02 

Total 71,000 100% 1.02 

Table 5 Waste diverted from landfill (estimated) 

Of the waste diverted from landfill, 5% was from council kerbside services and 92% from private 
facilities and services. Only 2% was composted in either council or private facilities.  

3.7 What difficulties do we face? 

The Waste Assessment used as a basis for this WMMP looked across all aspects of waste 
management in the District and identified the main areas where we could improve our 
effectiveness and efficiency in managing and minimising waste.   

3.7.1 Issues facing the Waikato District  

Issues identified during the development of this Waste Assessment are: 

• An increasing quantity of waste to landfill generated by the whole District

• The need to ensure effective and affordable provision of waste services

• Poor data quality and management
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• The potential for greater joint working in Council service delivery and regional and sub-
regional collaboration

• The potential for greater community partnership, engagement and understanding of
waste issues

• Insufficient resource recovery infrastructure in the District to meet future demand and
the aims and objectives of this WMMP

• Inconsistent infrastructure provision for resource recovery - while the Raglan area is
well serviced for resource recovery, other areas are lacking access to resource
recovery, reuse and repair facilities

• Variable commitment to waste minimisation from the private sector, with some private
waste operator activities being contrary to waste minimisation objectives

3.7.2 Regional and sub-regional issues 

Other significant issues have been identified where regional or sub-regional co-operation can 
improve outcomes, for example: 

• Data compatibility
There is a need to improve access to, quality and management of data.  Accessible,
reliable, nationally and regionally consistent data enables better decision making.

• Shared Services / Joint Working
There is likely to be unrealised potential for greater joint working in Council service
delivery to create efficiencies in service provision and / or infrastructure development.
Key to improving regional and sub-regional collaboration is the development of
compatible funding and management models across councils. Projects may include:

• Joint organic waste management measures
• Joint rural waste infrastructure
• Joint resource recovery infrastructure
• Joint litter and illegal dumping management measures or behaviour change

programmes
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Some waste streams have been identified as national or regional issues which the council has 
little control over, for example: 

• Cleanfills
There is a lack of good information about the number of cleanfills and the tonnages and
materials they accept. The ability to manage cleanfills better will require changes to
legislation.

• Producer responsibility
Waste streams such as E-Waste, agricultural chemicals and their containers; and tyres
require Central Government to activate product stewardship and other regulatory
mechanisms in order to achieve better waste management outcomes.

Council will use its influence, and work collaboratively with regional and national organisations to 
address these issues. 

3.7.3 Long term and global considerations 

While they do not immediately affect the District’s waste flows, international activities can have a 
big impact on New Zealand’s waste industry. 

Much of the recycling collected in New Zealand is exported to Asia, particularly China. China 
has in recent years tightened measures around the acceptance of recycled materials, requiring a 
higher standard of recycled product in order to gain approval for import into China.  

Restrictions on the acceptance of recyclable material may mean changes to collection and sorting 
methodologies in order to achieve export standards. This may impact the costs associated with 
recycling. 

Also, of concern are the effects of climate change and rising unrest in many countries. 
International conflict has the potential to disrupt recycling supply chains. As New Zealand has 
few processing facilities for kerbside recyclables, we are vulnerable should export markets be 
disrupted. 

3.7.4 National waste situation and activities 

The 2010 New Zealand Waste Strategy: Reducing Harm, Improving Efficiency (NZWS) is the 
Government’s core document concerning waste management and minimisation in New Zealand.   

The two goals of the NZWS are: 

1. Reducing the harmful effects of waste

2. Improving the efficiency of resource use

The NZWS provides high-level, flexible direction to guide the use of the legislation, regulation 
and conventions related to the management and minimisation of waste in New Zealand.   

As per section 44 of the WMA we have given regard to the NZWS when preparing their 
WMMP. 

Two national projects have also been taken into consideration. These are intended to assist 
Councils, business and the public to adopt waste management and minimisation principles in a 
consistent fashion. 

a) National Waste Data Framework Project (NWDF)

The National Waste Data Framework (NWDF) project intends to develop national guidelines 
for the collection and use of waste data and information. The goals and activities in this WMMP 
aim to align our data collection and use with the NWDF. 
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b) National Standardisation of Colours for Bins

Until recently, councils and businesses in New Zealand had used a variety of colours to indicate 
what waste streams can be placed in what bins. This had the potential to create confusion among 
residents and increase the likelihood of contamination.  

There is now a standardised set of colours for mobile recycling and rubbish bins, crates and 
internal office bins. The Waikato District will align to these standardised colours with council 
provided services, and we will encourage private collectors to do the same. 

3.7.5  Regional/Sub-regional issues and opportunities: 

Significant issues where national, regional or sub-regional co-operation is likely to improve 
outcomes for councils have been identified as: 

a) Shared responsibility for waste / product stewardship

The Waste Minimisation Act 2008 places the greatest responsibility for minimising and managing 
waste on to local councils. However, councils only control a small part of the waste stream and 
in order to achieve significant waste minimisation other parties need to share the responsibility. 

In particular: 

• Manufacturers and distributors of products have the ability to control end-of-life waste
at the design and manufacturing stages of the product life-cycle.

• Organisations responsible for product or service provision need to plan for the
associated waste requirements at end-of-life e.g. agricultural chemical companies
collecting old chemicals for appropriate disposal.

• Regional Council and Central Government have the ability to enforce regulations around
appropriate storage and disposal of key materials e.g. tyres.

• Central Government has the ability to implement regulatory mechanisms to control key
waste streams at a national level e.g. product stewardship schemes for waste tyres,
agricultural chemicals, e-waste; or other regulation such as bottle deposit schemes.

Council will have greater influence achieving shared waste responsibility, regulation or product 
stewardship by presenting a unified voice and working with other responsible organisations 
including Central Government, Regional Councils, Local Authority Shared Service (LASS), 
Regional Special Interest Groups (SIG’s), industry groups, DHBs and the community. 

b) Consistent education and engagement

Providing consistent messaging across the region will support education and behaviour change 
outcomes. As communities often cross district and city boundaries, consistent education and 
engagement messages are more effective if implemented over a wider area.  

Particular issues in this area include: 

• A community lack of knowledge on how to minimise waste, what materials can be
recycled, and what services are available for recycling.

• A lack of co-ordination between industry groups, regional council, local councils and
waste service providers in the provision of waste messaging and infrastructure/service
provision.

• A lack of markets for reclaimed materials. Although some waste materials can be
recovered, there may not be a market for the end product. The barriers to market
development have not been identified, and therefore it is not clear where efforts could
be focused to remove barriers, promote markets for recycled products to consumers
and therefore increase the value of recoverable waste materials.
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c) Infrastructure capacity

There are gaps in our knowledge of what waste infrastructure will be required regionally in the 
future, and whether there will be sufficient capacity for future demand. This is particularly 
relevant if additional services are likely to be developed (e.g. food waste, landfills or transfer 
stations). 

Waste infrastructure planning may need to start 10 or 20 years prior to requirements and is 
likely to have a high cost associated with development. Therefore, identifying future 
requirements is a key issue and it is important to identify what may be needed, who may be 
involved in supplying the infrastructure (public vs private) and the potential funding mechanisms 
for any facilities (e.g. landfills). 

In order for facilities to be financially viable in the long term a minimum volume of material is 
often required. Smaller councils may not be able to guarantee such volumes, making local 
facilities financially unviable. Regional development of infrastructure may enable sufficient volume 
of material to achieve viability. 

d) Inconsistent services and data hinder joint working and shared services

While councils in the Waikato and Bay of Plenty area generally recognise that collaboration and 
developing shared services may lead to improved outcomes and cost savings in service provision, 
variability in services and data capture can hinder joint working. 

For example, a sub-regional and regional contract for a waste service could potentially return 
costs savings to all participating councils. However, across the region councils may have different 
methods of provision (council provided vs private services), containers (bags vs wheelie bins vs 
crates), collection frequencies (weekly vs fortnightly) and different funding mechanisms (user 
pays vs rates funded). Similarly identifying regional waste volumes can be challenging as different 
councils collect data and information on different waste streams, using variable methodologies. 

Aligning services and data is not an activity that can occur quickly, due to the length of some 
waste contracts. However, a long-term aim to align services would assist in this process. 
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3.8 Tangata whenua worldview of waste management 

Our tangata whenua seek to ensure that waste management is best practice and manages the 
social, cultural, spiritual, economic, and environmental effects of waste. This Waste Management 
and Minimisation Plan is in alignment with this view.  

3.9 How do we know all this? 

This Waste Management and Minimisation Plan is based on a Waste Assessment (WA) 
completed in February 2018. A WA is a snapshot of waste flows, volumes, services and facilities 
provided by both Council and private operators.  
The development of a Waste Assessment is a legislative requirement under Section 50 of the 
Waste Minimisation Act 2008 (WMA). The Waste Assessment sets out the information 
necessary to identify the key issues and priority actions that will be included in the WMMP.   
The 2018 Waste Assessment is attached in Appendix 3 and details: 

• a description of the collection, recycling, recovery, treatment, and disposal services
provided within the district

• a forecast of future demands
• a statement of options
• a statement of the council’s intended role in meeting demands
• a statement of the council’s proposals for meeting the forecast demands
• a statement about the extent to which the proposals will protect public health, and

promote effective and efficient waste management and minimisation.

The Waste Assessment also sets out more detail on the plans, policies and legislation we have 
taken into account in the development of this WMMP. 

4.0 How well did we do in the last WMMP? 

The lack of accurate data from private waste operators makes it difficult to assess the exact 
quantities of waste – both during the development of the first WMMP and the development of 
the 2018 WMMP.  
Indications are that per capita waste to landfill volumes have increased by approximately 47% 
compared to 2012. While kerbside refuse has decreased in some council areas, the overall trend 
for councils and private services combined is an increase. 
Recyclable material recovered appears to have increased from 0.03 per capita to 0.05 – a 67% 
increase compared to 2012.  The increase in recyclable material is likely to be a result of a 
combination of low estimates in 2012 and a genuine increase in recyclable recovery as markets 
have opened and private operators have moved to take advantage of these opportunities. 
For both waste to landfill and diverted materials, 2012 figures were estimates based on audits 
and regional reports, whereas 2017 figures are based on data obtained via voluntarily provision 
from operators. In addition, 2017, some waste streams were included in the assessment, which 
were not included in 2012.  

4.1 Future demand 

The factors likely to impact future demand for waste minimisation and management include: 
• Overall population growth
• Economic activity
• Changes in lifestyle and consumption
• Changes in waste management approaches
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In general, the factors that have the greatest influence on potential demand for waste and 
resource recovery services are population and household growth, construction and demolition 
activity, economic growth, and changes in the collection service or recovery of materials.   
The population of Waikato District is projected to grow 27.5% by 2033, with 22.2% of the 
population aged over 65 years of age by that time (compared to 12.2% in 2013). 
This population change, along with expected economic growth, are likely to drive moderate 
increases in the amount of waste generated, but no dramatic shifts are expected.  
The biggest changes in relation to waste demand are likely to come through changes within the 
waste industry, with economic and policy drivers leading to increased waste diversion and waste 
minimisation. 

In order to achieve effective and efficient waste management and minimisation, an assessment of 
what could change and what services and facilities would be needed was undertaken as part of 
the 2017 Waste Assessment. The following potential issues for the Waikato District were 
identified: 

• Insufficient systems in place for obtaining waste data from private operators in the
District

• Increasing population affecting waste streams and waste reduction messaging
• Infrastructure to manage increased quantities and some waste streams may be

insufficient to meet future demand
• Potential for improved services targeting the rural sector and construction and

demolition waste
• Opportunities for improved sub-regional, regional and national collaboration to achieve

reduction and minimisation of waste
• Insufficient leadership from central government to address national waste issues
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The Actions in this WMMP are anticipated to address these issues and meet future demand for 
waste services and facilities, to the extent possible within regional, national and international 
influences; and while ensuring effective and efficient use of council funds. 

5.0 Funding the plan 

The Waste Minimisation Act 2008 (s43) (WMA) requires that the Council includes information 
about how the implementation of this Plan will be funded, as well as information about any grants 
made and expenditure of waste levy funds. 

5.1 Funding local actions 

There are a range of options available to local councils to fund the activities set out in this plan. 
These include: 

• Uniform Annual General Charge (UAGC) - a charge that is paid by all ratepayers
• User Charges - includes charges for user-pays services as well as transfer station gate

fees2

• Targeted rates - a charge applied to those properties receiving a particular council
service

• Waste levy funding - The Government redistributes funds from the $10 per tonne waste
levy to local authorities on a per capita basis.  By law 50% of the money collected
through the levy must be returned to councils.  This money must be applied to waste
minimisation activities

• Waste Minimisation Fund - Most of the remaining 50% of the levy money collected is
redistributed to specific projects approved by the Ministry for the Environment.  Anyone
can apply to the WMF for funding for projects

• Sale of recovered materials - The sale of recovered materials can be used to help offset
the cost of some initiatives

• Private sector funding - The private sector may undertake to fund/supply certain waste
minimisation activities, for example in order to look to generate income from the sale of
recovered materials etc.  Council may look to work with private sector service
providers where this will assist in achieving the WMMP goals.

Funding considerations take into account a number factors including: 

• Prioritising harmful wastes;
• Waste minimisation and reduction of residual waste to landfill;
• Full-cost pricing - ‘polluter pays’;
• Public good vs. private good component of a particular service;
• That the environmental effects of production, distribution, consumption and disposal of

goods and services should be consistently costed, and charged as closely as possible to
the point they occur to ensure that price incentives cover all costs;

• Protection of public health;
• Affordability; and cost effectiveness.

The potential sources of funding for each of the actions are noted in the tables on pages 8-9 of 
the WMMP.  Budgets to deliver the activities set out in this plan will be carefully developed 
through our Annual Plan and Long-Term Plan processes.  The approach taken will be to 
implement as many of the activities as possible while controlling costs and, where possible, taking 

2 Most councils in the region own transfer stations and or landfills and are able to set the fees at these facilities and can derive income 
from these activities. In accordance with s46 (2) of the Act, the Councils can charge fees for a facility that are higher or lower than 
required to recover the costs to provide the service, providing the incentives or disincentives will promote waste minimisation. 
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advantage of cost savings and efficiencies.  It is anticipated that by setting appropriate user 
charges, reducing costs through avoided disposal, more efficient service delivery from joint 
working, and targeted application of waste levy money, the increased levels of waste 
minimisation as set out in this WMMP will be able to be achieved without overall additional 
increases to the average household cost. 

5.2 Funding regional, sub-regional and national actions 

There are a range of waste issues that make sense to collaborate on at a sub-regional, regional 
or national level where efficiencies can be made through collaborative funding. These include: 

• Regionally aligned data collection and reporting systems
• Regionally compatible funding and management models
• Regional consolidation and analysis of data
• Delivery of sub regional, regional, national education initiatives
• Development of regionally consistent bylaws
• Monitoring, reporting, and coordination of regional efforts including the development of

future Waste Assessments and WMMPs
• Investigation of regional and sub-regional projects e.g. Joint organic waste management

measures; infrastructure; joint litter & illegal dumping management measures or
behaviour change programmes

Each Council will provide funding towards agreed regional projects through their Annual and 
Long-Term Plans. Delivery of each regional project and management of associated regional 
project budgets will be the responsibility of Waikato Regional Council or a Project Lead Council, 
who will have agreed guidelines for oversight of the project and responsibility for spending. 

Projects will be chosen based on an agreed criterion for funding of regional initiatives. 
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5.3 Waste levy funding 

Council receives, based on population, a share of national waste levy funds from the Ministry for 
the Environment. It is estimated that at the current rate of $10 per tonne our council’s total 
share of waste levy funding will be approximately $255,184 per annum.  

The WMA requires that all waste levy funding received by Councils must be spent on matters to 
promote waste minimisation and in accordance with their WMMP.   

Waste levy funds can be spent on ongoing waste minimisation services, new services, or an 
expansion of existing services.  The funding can be used on education and communication, 
services promoting and advocating for waste minimisation, policy research and reporting, to 
provide grants, to support contract costs, or as infrastructure capital. 

We intend to use our waste levy funds for a range of waste minimisation activities and services 
as set out in the Action Plan – including participating in regional, sub-regional and national 
activities.   

In addition, we may make an application for contestable waste levy funds from the Waste 
Minimisation Fund, either separately, with other Councils, or with another party. The Waste 
Minimisation Fund provides additional waste levy funds for waste minimisation activities. 

6.0 Monitoring evaluating and reporting progress 

The Waikato District Council Infrastructure Committee will oversee the development and 
implementation of the WMMP.  The Committee is scheduled to meet seven times per year, or 
more frequently as required. Review of progress and decision making in respect to the WMMP 
and its implementation will be considered by the Committee as required. Approval for projects 
with budget implications may be considered at full council meetings. 

Two of the actions will contribute to the development of a set of standard indicators for 
reporting purposes. These are: 

• Introduce a Solid Waste Bylaw and licensing system for operators and facilities, aligning with
the regional template developed by Waikato Regional Council

• Introduce a waste data collection and monitoring system for council services that is in
alignment with the Waste Data Framework and in alignment with the licensing system

Specific metrics for each action will be developed and agreed as part of their implementation. 
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Part C: Supporting information 
Supporting information for the WMMP , including a glossary of terms, is contained in 

the Waste Assessment document.
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For internal use only 

ECM Project # ………………………. 

ECM set # …………………………… 

Submission # ………………………… 

Customer # ………………………….. 

Property # …………………………… 

 

 

 

Proposed 2018-2024 Waikato District Council Waste Management and Minimisation Plan 

(WMMP) 

Submission form  Please provide your feedback by 23 May 2018 

Name/Organisation ………………………………………………………………………………………………... 

Physical address       …………………………………………………………………………………………………... 

Postal address           …………………………………………………………………… Postcode…………………  

Email  …………………………………………… Phone………………………………………….. 

A hearing will be held on 13 June 2018 

Do you want to speak about your submission at this hearing?          Yes            No 

Preferred method of contact                 Email           Post 

Ethnicity (optional)   ………………………………………….......... 

Do you support the proposed WMMP 2018 - 2024?          Yes              No 

 

The Waikato District Council 2018 WMMP intends to focus on the avoidance, reduction and minimisation of waste, and we will 

make use of opportunities created from resource recovery. 

The draft WMMP sets out Goals, Objectives and Targets to guide us towards waste avoidance, reduction and recovery. We 

intend to continue kerbside and other council services (such as litter and illegal dumping collections); and additional activities are 

also detailed, and will be carried forward into our long term and annual plans to ensure the resourcing is available to deliver on 

our plan. 

Do you support our proposed Vision and Targets? 

Vision 
Tick your view 

Oppose Support 

 

Zero waste and resource recovery are an integral part of our community. 
  

Targets 
Tick your view 

Oppose Support 

By 2024, decrease the tonnes/capita/annum of rubbish to land (i.e. total rubbish disposed of via 

landfill and/or on-farm waste) from the Waikato District by 5% compared to 2016-17  
  

By 2024, increase the tonnes/capita/annum of diverted material from the Waikato District by 10% 

compared to 2016-17  
  

By 2024, reduce the per capita kerbside rubbish to landfill by 5% compared to 2016-17   

By 2024, increase per capita kerbside diverted material by 10%  compared to 2016-17   
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Do you support the key activities proposed in the draft WMMP? 

As well as continuing kerbside and other council services (litter and illegal dumping collections), proposed activities include: 

 a review of waste services and behaviour change programmes 

 the development of new recycling centres 

 the introduction of a Solid Waste Bylaw and a waste operator licensing system 

 greater co-operation with other councils, Mana Whenua, community groups and the private sector 

 advocating for greater central government leadership on waste issues such as the introduction of mandatory product 

stewardship and a container deposit scheme 

Key activities proposed in the draft 2018-2024 WMMP 
Tick your view 

Oppose Support 

Review the funding model for council services to align with waste minimisation 

activities; including assessing the viability of other areas for kerbside services. 
 

This means we will review our current services to make sure they meet the goals of our WMMP. 

This review may result in changes to the way services are delivered but we will consult with the 

public on any proposed changes before we introduce them (including, but not limited to, 

contracting of solid waste services, kerbside refuse service, inorganic collection, food waste and 
drop off collections). 

  

Consider increasing the use of a social procurement approach where appropriate for 

procurement of waste services to achieve the objectives and targets of the WMMP.  
 

Social procurement uses procurement procedures and purchasing power to create positive 

environmental and social outcomes (job creation, waste minimisation, new business opportunities 

using waste materials). 

  

Investigate the development of resource recovery facilities, and implement if feasible. 

This may be undertaken in partnership with other councils / community groups. 

 

We currently support a resource recovery facility in Raglan. This activity means we will look into 

developing new resource recovery facilities but only progress with development when we are 

sure a facility is feasible and beneficial to the community. 

  

Introduce a Solid Waste Bylaw & licensing system for operators and facilities, aligning 
with the regional template developed by council. 
 

This will help control commercial waste flows and understand what is happening to waste in the 

District. 

  

We will partner with and cooperate with others to meet waste goals and targets. 
 

This can potentially provide opportunities to enhance economic development through resource 

recovery; enable WDC to work with business and industry organisations to identify key waste 

generators and assist businesses to reduce waste and increase recycling. 

  

Advocate for effective product stewardship and regulation and support independent 

organisations advocating for similar outcomes. 
 

Waste streams such as E-Waste, packaging, plastic bags, agricultural chemicals and their 

containers; and tyres require central government to activate product stewardship and other 

regulatory mechanisms to achieve better waste management outcomes. We propose WDC will 

use its influence, and work collaboratively with regional and national organisations to address 

these issues. 

  

 

Do you have any other comments on the draft 2018-2024 WMMP? 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Gavin Ion  

Chief Executive  
Date 27 April 2018 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
DWS Document Set # NCB2017; GOV0508 

Report Title Ngaruawahia Works and Issues Report 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
To update the Community Board on issues arising from the previous meeting and on 
contracts and projects underway in Ngaruawahia. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the Chief Executive be received. 

3. ATTACHMENTS 
 Issues Report 
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REPORT 
 

Issue Area Action 

1 Patterson Park netball courts – the courts have been resealed 
but the surface is not level, as they are used by four netball 
clubs this needs to be addressed prior to the winter. 
The work has been completed and the issue of an un-level 
surface remains. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service 
Delivery 

August 2017 
Original topography survey of the netball courts (which 
design was based on) showed a number of height 
inconsistencies between 10mm and 50mm over the area of 
the court. The surface was uneven and there was no level fall 
over the length of the court. The original court surface had 
large depressions where water would pond.  
 
Now the courts are designed and constructed to have a 0.5% 
grade to allow water to run off.  This has improved the 
surface of the courts and reduced the amount of ponding 
significantly. 
 
September 2017 
Photos of Patterson Park Courts received from Kiri Morgan 
August 23rd and awaiting a response.  
 
November 2017 
The Long Term Plan held an allocation for the upgrade of the 
Ngaruawahia Netball Courts of $180,236. 
 
Staff approached the project by determining what type of 
upgrade could be accommodated within that budget 
allocation.  
 
Staff assessed two options: 
 
1. Reshape and reseal court to improve drainage, replace 

nets, hoops signs etc. 
2. Full NZ Netball specification rebuild, plus replace nets, 

hoops, signs etc. 
 
Assessment of costs for each option was completed by an 
external consultant. The costs for meeting NZ Netball 
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Issue Area Action 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

specification was excessive and would exceed budget (est. by 
Waikato District Alliance is approximately $300,000 total 
project cost). The cost for option one fell inside budget and 
was completed at a total cost of $152,000.  
 
The courts have been shaped as best as possible to shed 
water during rainfall events. Staff will continue to inspect 
through rainfall events to ensure that site drainage is effective 
and operating as expected. Staff are also happy to meet with 
netball club/teams representatives and discuss options moving.  
 
A full copy of the consultant review and as built drawings are 
attached for information. 
 
December 
A site meeting has been organised for early December with Kiri 
Morgan. Mark Janssen and Tim Harty. 
 
February 
Mark Jansen and Jacki Remihana will be having an on-site 
meeting with Kiri Morgan on 13 March.   
 
May 
On-site meeting was held on 22 March, issues were discussed.    
 

2 Major H&S issue: Roading to review safety of River Road from 
70km sign to Duke Street. 

1) Islands 
2) Signage 
3) Speed 
4) Lighting (corner Great South Road and River Road 

intersection) 
5) Tyre truck parked near the corner of River Road and 

Great South Road. 
 
 

Service 
Delivery 

The Safety Engineer has visited the site and investigated the 
speed data from traffic counts. The Safety Engineer reports that 
the operating speed is below the posted speed limit, however 
he notes that there are some vehicles that exceed the limit. 
Lighting and signage is reported as adequate and functional and 
meets requirements, however additional speed limit repeater 
signs are recommended in the section adjacent to the school. 
The safety engineer notes that the section of River road 
adjacent to the school has a high number of school children 
crossing and may warrant a school activated warning sign, this 
will be investigated further. 
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Issue Area Action 

 
 
 
 
 

1, 2, 3, 4: 
Community Board maintain that this is not safe. A member has 
requested that roading consider that the safety engineer does a 
night time assessment and also look at painting the front side of 
the islands in white paint, or at the least a waterblast. Could 
roading confirm if this could be looked at over the coming 
month? 
 

 
The Safety Engineer, as well as Council Monitoring staff have 
undertaken site visits to observe the truck noted, however, on 
those visits the truck was not present. We will continue to 
monitor this. 
 
The Road Safety Engineer will undertake a night time 
assessment within 14 days and report back to the Board on the 
findings. 
 
February 2018 
The Safety Engineer undertook a night time inspection in 
December 2017. The lighting levels comply with standards for 
that road.  Some of the median islands require white paint on the 
kerb noses and this has been requested to be undertaken during 
the next cyclic run. 
 
May 2018 
Works are completed.   
 

3 Memorial Hall Refurbishment  
 

 Ngaruawahia Community Board are stakeholders within this 
project and will be reported back to as part of the project 
updates.   
 
Project Manager is Samantha Frederick who has already met 
with James Whetu in a preliminary meeting.   
 
May 2018 
Assessments of the Ngaruawahia Memorial Hall are being 
carried out as part of the pre-work for the refurbishment; to 
ensure required works relating to any potential asbestos or 
seismic factors are being considered to avoid double handling at 
a later date.  A more thorough update will be provided to the 
steering group in May. 
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Issue Area Action 

4 Information Board – Jesmond Street, Ngaruawahia   The information board outside the old Pharo’s Post and Lotto 
shop has been badly vandalised.  The cost to replace the 
information board is likely to cost in the vicinity of $2,000.   
 
As there are already two other information boards in the centre 
of town, staff need a decision on whether to repair or remove 
the vandalised information board. 
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Gavin Ion  

Chief Executive 
Date 27 February 2018 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
DWS Document Set # GOV0508 

Report Title Ngaruawahia Community Board Resolution/Action 
Register 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
To update the Ngaruawahia Community Board Resolution/Action Register. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report of the Chief Executive be received. 

3. ATTACHMENTS 

Project Action required 
Refer 

to 
Up-

dated 
Action 

1 

Beautifying the 
Riverbank  

[NCB03/23/10] 

 

A pontoon on Waipa 
River in relation to 
launching canoes 
particularly for the 
Waipa School 

Ngaruawahia 
Community Plan ‘Clean 
up the river and 
riverbanks’.  Planting on 
River Road side. 

 

A pontoon on Waipa 
river is suggested to 
enable Waipa Primary 
students and the wider 
community access to 
the river for waka-ama 
and other water sports. 

SD 

 

 

 

 

NCB 

1 June 
2017 

 

 

 

1 May 
2017 

 

This work has been completed.  

 

 

 

This project is not funded in the LTP and 
therefore the Community Board will 
need to look for other funding sources. 

2 
Green Belt 
[NCB1304/06/6] 

Investigate proposed 
green belt around 
township.   

S&S 
1 June 
2017 

A green belt is an area of open land 
around a city or town on which building 
is restricted. Rules in the District Plan 
help ensure that fragmentation of the 
rural land around Ngaruawahia 
township is avoided, thus providing a 
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Project Action required 
Refer 

to 
Up-

dated 
Action 

rural interface at the town’s northern 
entrance that supports this green belt 
concept. District plan rules ensure 
residential growth occurs within defined 
zones. 

3 
Centennial Park toilet 
[NCB1302/06/8] 

Installation of toilet SD 
1 May 
2017 

A report is being presented to the NCB 
on placement of this facility.   

 

February 2018 (Following the meeting) 

Project is underway, once scope is 
confirrmed it will come back to the 
Ngaruawhia Community Board with an 
update.   

May 2018  

Project is underway with project 
manager appointed, scope is 
confirmed.  Will go to market for a 2 
pan unisex toilet (one being accessible), 
2 change rooms and a storage room for 
the Ngaruawahia United Football club.” 

4 Wedding Quarry  

Wedding Quarry – 
over spraying of the 
quarry appears to be 
causing erosion and is 
visually unpleasant, is 
there anything that can 
be done about this? 

CS 
1 

August 
2015 

Council is unable to undertake any 
formal action for activity. There is no 
breach of the District Plan. We 
understand that it is for weed control 
purposes and is authorised by Waikato 
Regional Council. 

Slip noted and followed up via Works 
and Issues report. 

August 2017 – this is WRC issue and 
can’t be progressed by NCB. 

5 Adult fitness trail 

The adult fitness trail 
would install fitness 
equipment on a suitable 
site to encourage adults 
to exercise as part of 
the cycle way and the 
Hakarimata stairs. 

SD 
Feb 

2018 

$10K granted from the Community 
Wellbeing Trust. Awaiting further 
funding and council advice on suitable 
sites. The Te Awa cycleway is 
recommended by parks and facilities as 
a suitable site for the proposed fitness 
trail. Wendy Diamond provided update 
at NCB workshop. 

 

13/06/2017 - $40K received from WEL 
Energy Trust. 

 

February 2018 – Comms to make 
contact with Wendy to understand how 
Council can support and promote this 
initiative.   
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Project Action required 
Refer 

to 
Up-

dated 
Action 

 

May – Project completed.   

 

6 
Te Mana o Te Rangi 
Reserve development  

The beautification of 
the old dump site to 
enable recreational 
enjoyment and to 
comply with the landfill 
aftercare management 
plan. 

SD 
16 

March 
2017 

Board have been through consultation 
and will put project forward as LTP item. 

7 
The Point – photo 
frame  

The Youth Action 
Group is investigating 
the opportunity to 
erect a giant photo 
frame at The Point. 

S&S 
9 May 
2017 

Embrace the Future (ETF) have made 
contact with WDC Iwi Liaison to ensure 
that ETF are not crossing any cultural 
and sacred boundaries. Are awaiting 
response. ETF have approved initial 
design for community consultation and 
have engaged with Community 
Development Coordinator to initiate the 
Placemaking process for this. 

 

9/05/2017 – Youth Action Group advise 
the project is on hold until further 
notice. 

 

13/06/2017 - The Community Board 
continue to support and encourage the 
Youth Group to move this forward.  

 

February 2018 – The Community Baord 
are encouring the Youth Group to 
continue with this project.  Kiri Morgan 
has taken a lead in this space to 
support Cory.   

 

March 2018 – To recommence next 
year.   

8. The Point  

Concerns about the 
Squash Club, Rowing 
Club & Dog Sheds – 
conditions, appearance 
& upkeep. The NCB 
are asking for the 
details of the lease 
conditions and 
arrangements in place. 
 

  

August 2017 
The Point is currently undergoing a 
draft management plan process where 
all leases are being considered, and 
during this process all expired and 
current leases will look to be aligned.  
This will include the way that repairs 
and maintenance are carried out for 
those buildings that Council own (the 
kennel club) and those that we do not 
(the squash and rowing clubs).  In the 
meantime, the property maintenance 
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Project Action required 
Refer 

to 
Up-

dated 
Action 

team will review the buildings with a 
view to determining what, if anything 
requires immediate attention while the 
management plan process continues. 
 
September 2017 
After looking into the leases of the 
occupants at The Point, and discussions 
with the wider Parks and Facilities unit, 
conversations regarding the recently 
commenced Reserve Management 
Plan process for The Point were 
raised.  The Reserve Management Plan 
has been out for its initial public 
consultation round which closed 7th 
July 2017. The Reserves Planner is now 
working through integrating the key 
themes from the first round and it will 
go out for a second round according to 
Strategy as soon as this has happened.  
 
 
November 2017 
Until the Reserve Management Plan is 
finalised there will be no changes to 
the agreements or current occupation. 
The Reserve Management Plan may 
have effect on those occupants and it 
is unreasonable to expect the 
occupants to outlay costs with no 
guarantee of occupation following the 
Reserve Management Plan coming into 
effect. 
 
The draft Reserve Management Plan 
for The Point is due to be completed by 
the end of January 2018. It will then 
go out for public consultation after 
approval from the 2018 February 
Council meeting. A presentation will be 
made to the February Community 
Board meeting.  Consultation would be 
over February-April 2018 period, 
review submissions in April-May, 
hearings if required in May, final plan 
will go back to Council for adoption in 
June-July 2018.  The Board will be kept 
informed of progress.   
 
February 2018 
Staff are meeting with the Chair of the 
Community Board this month to discuss 
the draft Reserve Management Plan for 
The Point. The process and timeframes 
will be agreed post this discussion to 
ensure the draft  plan addresses the 
initial issues/concerns from the 
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Project Action required 
Refer 

to 
Up-

dated 
Action 

community.  
 
February 2018 (Following the meeting) 
Staff met with Chair of community board 
to discuss initial issues/concerns and 
have noted these for the draft RMP.  
Chair has asked for the final Draft RMP 
to go to the community board for 
discussion and endorsement  before it 
goes out for Public consultation.  
Staff will work with the Chair to get it on 
a future agenda once the final draft plan 
has incorporated this initial feedback.  
 

9. 
Princess Street Level 
Crossing 

Princess Street level 
crossing – uneven and 
repair likely to fail.  
 
Have staff managed to 
contact Kiwirail?  
 

  

Staff have tried contacting Kiwirail on 
two occasions regarding the defects 
and are awaiting a response. 
 
December 2017 
Kiwirail consider the crossing to be 
adequate.  Staff continue to discuss the 
matter with Kiwirail and monitor the 
crossing. 
 

10
. 

Ngaruawahia Town 
Clock    

The town clock has had a lot of water 
damage to the electronics and drive 
mechanism. The clock needs to be 
removed and refurbished. An inspection 
has been completed and staff are 
awaiting a quote from the contractor.  
 
November 2017 
Community Board want staff to be 
aware and vigilant when working on this 
site as it is believes a time capsule is  still 
buried beneath the clock – please 
acknowledge this is part of the project 
planning. 
Staff are only looking at replacing the 
clock not the structure. 
 
March 2018 
Council approved the purchase of the 
town clock.   
 
May 2018 
Clock has been ordered, delivery time 
will be approximately six weeks.  
Installation time will be confirmed once 
delivery has been made.   
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Open Meeting 
 

To Ngaruawahia Community Board 
From Tony Whittaker 

General Manager Strategy & Support 
Date 26 April 2018 

Prepared by Sharlene Jenkins 
PA to General Manager Strategy & Support 

Chief Executive Approved Y 
Reference/Doc Set # GOV0508 

Report Title Year to Date Service Request Report 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
To update the Board on the Year to Date Service Request Report to 31 March 2018. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT the report from the General Manager Strategy & Support be received. 

3. ATTACHMENTS 
 
Year to Date Service Request Report for Ngaruawahia Community Board 
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The success rate excludes Open Calls as outcome is not yet known. 4/26/2018 1:07:12 PM

Service Request Time Frames By Ward for NGA
31/03/2018Date Range: 01/01/2018  to 
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Closed Calls are 
those calls logged 
during the time 
period that are now 
closed.

Open Calls are all the calls 
open for the ward and may 
have been logged at any time.

Number of 
Calls

Open 
Calls Over

Open 
Calls 
Under

Closed 
Calls Over

Closed 
Calls 
Under

Success 
Rate

Summary 4 3 1 25.00%
Economic Development 
Service Requests 4 3 1 25.00%

Summary 198 1 11 5 181 97.31%
Animal Charges 50 2 48 96.00%
Dog / Cat Trap Required 2 2 NaN
Dog Property Visit 23 1 1 21 100.00%
Dog Straying - Current 40 1 1 38 97.44%
Dog Straying - Historic 14 2 12 100.00%
Dog Surrender 8 8 100.00%
Dog Welfare - Immediate 
threat to life 2 2 100.00%

Dog Welfare - Not immediate 
threat to life 6 6 100.00%

Dog/Animal Missing 15 15 100.00%
Dogs Aggression - Current 10 1 9 90.00%
Dogs Aggression - Historic 6 1 5 83.33%
Dogs Barking Nuisance 18 5 13 100.00%
Livestock Trespassing - 
Current 4 4 100.00%

Summary 13 3 1 6 3 33.33%
Building Inspection Service 
Requests 13 3 1 6 3 33.33%

Summary 1 1 NaN
Existing resource consents 1 1 NaN

Summary 16 4 1 3 8 72.73%
Compliance - Animal By Law 2 2 100.00%

Compliance - Unauthorised 
Activity 11 4 1 6 100.00%

Compliance - Urban Fire 
Hazard (Dry conds only) 2 2 0.00%

Illegal parking 1 1 0.00%

Summary 298 19 35 244 87.46%
Onsite Services 16 4 3 9 75.00%
Planning Process 48 6 6 36 85.71%
Property Information Request 71 3 1 67 98.53%
Rural Rapid Number 
assignment & purchase of 
plates

4 4 100.00%

Zoning and District Plan 
Enquiries 159 6 25 128 83.66%

Summary 1 1 NaN
Trimming of vegetation - Urban 1 1 NaN

Compliance - Fire 
Permits

Compliance 
Service Requests

Consent Enquiries

DNU - Parks 
Reserves and 
Facilities

Open Closed

Administration

Animal Control

Building Inspection 
Service Requests
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Summary 140 2 4 6 128 95.52%
Environmental Health 
Complaint 8 2 6 100.00%

Noise Complaint - 
Environmental Health 5 2 3 100.00%

Noise complaints straight to 
contractor 127 2 6 119 95.20%

Summary 132 2 12 118 90.77%
Rates query 132 2 12 118 90.77%

Summary 84 3 11 15 55 78.57%
Parks & Reserves - Buildings 19 1 9 9 50.00%

Parks & Reserves - Council 
owned land 5 3 2 40.00%

Parks & Reserves - Graffiti 3 3 100.00%
Parks & Reserves - Lake 
Access 7 3 4 NaN

Parks & Reserves - Park 
Furniture 1 1 0.00%

Parks & Reserves - Reserve 
Issues 46 6 2 38 95.00%

Parks & Reserves - Urgent 
Public Toilet Issues 3 3 100.00%

Summary 26 3 2 21 91.30%
Recycling Not Collected 3 1 2 66.67%
Refuse - Non-Collection 7 1 1 5 83.33%
Refuse & Recycling Contractor 
Complaints 3 1 2 100.00%

Refuse & Recycling Enquiries 4 1 3 100.00%

Rubbish bag sticker/tag orders - 
internal use only 9 9 100.00%

Summary 92 13 18 61 77.22%
Footpath Maintenance - 
Non_Urgent 4 1 3 100.00%

New Vehicle Entrance Request 3 3 100.00%

Request 4 new street light path 
sign etc 2 2 NaN

Road Culvert Maintenance 7 2 1 4 80.00%
Road Marking Sign & Barrier 
Maint Marker Posts 1 1 0.00%

Road Safety Issue Enquiries 2 2 100.00%
Roading Work Assessment 
Required - OnSite 5WD 21 3 5 13 72.22%

Routine Roading Work Direct 
to Contractor 5WD Comp 14 1 13 100.00%

Street Light Maintenance 21 2 7 12 63.16%
Urgent - Footpath Maintenance 1 1 0.00%

Urgent Roading Work 4Hr 
Response 5 5 100.00%

Vegetation Maintenance 11 2 3 6 66.67%

Summary 24 1 1 22 95.65%
Abandoned Vehicle 7 7 100.00%
Illegal Rubbish Dumping 17 1 1 15 93.75%

Finance

Parks Reserves 
and Facilities

Refuse and 
Recycling Service 
Requests

Roading CRMs

Rubbish Service 
Requests

Environmental 
Health Service 
Requests
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Summary 200 1 14 11 174 94.05%
3 Waters Enquiry 35 1 5 29 85.29%
Drinking water billing 42 4 38 100.00%
Drinking Water Final Meter 
Read 42 5 37 100.00%

Drinking Water Major Leak 5 5 100.00%
Drinking Water minor leak 22 1 2 19 90.48%
Drinking Water 
Quantity/Pressure 6 6 100.00%

Fix Water Toby 9 1 8 100.00%
New Drinking Storm Waste 
water connections 3 3 100.00%

No Drinking Water 15 15 100.00%
Stormwater Blocked pipe 5 1 4 100.00%
Stormwater Open Drains 2 1 1 100.00%
Stormwater Property Flooding 2 1 1 100.00%

Wastewater Odour 1 1 100.00%
Wastewater Overflow or 
Blocked Pipe 2 2 100.00%

Waters Pump Station jobs - 
only for internal use 9 4 5 55.56%

Total 1229 15 81 117 1016 89.67%

Waters 232
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